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EXPLANATORY NOTE

We refer to Highwoods Properties, Inc. as the “Camyp’ Highwoods Realty Limited Partnership as tl@pérating Partnershipthe
Company’s common stock as “Common Stock” or “ComrBbiares,” the Company’s preferred stock as “Prefe8tock” or “Preferred Shares,
the Operating Partnership’s common partnershipéste as “Common Units” and the Operating Partigistpreferred partnership interest:
“Preferred Units." References to “we” and “ouriean the Company and the Operating Partnershifgctioely, unless the context indica
otherwise.

The Company conducts its activities through ther@ireg Partnership and is its sole general parfftee. partnership agreement provides
the Operating Partnership will assume and pay wies or reimburse the Company for payment of, afit€ and expenses relating to
ownership and operations of, or for the benefitthg Operating Partnership. The partnership agreefogher provides that all expenses of
Company are deemed to be incurred for the benfetfiteoOperating Partnership.

Certain information contained herein is presentedfalanuary 31, 2014he latest practicable date for financial infotio@ prior to the filing
of this Annual Report.

This report combines the Annual Reports on FornmK1fdr the period ended December 31, 20df3the Company and the Operat
Partnership. We believe combining the annual regoto this single report results in the followibgnefits:

« combined reports better reflect how managemenirarabtors view the business as a single operatiitg

e combined reports enhance investors' understanditttedCompany and the Operating Partnership bylempthem to view the busine
as a whole and in the same manner as management;

« combined reports are more efficient for the Compamy the Operating Partnership and result in savimgime, effort and expense;
« combined reports are more efficient for investarsdalucing duplicative disclosure and providingregke document for their revie

To help investors understand the significant diffexres between the Company and the Operating Paripgethis report presents the follow
separate sections for each of the Company andpkeafing Partnership:

* Item 6 -Selected Financial Da
* Item 9A -Controls and Procedur:
e Item 15 - Certifications of CEO and CFO Pursuarsections 302 and 906 of the Sarbabzkey Act;
» Consolidated Financial Statements;
» the following Notes to Consolidated Financial Stagats
* Note 4- Investments in and Advances to Affiliat
¢ Note 10- Noncontrolling Interest
¢ Note 12- Equity;
¢ Note 17- Earnings Per Share and Per L
¢ Note 18- Income Taxes; at

¢ Note 20- Quarterly Financial Dat
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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
General

Highwoods Properties, Inc., headquartered in Rajéiprth Carolina, is a publicliraded real estate investment trust ("REIT"). Tlen@an
is a fully integrated REIT that provides leasinggrmagement, development, construction and otheommestelated services for its properties
for third parties. Our Common Stock is traded o lfew York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") under the symithtiW." At December 31, 2013we
owned or had an interest in 32.2 million rentalyjease feet of in-service office, industrial andareproperties, 0.9 milliomentable square feet
office properties under development and approxiin&e0 acres of development land. Our properties and dpwetnt land are located in Flori
Georgia, Missouri, North Carolina, Pennsylvaniayt8cCarolina, Tennessee and Virginia.

At December 31, 2013 , the Company owned all ofRteferred Units and 89.5 million , or 96.8%f the Common Units. Limited partn
own the remaining 2.9 millio@ommon Units. Generally, the Operating Partnerghgbligated to redeem each Common Unit at theasigoff th
holder thereof for cash equal to the value of oma&res of Common Stock based on the average of thketnprice for the 10 trading de
immediately preceding the notice date of such rediem, provided that the Company, at its optionyrekect to acquire any such Common U
presented for redemption for cash or one shareoofron Stock. The Common Units owned by the Compaeyot redeemable.

The Company was incorporated in Maryland in 199 Dperating Partnership was formed in North Caaoilin 1994. Our executive offic
are located at 3100 Smoketree Court, Suite 60@igtaINC 27604, and our telephone number is (979)4924.

Our business is the operation, acquisition and [dpweent of rental real estate properties. We opeo#fice, industrial and retail properti
There are no material intsegment transactions. See Note 19 to our Consetidainancial Statements for a summary of the reamdl othe
revenues, net operating income and assets forrepolhtable segment.

Our website is www.highwoods.com. In addition ts tAnnual Report, all quarterly and current repgptexy statements, interactive data
other information are made available, without cleamn our website as soon as reasonably practicdtelethey are filed or furnished with -
Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). Therimétion on our website does not constitute pathisf Annual Report. Reports filed
furnished with the SEC may also be viewed at wwevgg®/ or obtained at the SEC's public referenciitfas. Please call the SEC at (800) 732-
0330 for further information about the public refiece facilities.

During 2013, the Company filed unqualified Section 303A céréfions with the NYSE. The Company and the OpegaRartnership ha
also filed the CEO and CFO certifications requingdSections 302 and 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley 22002 as exhibits to this Annual Report.

Business and Operating Strategy
Our Strategic Plan focuses on:
« owning highguality, differentiated real estate assets in #eikfill business districts in our core mark

e improving the operating results of our existing g@dies through concentrated leasing, asset maragerost control and custor
service efforts;

» developing and acquiring office properties in kafilli business districts that improve the overallatity of our portfolio and gener:
attractive returns over the long-term for our stamlkers;

» disposing of properties no longer considered todye assets primarily due to location, age, qualityf overall strategic fit; a
* maintaining a conservative and flexible balancessthdth ample liquidity to meet our funding needsl growth prospect:

Local Market Leadership . We focus our real estate activities in marketenghve have extensive local knowledge and own mifsigni
amount of assets. In each of our core markets, aetain offices that are led by division officergwsignificant
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real estate experience. Our real estate profedsi@ma seasoned and cytésted. Our senior leadership team has signifieaperience ar
maintains important relationships with market épgnts in each of our core markets.

Customer Service-Oriented Organization We provide a complete line of real estate sesvtoeour customers. We believe that ouhoust
leasing and asset management, development, agouisitd construction management services genebidiy us to respond to the many deme
of our existing and potential customer base. Wevigeour customers with cost-effective serviceshsas build-tosuit construction and spe
madification, including tenant improvements and angions. In addition, the breadth of our capaéditand resources provides us with mz
information not generally available. We believettbperating efficiencies achieved through our fulifegrated organization and the strengt
our balance sheet also provide a competitive adgenin retaining existing customers and attractiegy customers as well as setting our |
rates and pricing other services. In addition, relationships with our customers may lead to degarelent projects when these customers seel
space.

Geographic Diversification . Our core portfolio consists primarily of officegperties in Raleigh, Atlanta, Tampa, Nashville, ividhis
Pittsburgh, Richmond and Orlando, office and indakproperties in Greensboro and retail and officeperties in Kansas City. We do not bel
that our operations are significantly dependennugnay particular geographic market.

Conservative and Flexible Balance SheetWe are committed to maintaining a conservative fiexible balance sheet that allows u
capitalize on favorable development and acquisitipportunities as they arise. Our balance sheetadllsws us to proactively assure our exis
and prospective customers that we are able totimeht improvements and maintain our propertiggd condition.

Competition

Our properties compete for customers with similapprties located in our markets primarily on tlaib of location, rent, services provi
and the design, quality and condition of the fée#i. We also compete with other domestic and gor&8EITs, financial institutions, pension fur
partnerships, individual investors and others waiggmpting to acquire, develop and operate pragserti

Employees

At December 31, 2013, we had 426 full-time empésye

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

An investment in our securities involves variousksi Investors should carefully consider the foitmywrisk factors in conjunction with t
other information contained in this Annual Repogfdse trading in our securities. If any of thessksi actually occur, our business, result
operations, prospects and financial condition co@lddversely affected.

Adverse economic conditions in our markets that negively impact the demand for office space, such dsgh unemployment, ma
result in lower occupancy and rental rates for ourportfolio, which would adversely affect our resultsof operations. While we own an
operate a limited number of industrial and retailgerties, our results of operations depend heawilguccessfully leasing and operating our @
properties, which represent over 90% of rental atiér revenues. Economic growth and employmentldeieour core markets are and
continue to be important determinative factorsredicting our future results of operations.

Key components affecting our rental and other raesninclude average occupancy and rental ratesag@eoccupancy generally incree
during times of improving economic growth, as obility to lease space outpaces vacancies that agooin the expirations of existing lea:
Average occupancy generally declines during timeslawer or negative economic growth and decreasifiige employment because n
vacancies tend to outpace our ability to leaseesplacaddition, the timing of changes in occupatemels tends to lag the timing of change
overall economic activity and employment levelst &dditional information regarding our average @ancy and rental rate trends over the
five years, see “ltem 2. Propertiekdwer rental revenues that result from lower averagcupancy or lower rental rates with respectutosam:
property portfolio will adversely affect our resultf operations unless offset by the impact of mewly acquired or developed properties or Ic
variable operating expenses, general and admitv&raxpenses and/or interest expense.

We face considerable competition in the leasing mket and may be unable to renew existing leases oe+tet space on terms similar t
the existing leases, or we may spend significantgital in our efforts to renew and redet space, which may adversely affect our resultsf
operations.In addition to seeking to increase our average maecy by leasing current vacant
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space, we also concentrate our leasing effortsenawing existing leases. Because we compete witlinzber of other developers, owners
operators of office and office-oriented, mixese properties, we may be unable to renew leaghsowr existing customers and, if our cur
customers do not renew their leases, we may bdeitabelet the space to new customers. To the extentitbaire able to renew existing lee
or redet such space to new customers, heightened cdiopetesulting from adverse market conditions meguire us to utilize rent concessi
and tenant improvements to a greater extent thahawve historically. Further, changes in spacezatiibn by our customers due to technol
economic conditions and business culture also tffecoccupancy of our properties. As a resultiarusrs may seek to downsize by leasing
space from us upon any renewal.

If our competitors offer space at rental rates Wwetarrent market rates or below the rental ratesureently charge our customers, we |
lose existing and potential customers, and we nmeyressured to reduce our rental rates below th@seurrently charge in order to ret
customers upon expiration of their existing leaga®n if our customers renew their leases or weahle to relet the space, the terms and o
costs of renewal or rietting, including the cost of required renovatipimereased tenant improvement allowances, leasingmissions, reduc
rental rates and other potential concessions, neajeds favorable than the terms of our currenteleand could require significant car
expenditures. From time to time, we may also agweaodify the terms of existing leases to incemtivcustomers to renew their leases. If wi
unable to renew leases orle¢-space in a reasonable time, or if our rentEsra@ecline or our tenant improvement costs, lgasommissions ¢
other costs increase, our financial condition asliits of operations could be materially adveraéfgcted.

Difficulties or delays in renewing leases with larg customers or releasing space vacated by large customers would magdly impact
our results of operations.Our 20 largest customers account for a signifigantion of our revenues. See “ltem 2. Properti€ustomers™anc
“ltem 2. Properties - Lease Expiration3tere are no assurances that these customersy of aar other large customers, will renew all ay @t
their space upon expiration of their current leases

Some of our leases provide customers with the righo terminate their leases early, which could havan adverse effect on our financit
condition and results of operations. Certain of our leases permit our customers tmiteate their leases as to all or a portion of #esé
premises prior to their stated lease expiratioeslainder certain circumstances, such as providitigenby a certain date and, in most ce
paying a termination fee. To the extent that owst@mers exercise early termination rights, ourltesaf operations will be adversely affected,
we can provide no assurances that we will be abfgeherate an equivalent amount of net effectingé vg leasing the vacated space to new
party customers.

An oversupply of space in our markets would typicdy cause rental rates and occupancies to decline aking it more difficult for us to
lease space at attractive rental rates, if at allUndeveloped land in many of the markets in whighoperate is generally more readily avail
and less expensive than in higher barrieeititry markets such as New York, Chicago, Boston, Bancisco and Los Angeles. As a result,
during times of positive economic growth, our comitpes could construct new buildings that would gqete with our properties. Any st
oversupply could result in lower occupancy andakrattes in our portfolio, which would have a négatmpact on our results of operations.

In order to maintain and/or increase the quality ofour properties and successfully compete againsttar properties, we regularly mus
spend money to maintain, repair, renovate and impree our properties, which could negatively impact oufinancial condition and results
of operations. If our properties are not as attractive to cusiamue to physical condition as properties ownedus competitors, we could Ic
customers or suffer lower rental rates. As a reswdt may from time to time be required to make i§icgmt capital expenditures to maintair
enhance the competitiveness of our properties.eTban be no assurances that any such expenditorgd vesult in higher occupancy or hig
rental rates or deter existing customers from gtlog to properties owned by our competitors.

Our results of operations and financial condition ould be adversely affected by financial difficultie experienced by a major custome
or by a number of smaller customers, including bankuptcies, insolvencies or general downturns in busess. The success of our investme
and stability of our operations depend on the fanstability of our customers. A default or tenafion by a significant customer on its le
payments to us would cause us to lose the revesaaeiated with such lease. In the event of a custai®fault or bankruptcy, we may experie
delays in enforcing our rights as landlord and rimayr substantial costs in protecting our investhad releasing the property. We cannot e
a customer solely because of its bankruptcy. Omother hand, a court might authorize the customeeject and terminate its lease. In such
our claim against the bankrupt customer for unphityre rent would be subject to a statutory cagt tinight be substantially less than
remaining rent actually owed under the lease. Aasalt, our claim for unpaid rent would likely nog¢ paid in full. If a customer defaults or
terminates a significant lease, we may not be &btecover the full amount of unpaid rent or beeatbl lease the property for the rent previo
received, if at all. In any of these instances,may also be required to write off deferred leasingts and accrued straighte rents receivabl
These events would adversely impact our finan@abiion and results of operations.
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Costs of complying with governmental laws and regations may adversely affect our results of operatits . All real property and tt
operations conducted on real property are subjetdderal, state and local laws and regulatioretirg) to environmental protection and hui
health and safety. Some of these laws and regotatiway impose joint and several liability on custosn owners or operators for the cost
investigate or remediate contaminated propertiegandless of fault or whether the acts causingctamination were legal. In addition,
presence of hazardous substances, or the failyoperly remediate these substances, may hindealulity to sell, rent or pledge such propi
as collateral for future borrowings.

Compliance with new laws or regulations or stricteerpretation of existing laws may require usniour significant expenditures. Future l¢
or regulations may impose significant environmetitddility. Additionally, our customers' operatigrgperations in the vicinity of our properti
such as the presence of underground storage tankstivities of unrelated third parties may affear properties. In addition, there are var
local, state and federal fire, health, Ifafety and similar regulations with which we mayréguired to comply and that may subject us talltsl
in the form of fines or damages for noncompliangay expenditures, fines or damages we must pay dvadversely affect our results
operations. Proposed legislation to address climtz@@ge could increase utility and other costspefrating our properties.

Discovery of previously undetected environmentdigzardous conditions may adversely affect our firdncondition and results
operations. Under various federal, state and local environnmdatas and regulations, a current or previous priypewner or operator may
liable for the cost to remove or remediate hazasdouoxic substances on such property. These costd be significant. Such laws often imp
liability whether or not the owner or operator knefy or was responsible for, the presence of s@zatdous or toxic substances. Environmi
laws also may impose restrictions on the mannarhiich property may be used or businesses may beteple and these restrictions may rec
significant expenditures or prevent us from entgiirto leases with prospective customers that neayripacted by such laws. Environmental |
provide for sanctions for noncompliance and mayehérced by governmental agencies or private marti@ertain environmental laws ¢
common law principles could be used to impose litgbfor release of and exposure to hazardous anless, including asbestosntaining
materials. Third parties may seek recovery fronh peaperty owners or operators for personal injoryproperty damage associated with expc
to released hazardous substances. The cost ofdilefeagainst claims of liability, of complying witnvironmental regulatory requirements
remediating any contaminated property, or of payiagsonal injury claims could adversely affect financial condition and results of operations.

Our same property results of operations would suffeif costs of operating our properties, such as rdaestate taxes, utilities, insuranci
maintenance and other costs, rise faster than ourbdity to increase rental revenues and/or cost reaery income . While we receiv
additional rent from our customers that is basedegovering a portion of operating expenses, irsgdaperating expenses will negatively im
our results of operations. Our revenues, includingt recovery income, are subject to longem leases and may not be quickly incre
sufficient to recover an increase in operating £@std expenses. Furthermore, the costs associ@tedwning and operating a property are
necessarily reduced when circumstances such ashfadtors and competition cause a reduction itafeavenues from the property. Increast
same property operating expenses would adverskgtafur results of operations unless offset byréigental rates, higher cost recovery incc
the impact of any newly acquired or developed pridgg or lower general and administrative expemsekor interest expense.

Recent and future acquisitions and development pragties may fail to perform in accordance with our gpectations and may require
renovation and development costs exceeding our estites.In the normal course of business, we typically eatd potential acquisitions, er
into nonbinding letters of intent, and may, at any timegeinto contracts to acquire additional propertisquired properties may fail to perfo
in accordance with our expectations due to legsesk, renovation cost risks and other factansaddition, the renovation and improvement ¢
we incur in bringing an acquired property up to kearstandards may exceed our estimates. We makhawet the financial resources to m
suitable acquisitions or renovations on favorabiens or at all.

Further, we face significant competition for atthee investment opportunities from an indeterminatenber of other real estate invest
including investors with significantly greater cibiresources and access to capital than we hagh,as domestic and foreign corporations
financial institutions, publicly-traded and privitdreld REITS, private institutional investment fundsyestment banking firms, life insurar
companies and pension funds. Moreover, owners fafeoproperties may be reluctant to sell, resultimdewer acquisition opportunities. A
result of such increased competition and limitegasfunities, we may be unable to acquire additigraperties or the purchase price of ¢
properties may be significantly elevated and redugeexpected return from making any such acqaissti

In addition to acquisitions, we periodically coreiddeveloping or re-developing properties. Risksoeigted with development and re-
development activities include:
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« the unavailability of favorable construction andd@rmanent financin
e construction costs exceeding original estim
» construction and leasg delays resulting in increased debt service espand construction costs;
» lower than anticipated occupancy rates and renising a property to be unprofitable or less prbfi#ahan originally estimate

Development and rdevelopment activities are also subject to riskatiregy to our ability to obtain, or delays in oltizig, all necessa
zoning, land-use, building, occupancy and otheuireq governmental and utility company authorizasio

llliquidity of real estate investments and the taxeffect of dispositions could significantly impede ur ability to sell assets or respond t
favorable or adverse changes in the performance aur properties. Because real estate investments are relativelyuidli our ability tc
promptly sell one or more properties in our poitfoh response to changing economic, financial iandstment conditions is limited. In additi
we have a significant amount of mortgage debt undgich we would incur significant prepayment peiealtif such loans were paid off
connection with the sale of the underlying reaatestissets.

We intend to continue to sell some of our propsriiethe future as part of our investment strategy activities. However, we cannot pre
whether we will be able to sell any property foe thrice or on the terms set by us, or whether thee pr other terms offered by a prospec
purchaser would be acceptable to us. We also camedict the length of time needed to find a wilipurchaser and close the sale of a property.

Certain of our properties have low tax bases radatd their estimated current fair values, and ediogly, the sale of such assets wc
generate significant taxable gains unless we amiti properties in a tageferred exchange under Section 1031 of the Inté&eaenue Code
another tax-free or tax-deferred transaction. Foexchange to qualify for tadeferred treatment under Section 1031, the netepatsc from th
sale of a property must be held by an escrow agetit applied toward the purchase of real estatalifying for gain deferral. Given tl
competition for properties meeting our investmeiteda, there could be a delay in reinvesting spigteeds. Any delay in using the reinvestr
proceeds to acquire additional income producingtaswould adversely affect our results of operatiohdditionally, in connection with tax-
deferred 1031 transactions, our restricted casinbak may be commingled with other funds being bgldny such escrow agent, which subj
our balance to the credit risk of the institution.

Because holders of Common Units, including one ofuodirectors, may suffer adverse tax consequencegan the sale of some of o
properties, they may seek to influence us not to lbeertain properties even if such a sale would o#trwise be in our best interest Holders o
Common Units may suffer adverse tax consequenams ting sale of certain properties. Therefore, hreldé Common Units, including one of «
directors, may have different objectives than doclsholders regarding the appropriate pricing andng of a property's sale. Although
Company is the sole general partner of the Opeaydiartnership and has the exclusive authority loasy of our properties, those who h
Common Units may seek to influence us not to saffain properties even if such sale might be firelycadvantageous to us or influence u
enter into tax deferred exchanges with the proceédach sales when such a reinvestment mighttherwise be in our best interest.

Our use of joint ventures may limit our flexibility with jointly owned investments. In appropriate circumstances, we intend to dgvalu
acquire properties in joint ventures with otherspeis or entities when circumstances warrant theofifeese structures. Our participation in j
ventures is subject to the risks that:

* we could become engaged in a dispute with any ofadot venture partners that might affect our #pilo develop or operate a prope

e ourjoint ventures are subject to debt and in tireenit credit markets the refinancing of such aefy require equity capital cal

e our joint venture partners may default on theiigdtions necessitating that we fulfill their obligm ourselve:

e ourjoint venture partners may have different oltyes than we have regarding the appropriate tinaimg terms of any sale or refinanc
of properties;

* our joint venture partners may be structured diffdlly than us for tax purposes and this could ereanflicts of interes
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e ourjoint venture partners may have competing @gsrin our markets that could create conflictaiafrest; an
e ourjoint ventures may be unable to repay any ansaiat we may loan to

Our insurance coverage on our properties may be irdequate.We carry insurance on all of our properties, inglgdnsurance for liability
fire, windstorms, floods, earthquakes and busiim@ssruption. Insurance companies, however, limnitarage against certain types of losses,
as losses due to terrorist acts, named windstaarthquakes and toxic mold. Thus, we may not haserance coverage, or sufficient insurz
coverage, against certain types of losses andéoe ttnay be decreases in the insurance coveradaldeaiShould an uninsured loss or a los
excess of our insured limits occur, we could loBeom a portion of the capital we have investedairproperty or properties, as well as
anticipated future operating income from the proper properties. If any of our properties wereeigerience a catastrophic loss, it could dis
our operations, delay revenue and result in lakpemses to repair or rebuild the property. Furttiemy of our insurance carriers were to bec
insolvent, we would be forced to replace the exgstnsurance coverage with another suitable camigt any outstanding claims would be at
for collection. In such an event, we cannot beaterthat we would be able to replace the coveragénalar or otherwise favorable terms. S
events could adversely affect our results of op@matand financial condition.

We have obtained title insurance policies for eafchur properties, typically in an amount equaitsooriginal purchase price. However, tt
policies may be for amounts less than the curreriitore values of our properties. In such eventhére is a title defect relating to any of
properties, we could lose some of the capital iteces and anticipated profits from such property.

Our use of debt to finance a significant portion ofour operations could have a material adverse effeon our financial condition and
results of operations.We are subject to risks associated with debt fimgpcsuch as the sufficiency of cash flow to mesjuired payme
obligations, ability to comply with financial rascand other covenants and the availability of ehpd refinance existing indebtedness or -
important business initiatives. If we breach covesan our debt agreements, the lenders can dezldefault and, if the debt is secured, can
possession of the property securing the defautiad.|In addition, our unsecured debt agreementticospecific crosslefault provisions wit
respect to specified other indebtedness, givingutieecured lenders the right to declare a defawteiare in default under other loans in s
circumstances. Defaults under our debt agreementd eaterially and adversely affect our financiahdition and results of operations.

Further, we request corporate credit ratings froootl/'s Investors Service and Standard and PootisgRaervices based on their evalua
of our creditworthiness. These agencies' ratingshased on a number of factors, some of which atrevithin our control. In addition to factc
specific to our financial strength and performartbe, rating agencies also consider conditions tffgdREITs generally. We cannot assure
that our credit ratings will not be downgradedolir credit ratings are downgraded or other negatot®n is taken, we could be required, an
other things, to pay additional interest and feesutstanding borrowings under our revolving créatility and term loans.

We generally do not intend to reserve funds toeeatkisting secured or unsecured debt upon matWdegymay not be able to repay, refine
or extend any or all of our debt at maturity or mpmy acceleration. If any refinancing is done ighér interest rates, the increased int:
expense could adversely affect our financial camaliand results of operations. Any such refinanaagld also impose tighter financial ratios
other covenants that restrict our ability to takéicms that could otherwise be in our best interesth as funding new development acti
making opportunistic acquisitions, repurchasing securities or paying distributions. If we do noteh our mortgage financing obligations,
properties securing such indebtedness could belésed on.

We depend on our revolving credit facility for worg capital purposes and for the shietm funding of our development and acquisi
activity and, in certain instances, the repaymémtloer debt upon maturity. Our ability to borrowder the revolving credit facility also allows
to quickly capitalize on opportunities at shtatm interest rates. If our lenders default undeirtobligations under the revolving credit fagildr
we become unable to borrow additional funds unHerfacility for any reason, we would be requiredsézk alternative equity or debt cap
which could be more costly and adversely impactfmancial condition. If such alternative capitaéme unavailable, we may not be able to n
new investments and could have difficulty repayatiger debt.

Increases in interest rates would increase our intest expense At December 31, 2013 , we had $415.7 millohvariable rate de
outstanding not protected by interest rate hedgé&racts. We may incur additional variable rate delihe future. If interest rates increase, the
would the interest expense on our unhedged varrabdedebt, which would adversely affect our firahcondition and results of operations. F
time to time, we manage our exposure to interastriigk with interest rate hedge contracts thaai§ely fix or cap a portion of our variable r
debt. In addition, we refinance fixed rate deliraes when we believe rates and terms are apptepfur efforts to manage these exposures
not be successful. Our use of interest rate hedgacts to manage risk associated with interastvalatility may expose us to additional ris
including a risk that
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a counterparty to a hedge contract may fail to hatisoobligations. Developing an effective intereste risk strategy is complex and no stra
can completely insulate us from risks associatet imterest rate fluctuations. There can be norasse that our hedging activities will have
desired beneficial impact on our results of operatior financial condition. Termination of intereate hedge contracts typically involves cc
such as transaction fees or breakage costs.

Failure to comply with Federal government contracto requirements could result in substantial costs ad loss of substantial revenut
We are subject to compliance with a wide varietycomplex legal requirements because we are a Heglerarnment contractor. These e
regulate how we conduct business, require us tdrasker various compliance programs and requiréousmpose compliance responsibilities
some of our contractors. Our failure to comply wilese laws could subject us to fines and penaltesse us to be in default of our leases
other contracts with the Federal government andibdirom entering into future leases and otherreatg with the Federal government.

The Company may be subject to taxation as a regulacorporation if it fails to maintain its REIT status, whichw ould also have
material adverse effect on the Company's stockholde and on the Operating Partnership.We may be subject to adverse consequences
Company fails to continue to qualify as a REIT federal income tax purposes. While we intend toratgein a manner that will allow t
Company to continue to qualify as a REIT, we camrovide any assurances that the Company will rergaalified as such in the future, wh
would have particularly adverse consequences t@tmpany's stockholders. Many of the requirememtsaixation as a REIT are highly techn
and complex and depend upon various factual magigdscircumstances that may not be entirely within control. The fact that the Compi
holds its assets through the Operating Partnerahg its subsidiaries further complicates the apfibc of the REIT requirements. Eve
technical or inadvertent mistake could jeopardiae REIT status. Furthermore, Congress and therlatdRevenue Service might change the
laws and regulations and the courts might issue méiwgs that make it more difficult, or impossipfer the Company to remain qualified ¢
REIT. If the Company fails to qualify as a REITwiould (a) not be allowed a deduction for dividepd#d to stockholders in computing its tax:
income, (b) be subject to federal income tax atilg@gcorporate rates (and potentially the altewgathinimum tax and increased state and
taxes) and (c) unless entitled to relief underntéxelaws, not be able to mect REIT status until the fifth calendar yeaeaft failed to qualify as
REIT. Additionally, the Company would no longer tegjuired to make distributions. As a result of éhéctors, the Company's failure to que
as a REIT would likely impair our ability to expandr business and would adversely affect the miar Common Stock.

Even if we remain qualified as a REIT, we may facether tax liabilities that adversely affect our finrancial condition and results o
operations.Even if we remain qualified for taxation as a RBNg may be subject to certain federal, state aca kaxes on our income and as:
including taxes on any undistributed income, taxramome from some activities conducted as a rexudt foreclosure, and state or local incc
property and transfer taxes. In addition, our téx&EIT subsidiary is subject to regular corporfetderal, state and local taxes. Any of these 1
would adversely affect our financial condition aedults of operations.

Complying with REIT requirements may cause us to foego otherwise attractive opportunities or liquidaie otherwise attractive
investments.To remain qualified as a REIT for federal income parposes, we must continually satisfy tests comieg, among other things, 1
sources of our income, the nature and diversificatif our assets, the amounts we distribute tostaokholders and the ownership of our ca
stock. In order to meet these tests, we may beiregtjto forego investments we might otherwise maKeus, compliance with the RE
requirements may hinder our performance.

In particular, we must ensure that at the end ochezlendar quarter, at least 75% of the valueuwofassets consists of cash, cash it
government securities and qualified real estatetsa.s$he remainder of our investment in secur{iiéiser than government securities, securitit
taxable REIT subsidiaries and qualified real estatgets) generally cannot include more than 10%eobutstanding voting securities of any
issuer or more than 10% of the total value of thistanding securities of any one issuer. In additio general, no more than 5% of the valu
our assets (other than government securities, ifesunf taxable REIT subsidiaries and qualifiedlrestate assets) can consist of the securit
any one issuer, and no more than 25% of the vdloaraotal assets can be represented by the siesusf one or more taxable REIT subsidia
If we fail to comply with these requirements at #med of any calendar quarter, we must correct dilaré within 30 days after the end of
calendar quarter or qualify for certain statutaglief provisions to avoid losing our REIT qualifin and suffering adverse tax consequence
a result, we may be required to liquidate othervéiteactive investments, which could adversely @ffeur financial condition and results
operations.

The prohibited transactions tax may limit our ability to dispose of our properties A REIT's net income from prohibited transactior
subject to a 100% tax. In general, prohibited taatiens are sales or other dispositions of propeetg primarily for sale to customers in
ordinary course of business. We may be subjedhdoptohibited transaction tax equal to 100% ofgah upon a disposition of real prope
Although a safe harbor to the characterizatiorhefdale of real property by a REIT as a prohibitadsaction is available, we cannot assure
that we can in all cases comply with the safe haobdhat we will
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avoid owning property that may be characterizededd primarily for sale to customers in the ordineourse of business. Consequently, we
choose not to engage in certain sales of our ptiepesr may conduct such sales through our tax@BId subsidiary, which would be subjec
federal and state income taxation.

Dividends payable by REITs do not qualify for the educed tax rates available for some dividend3he maximum tax rate applicable
“qualified dividend income”payable to U.S. stockholders that are taxed atviehdal rates is 20%. Dividends payable by REITswéner
generally are not eligible for the reduced ratexqoalified dividend income. The more favorable sasg@plicable to regular corporate quali
dividends could cause investors who are taxeddatidual rates to perceive investments in REITbé¢orelatively less attractive than investm
in the stocks of non-REIT corporations that payd#nds, which could adversely affect the valuehefghares of REITs, including our stock.

We face possible state and local tax auditBecause we are organized and qualify as a REITareigenerally not subject to federal inct
taxes, but we are subject to certain state and tagas. In the normal course of business, cegatities through which we own real estate |
undergone tax audits. Collectively, tax deficienofices received to date from the jurisdictionsdiarting previous audits have not been mat
However, there can be no assurance that futurésandi not occur with increased frequency or tta ultimate result of such audits will not h
a material adverse effect on our results of opamnati

The price of our Common Stock is volatile and may ekline.As with any public company, a humber of factors radyersely influence tl
public market price of our Common Stock. Thesediacinclude:

» the level of institutional interest in 1

» the perceived attractiveness of investment inruspmparison to other REI"

» the attractiveness of securities of REITs in congoarto other asset class

» our financial condition and performan

» the market's perception of our growth potential paténtial future cash dividen:
e government action or regulation, including chanigasx laws

* increases in market interest rates, which may il@eestors to expect a higher annual yield fromdistributions in relation to the price
our Common Stock;

» changes in our credit ratings; :

e any negative change in the level or stability of dwidend

We cannot assure you that we will continue to payididends at historical rates. We generally expect to use cash flows from opey

activities to fund dividends. The following factossll affect such cash flows and, accordingly, irghce the decisions of the Company's boa
directors regarding dividends:

» debt service requirements after taking into accalafit covenants and the repayment and restructofirgrtain indebtedness and
availability of alternative sources of debt and igqeapital and their impact on our ability to mince existing debt and grow
business;

» scheduled increases in base rents of existingsy

» changes in rents attributable to the renewal dftewj leases or replacement lea

» changes in occupancy rates at existing propentidseaecution of leases for newly acquired or dguetdiopropertie:

» changes in operating expen:

e anticipated leasing capital expenditures attribletédnthe renewal of existing leases or replacenease:

e anticipated building improvements; ¢
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» expected cash flows from financing and investiniyaes.

The decision to declare and pay dividends on ouni@on Stock in the future, as well as the timingpant and composition of any st
future dividends, will be at the sole discretiontbé Company's board of directors. Any change indvidend policy could have a mate
adverse effect on the market price of our CommaciSt

Cash distributions reduce the amount of cash that auld otherwise be available for other business puigses, including funding dek
maturities or future growth initiatives. For the Company to maintain its qualification a@RET, it must annually distribute to its stockhalslex
least 90% of REIT taxable income, excluding netiteagains. In addition, although capital gains ace required to be distributed to main
REIT status, capital gains, if any, that are geteeras part of our capital recycling program atget to federal and state income tax unless
gains are distributed to our stockholders. Castmilligions made to stockholders to maintain RE@tst or to distribute otherwise taxable ca
gains limit our ability to accumulate capital faher business purposes, including funding debt ritisi or growth initiatives.

Further issuances of equity securities may be dilite to current stockholders. The interests of our existing stockholders cdaddlilutec
if additional equity securities are issued to ficariuture developments, acquisitions, or repay btetiness. Our ability to execute our busi
strategy depends on our access to an approprietel df debt financing, including unsecured linesciEfdit and other forms of secured
unsecured debt, and equity financing, including wmm equity.

We may change our policies without obtaining the gproval of our stockholders. Our operating and financial policies, includingr
policies with respect to acquisitions of real estgrowth, operations, indebtedness, capitalizatimhdividends, are exclusively determined by
Company’s Board of Directors. Accordingly, our dtholders do not control these policies.

Limits on changes in control may discourage takeoveattempts beneficial to stockholders.Provisions in the Company's charter
bylaws as well as Maryland general corporation taay have antiakeover effects that delay, defer or prevent adakr attempt. For examg
these provisions may defer or prevent tender ofiar®ur Common Stock or purchases of large bladksur Common Stock, thus limiting t
opportunities for the Company's stockholders teireca premium for their shares of Common Stock ¢lvenprevailing market prices. The
provisions include the following:

»  Ownership limit . The Company's charter prohibits direct, indictonstructive ownership by any person or entiitnore than 9.8% «
the Company's outstanding capital stock. Any atteimpwn or transfer shares of capital stock inesscof the ownership limit withc
the consent of the Company's board of directorishgiloid.

» Preferred Stock. The Company's charter authorizes the board etttirs to issue preferred stock in one or moreselaand to establi
the preferences and rights of any class of prefesteck issued. These actions can be taken wiitoakholder approval. The issuanc
preferred stock could have the effect of delayingreventing someone from taking control of the @any, even if a change in con
were in our best interest.

» Business combinationsPursuant to the Company's charter and Maryland the/, Company cannot merge into or consolidate
another corporation or enter into a statutory sle@hange transaction in which the Company is hetsurviving entity or sell all
substantially all of its assets unless the boamirectors adopts a resolution declaring the pregdsansaction advisable and a majori
the stockholders voting together as a single ciggsove the transaction. Maryland law prohibitsckitmlders from taking action
written consent unless all stockholders consemtriting. The practical effect of this limitation that any action required or permittec
be taken by the Company's stockholders may oniiaken if it is properly brought before an annuakpecial meeting of stockholde
The Company's bylaws further provide that in oftdera stockholder to properly bring any matter befa meeting, the stockholder r
comply with requirements regarding advance nofidee foregoing provisions could have the effect efagling until the next annt
meeting stockholder actions that the holders obgrity of the Company's outstanding voting segsifavor. These provisions may ¢
discourage another person from making a tender fiffahe Company's common stock, because suclopersentity, even if it acquir
a majority of the Company's outstanding voting séies, would likely be able to take action as ackholder, such as electing n
directors or approving a merger, only at a dulfethtockholders meeting. Maryland law also esthbE special requirements v
respect to business combinations between Marylamdocations and interested stockholders unless pttens apply. Among oth
things, the law prohibits for five years a mergad ather similar transactions between a companyamnihterested stockholder ¢
requires a supermajority vote for such transactmitsr the end of the fivgear period. The Company's charter contains a i@
exempting the Company from the Maryland businesshination statute. However, we cannot assure yatithiis charter provision w
not be amended or repealed at any point in thedutu
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» Control share acquisitions.Maryland general corporation law also provides tiaitrol shares of a Maryland corporation acquireg
control share acquisition have no voting rightsegitdo the extent approved by a vote of tiives of the votes entitled to be cast or
matter, excluding shares owned by the acquireyafticers or employee directors. The control sterquisition statute does not appl
shares acquired in a merger, consolidation or stechange if the corporation is a party to thegaation, or to acquisitions approver
exempted by the corporation's charter or bylawg Tbhmpany's bylaws contain a provision exemptingfthe control share acquisit
statute any stock acquired by any person. Howsweicannot assure you that this bylaw provision mdlt be amended or repealed at
point in the future.

* Maryland unsolicited takeover statute. Under Maryland law, the Company's board of directoould adopt various artikeove
provisions without the consent of stockholders. Bldeption of such measures could discourage ofterthe Company or make
acquisition of the Company more difficult, even wten acquisition would be in the best intereshef€Gompany's stockholders.

* Anti -takeover protections of operating partnership agrement .. Upon a change in control of the Company, thengaship agreeme
of the Operating Partnership requires certain aegaito maintain an umbrella partnership real estatestment trust structure with tei
at least as favorable to the limited partners ascarrently in place. For instance, the acquireuldidoe required to preserve the limi
partner's right to continue to hold tdeferred partnership interests that are redeenfiabtapital stock of the acquirer. Exceptions wi
require the approval of twihirds of the limited partners of our OperatingtRarship (other than the Company). These provisioay
make a change of control transaction involving @@mpany more complicated and therefore might dserdlae likelihood of such
transaction occurring, even if such a transactionld/be in the best interest of the Company's $tolclers.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
Properties

The following table sets forth information aboubperties that we wholly own:

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
Percent Percent
Occupied/ Occupied/
Rentable Leased/ Rentable Leased/
Square Feet Pre-Leased Square Feet Pre-Leased
In-Service (Occupied):
Office 25,715,00 89.2% 23,361,00 90.(%
Industrial 2,743,001 94.1 5,474,001 93.2
Retall 834,00( 97.c 853,00( 98.€
Total or Weighted Average 29,292,00 89.¢% 29,688,00 90.9%
Development(Leased/pre-leased)
Completed—Not Stabilized(1)
Office 41,00( 79.2% — —%
Total or Weighted Average 41,00( 79.2% — —%
In Process(1)
Office 852,00( 85.2% 246,00( 89.%
Total or Weighted Average 852,00( 85.4% 246,00( 89.9%
Total:
Office 26,608,00 23,607,00
Industrial 2,743,001 5,474,001
Retall 834,00( 853,00(
Total 30,185,00 29,934,00

(1) We consider a development project to be stabiligezh the earlier of the original projected stahtiian date or the date such project is generallyentioa
90% occupied.

The following table sets forth the net changesintable square footage of in-service propertiesviieavholly own:

Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011

(rentable square feet in thousands)
Office, Industrial and Retail Properties:

Acquisitions 3,42¢ 1,43¢ 2,091
Developments Placed In-Service 221 11€ 20¢
Redevelopment/Other (30 23 (53
Dispositions (4,019 (1,179 (23€)
Net Change in Rentable Square Footage (396) 39¢€ 2,11(
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The following table sets forth information aboutsiervice properties that we wholly own by segmerd ag geographic location
December 31, 2013 :

Percentage of Annualized Cash Rental Revenyg)

Rentable
Market Square Feet Occupancy Office Industrial Retail Total
Raleigh 4,411,00! 90.1% 15.5% —% —% 15.5%
Atlanta 4,707,001 82.2 14.: 0.1 — 14.¢
Nashville 3,336,001 95.2 13.C — — 13.C
Tampa 3,108,001 83.¢ 10.€ — — 10.€
Pittsburgh 2,157,001 93.C 9.2 — — 9.2
Kansas City 1,446,001 96.C 2.7 — 6.2 8.¢
Piedmont Triad 4,147,00! 94.7 4.¢ 2.2 — 7.2
Richmond 2,229,001 93.¢ 7.2 — — 7.2
Memphis 1,978,001 88.C 6.S — — 6.€
Orlando 1,563,001 86.€ 6.1 — — 6.1
Greenville 210,00( 100.( 0.7 — — 0.7
Total 29,292,00 89.% 91.%% 2.8% 6.2% 100.(%

(1) Annualized Cash Rental Revenue is cash reet@nue (base rent plus cost recovery income, éxgustraight-line rent) for the month Bfecember 201
multiplied by 12.

The following table sets forth operating informatiabout in-service properties that we wholly own:

Annualized Annualized Cast

GAAP Rent Rent
Average Per Square Per Square
Occupancy Foot (1) Foot (2)
2009 88.2% $ 1778 $ 17.5¢
2010 88.6% $ 18.0: $ 17.4C
2011 89.6% $ 18.5¢ $ 17.8¢
2012 90.2% $ 179C $ 18.42
2013 90.(% $ 21.4: $ 20.4¢

(1) Annualized GAAP Rent Per Square Foot is reretnue (base rent plus cost recovery incomejdiray straightine rent) for the month of December of
respective year multiplied by 12, divided by taiatupied rentable square footage.

(2) Annualized Cash Rent Per Square Foot is aagalrrevenue (base rent plus cost recovery incemading straightine rent) for the month of Decembel
the respective year multiplied by 12, divided btat@ccupied rentable square footage.
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Customers

The following table sets forth information concemgpithe 20 largest customers of properties that halwown at December 31, 2013 :

Percent of Weighted
Total Average
Annualized Annualized Remaining
Rentable Square Cash Rental Cash Rental Lease Termin
Customer Feet Revenue(1) Revenue(1) Years
(in thousands)

Federal Government 1,456,11: $ 34,32¢ 6.3¢% 4.:
PPG Industries 351,30¢ 8,97t 1.6€ 7.4
Healthways 290,68 7,321 1.3¢ 8.4
HCA Corporation 278,20° 6,75¢ 1.2¢ 2.C
State of Georgia 364,68 6,68¢ 1.2¢ 5.6
Bass, Berry & Sims 195,84¢ 5,97¢ 1.11 11.1
EQT Corporation 280,59: 5,972 1.11 10.¢
AT&T 274,53 5,864 1.0¢ 4.¢€
Marsh USA 188,71¢ 5,257 0.97 5.7
Lockton Companies 190,91¢ 5,15¢ 0.9¢ 16.2
BB&T 291,14 4,972 0.92 2.7
PNC Bank 187,28t 4,94: 0.9z 11.¢
Aon 190,68: 4,86t 0.9C 5.€
Vanderbilt University 198,78: 4,611 0.8t 1.7
Syniverse Technologies 198,75( 4,32: 0.8C 2.&
Metropolitan Life Insurance 211,18¢ 4,23( 0.7¢ 5.E
SCI Services 162,78 3,967 0.7: 3.€
Global Payments 167,80: 3,852 0.71 7.2
Jacobs Engineering Group 210,12¢ 3,782 0.7¢ 2.4
HDR Engineering 111,92: 3,544 0.6€ 3.6
Total 5,802,08 $ 135,38 25.08% 5.€

(1) Annualized Cash Rental Revenue is cash reet@nue (base rent plus cost recovery income, éxgustraight-line rent) for the month Blecember 201
multiplied by 12.
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Lease Expirations

The following tables set forth scheduled lease ratipins for existing leases at in-service and cetapl —not stabilized properties that
wholly own at December 31, 2013 :

Office Properties:

Percent of
Percentage of Average Annualized
Rentable Leased Square Annualized Annual Cash Cash Rental
Square Feet Footage Cash Rental Rental Rate Revenue
Subject to Represented Revenue Per Square Represented
Number of Expiring by Expiring Under Expiring Foot for by Expiring
Lease Expiring Leases Expiring Leases Leases Leaseq(1) Expirations Leases(1)
($ in thousands)
20142 43z 2,412,63. 105% $ 50,43 $ 20.9( 10.2%
2015 344 2,398,81 10.¢ 54,09: 22.5¢ 11.C
2016 317 2,783,401 12.1 58,85° 21.1¢ 11.¢€
2017 281 2,780,43 12.2 63,54( 22.8¢ 12.¢
2018 261 2,371,401 10.5 51,76¢ 21.8: 10.5
2019 14¢ 2,294,33 10.C 48,87: 21.3( 9.¢
2020 73 1,405,73! 6.1 32,21 22.91] 6.5
2021 49 1,836,07. 8.C 37,92« 20.6¢ 7.7
2022 36 697,55: 3.C 15,76¢ 22.61 3.2
2023 31 901,59¢ 3.¢ 19,73¢ 21.8¢ 4.C
Thereafter 167 3,089,49: 13.5 60,16+ 19.45 12.2
2,141 22,971,49 100.% $ 493,36¢ $ 21.4¢ 100.(%
Industrial Properties:
Percent of
Percentage of Annualized Average Annualized
Rentable Leased Square Cash Rental Annual Cash Cash Rental
Square Feet Footage Revenue Rental Rate Revenue
Subject to Represented Under Per Square Represented
Number of Expiring by Expiring Expiring Foot for by Expiring
Lease Expiring Leases Expiring Leases Leases Leaseg(1) Expirations Leaseg(1)
($ in thousands)
2014(3) 31 305,57! 11.8% $ 154¢ $ 5.07 11.7%
2015 23 426,16( 16.5 2,26: 5.31 17.1
2016 23 616,23 23.¢ 3,107 5.04 23.¢
2017 12 273,38t 10.€ 1,615 5.91 12.5
2018 12 360,89: 14.C 1,66¢ 4.61 12.¢
2019 4 105,99( 4.1 61: 5.7¢ 4.€
2020 5 71,07¢ 2.8 357 5.02 2.7
2021 1 117,80! 4.€ 44t 3.7¢ 3.4
2022 2 178,00( 6.¢ 824 4.6: 6.2
2023 — — — — — —
Thereafter 5 126,73t 4.8 79¢ 6.3C 6.C
11¢€ 2,581,86! 100.% $ 13,237 % 5.1 100.(%

(1) Annualized Cash Rental Revenue is cash reet@nue (base rent plus cost recovery income, éxgustraight-line rent) for the month Blecember 201
multiplied by 12.

(2) Includes 80,000 rentable square feet of letimsare on a month-to-month basis, which repte@&86of total annualized cash rental revel

(3) Includes 44,000 rentable square feet of leds#sare on a month-to-month basis, which reptdesa than 0.1%f total annualized cash rental revel

17




Table of Contents

Retail Properties:

Percent of
Percentage of Annualized Average Annualized
Rentable Leased Square Cash Rental Annual Cash Cash Rental
Square Feet Footage Revenue Rental Rate Revenue
Subject to Represented Under Per Square Represented
Number of Expiring by Expiring Expiring Foot for by Expiring
Lease Expiring Leases Expiring Leases Leases Leaseg(1) Expirations Leaseg(1)
($ in thousands)
20142) 28 114,69: 14.2% $ 2540 $ 22.1¢ 7.€%
2015 18 105,31: 13.C 3,68( 34.9¢ 11.C
2016 11 61,64( 7.€ 3,12¢ 50.7¢ 9.4
2017 7 38,31¢ 4.7 1,61: 42.1( 4.8
2018 21 100,66¢ 12.4 5,20¢ 51.7¢ 15.¢
2019 12 90,00° 11.1 3,12¢ 34.71 9.2
2020 10 46,97: 5.8 2,04( 43.4: 6.1
2021 12 83,78¢t 10.c 3,607 43.0F 10.¢
2022 16 91,19¢ 11.2 4,56¢ 50.1( 13.7
2023 10 30,90¢ 3.8 1,74¢ 56.5¢ 5.2
Thereafter 7 48,21 5.8 2,161 44.8: 6.5
152 811,70t 100.% $ 33,42( % 41.1% 100.(%
Total:
Percent of
Percentage of Annualized Average Annualized
Rentable Leased Square Cash Rental Annual Cash Cash Rental
Square Feet Footage Revenue Rental Rate Revenue
Subject to Represented Under Per Square Represented
Number of Expiring by Expiring Expiring Foot for by Expiring
Lease Expiring Leases Expiring Leases Leases Leaseg(1) Expirations Leaseg(1)
($ in thousands)
2014(3) 492 2,832,89 10.7% $ 54,52: $ 19.2¢ 10.1%
2015 38t 2,930,28: 11.1 60,03t 20.4¢ 11.1
2016 351 3,461,28. 13.2 65,09 18.81 12.1
2017 30C 3,092,14. 11.7 66,77( 21.5¢ 12.£
2018 294 2,832,96! 10.7 58,64 20.7(¢ 10.€
2019 165 2,490,33 9.4 52,60¢ 21.1¢ 9.7
2020 88 1,523,78! 5.8 34,60¢ 22.71] 6.4
2021 62 2,037,66: 7.7 41,97¢ 20.6( 7.8
2022 54 966, 75( 3.7 21,16: 21.8¢ 3.¢
2023 41 932,50! 3.t 21,48¢ 23.0¢ 4.C
Thereafter 17¢ 3,264,44. 12.t 63,12 19.3¢ 11.€
2,411 26,365,06 100.% $ 540,02t $ 20.4¢ 100.(%

(1) Annualized Cash Rental Revenue is cash reet@nue (base rent plus cost recovery income, éxgustraight-line rent) for the month Blecember 201
multiplied by 12.

(2) Includes 4,000 rentable square feet of letissare on a month-to-month basis, which reprdssatthan 0.1%f total annualized cash rental revei

(3) Includes 128,000 rentable square feet of ks are on a month-to-month basis, which reptes8%of total annualized cash rental revei

Note: 2014 and beyond expirations that have besawed are reflected above based on the renewatatigpi date. Expirations include leases relate
completed not stabilized development propertiesexatlide leases related to developments in process.
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In Process Development

As of December 31, 2013 , we were developing 8%2/@dtable square feet of office properties. Theofelihg table summarizes the
developments:

Rentable Anticipated Investment As Pre
Square Total Of December  Leased Estimated Estimated
Property Market Type Feet Investment (1) 31, 2013y) % Completion Stabilization
($ in thousands)
International Paper Memphis (0] 241,000 $ 56,10C $ 16,19( 10C% 2Q 15 2Q 15
MetLife | Raleigh (0] 213,50( 53,00( 10,61: 10C 1Q 15 1Q 15
MetLife Il Raleigh (0] 213,50( 57,00( 7,05:% 10C 2Q 15 2Q 17
GlenLake V Raleigh (e} 166,00( 35,80( 5,71( 25 2Q 15 2Q 17
Crescent Center Restaurar Memphis (@) 18,00( 7,90( 7,22( 10C 1Q 14 1Q 14

852,000 $ 209,800 $ 46,78¢ 85.%%

$ Weighted % _87.2%

(1) Includes deferred lease commissions which areifiebén deferred leasing costs on our Consolid&athnce Shee
Land Held for Development

We wholly owned 580 acres of development land ateb®er 31, 2013 . We estimate that we can devgpmgimately 5.2 million an@.3
million rentable square feet of office and industspace, respectively, on the 4d&es that we consider core assets for our futeveldpmer
needs. Our core development land is zoned andadeifor office and industrial development, andrlyeall of the land has utility infrastructure
place. We believe that our commercially zoned anenaumbered land in existing business parks giges development advantage over ¢
commercial real estate development companies iryrofour markets.

We consider 135 acres of our wholly owned develogntend at December 31, 2013 to be mone assets that are not necessary fo

foreseeable future development needs. We intemtisfiose of such nooere development land through sales to third pakiecontributions 1
joint ventures
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Other Properties

The following table sets forth information aboutr atiabilized inservice office properties in which we own an ingtré50.0% or less) |

geographic location at December 31, 2013 :

Percentage of

weighted Cash Rentl
Rentable Ownership Revenue(2)
Market Square Feet Interest (1) Occupancy Office
Kansas City 719,00( 36.2% 82.%% 32.%%
Raleigh 636,00( 25.C 96.4 18.€
Richmond(3) 411,00( 50.C 96.2 17.¢
Orlando 517,00( 27.5 83.¢ 15.C
Atlanta 335,00( 32.¢ 60.¢ 7.7
Tampa (3) 205,00( 20.C 91.2 5.2
Piedmont Triad 118,00( 50.C 51.¢ 2.7
Total 2,941,001 33.2% 84.71% 100.(%

(1) Weighted Average Ownership Interest is calculagdgiRentable Square Fe

(2) Annualized Cash Rental Revenue is cash reet@nue (base rent plus cost recovery income, dxgjustraight-line rent) for the month Bfecember 201

multiplied by 12.

(3) This joint venture is consolidats
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are from time to time a party to a variety afdkeproceedings, claims and assessments arisiting iardinary course of our business.
regularly assess the liabilities and contingeniriennection with these matters based on thetlatEsmation available. For those matters wi
it is probable that we have incurred or will in@utoss and the loss or range of loss can be relalyoastimated, the estimated loss is accruec
charged to income in our Consolidated Financiale®tents. In other instances, because of the uitigtarelated to both the probable outc
and amount or range of loss, a reasonable estiwhéitbility, if any, cannot be made. Based on ¢herent expected outcome of such matters,
of these proceedings, claims or assessments istexp® have a material adverse effect on our kasjrfinancial condition, results of operat
or cash flows.
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ITEM X. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The Company is the sole general partner of the @ipgr Partnership. The following table sets fontifiormation with respect to t
Company’s executive officers:

Name Age Position and Background

Edward J. Fritsch 55 Director, President and Chief Executive Officer.

Mr. Fritsch has been a director since January 201 Fritsch became our chief execut
officer and chair of the investment committee of baard of directors on July 1, 2004 ¢
our president in December 2003. Prior to that, Fhitsch was our chief operating offic
from January 1998 to July 2004 and was a vice geesiand secretary from June 199:
January 1998. Mr. Fritsch joined our predecessdO®2 and was a partner of that entit
the time of our initial public offering in June 189Mr. Fritsch currently serves as a direi
and member of the audit and compensation commitieé&tional Retail Properties, Inc.
publicly-traded REIT. Mr. Fritsch is also a membéthe board of Governors of the Natio
Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts (NARE&and serves as treasurer of
executive committee as well as a member of itstaarti investment committees. Mr. Frit:
is also adirector and audit committee chair of Capital Asated Industries, Inc., a trustee
Ravenscroft School, a member of Wells Fargo's akrggional advisory board, a membe
the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill Falation board, a director of the Univers
of North Carolina at Chapel Hill Real Estate Holghna member of the University of No
Carolina Kenan-Flagler's Business School board isftars, a member of Urban Lar
Institute Triangle governance committee and a menafeCatholic Diocese of Raleig
Cathedral steering committee.

Michael E. Harris 64 Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Office

Mr. Harris became chief operating officer in JuBOZ. Prior to that, Mr. Harris was a ser
vice president and was responsible for our operatio Memphis, Nashville, Kansas Ci
Baltimore and Charlotte. Mr. Harris was executiveevpresident of Crocker Realty Tri
prior to its merger with us in 1996. Before joini@gocker Realty Trust, Mr. Harris served
senior vice president, general counsel and chiehftial officer of Towermarc Corporation
privately owned real estate development firm. Martis is a full member of the Urban La
Institute and is past president of the Memphis @apf Lambda Alpha International La
Economics Society. Mr. Harris currently serves de Advisory Board of the Gradus
School of Real Estate at the University of Misgipsiand is a past member of the Advis
Boards of Wachovia Bank- Memphis and Allen & Hoslalgineering, Inc .

Terry L. Stevens 65 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer.

Prior to joining us in December 2003, Mr. Stevenaswexecutive vice president, ct
financial officer and trustee for Crown AmericanaRg Trust, a public REIT. Before joinir
Crown American Realty Trust, Mr. Stevens was doecdf financial systems developmen
AlliedSignal, Inc., a large multiational manufacturer. Mr. Stevens was also ant gadinel
with Price Waterhouse for seven years. Mr. Stewemeently serves as trustee, chairma
the Audit Committee and member of the InvestmedtRinance Committee of First Poton
Realty Trust, a public REIT. Mr. Stevens is a mentdfehe American and the Pennsylva
Institutes of Certified Public Accountants.
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Jeffrey D. Miller

Theodore J. Klinck

Kevin E. Penn

43

48

42

Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary.

Prior to joining us in March 2007, Mr. Miller waspartner with DLA Piper US, LLP, whe
he practiced since 2005. Previously, Mr. Miller Heekn a partner with Alston & Bird LL
Mr. Miller is admitted to practice in North Carcdin Mr. Miller has served as le
independent director of Hatteras Financial Corppualiclytraded mortgage REIT, sin
20009.

Vice President and Chief Investment Officer.

Prior to joining us in March 2012, Mr. Klinck sedras principal and chief investment offi
with Goddard Investment Group, a privately ownedl restate investment firm, sin
September 2009. Previously, Mr. Klinck had beenamaging director at Morgan Stan
Real Estate.

Vice President, Chief Strategy and Administratidficer.

Mr. Penn became chief strategy and administratféioeo in January 2012. Mr. Penn join
us in 1997 and was our vice president of strateggnfAugust 2005 to January 2012 i
chief information officer from April 2002 to August005. Mr. Penn is vice chair of t
Urban Land Institute Triangle District Council, mieen of the executive committee of
Office, Technology and Operations Consortium andtére and executive committee men
of the North Carolina Leukemia Lymphoma Society.

23




Table of Contents

PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT' S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER PURCHASES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES

The following table sets forth high and low stocices per share reported on the NYSE and dividead$per share:

2013 2012
Quarter Ended High Low Dividend High Low Dividend
March 31 $ 3961 $ 336( $ 042t % 339C % 293¢ % 0.42¢
June 30 $ 412: % 3212 % 042t % 35.7¢ % 3112 $ 0.42¢
September 30 $ 38.0¢ $ 329C $ 042t % 3492 % 3230 $ 0.42¢
December 31 $ 39.08 % 346 % 042t % 342t % 306z % 0.42¢

On December 31, 2013, the last reported stocle mfcour Common Stock on the NYSE was $36.17 pareshnd the Company haa¢
common stockholders of record. There is no pulbtiding market for the Common Units. On December2B13 , the OperatinBartnership he
108 holders of record of Common Units (other tham €ompany). At December 31, 2013 , there were B8llbn shares of Common Stc
outstanding and 2.9 million Common Units outstagdimot owned by the Company.

Because the Company is a REIT, the partnershipeawet requires the Operating Partnership to diggilat least enough cash for
Company to be able to distribute to its stockhadarleast 90.0% of its REIT taxable income, excdgdet capital gains. Se&té¢m 1A. Risl
Factors —Cash distributions reduce the amount of cash tlmtldvotherwise be available for other business @sep, including funding de
maturities or future growth initiatives.”

We generally expect to use cash flows from opegadictivities to fund distributions. The followingdtors will affect such cash flows a
accordingly, influence the decisions of the CompaBpard of Directors regarding dividends and disttions:

» debt service requirements after taking into accalafit covenants and the repayment and restructofirgrtain indebtedness and
availability of alternative sources of debt and igqeapital and their impact on our ability to mince existing debt and grow
business;

e scheduled increases in base rents of existingsy

» changes in rents attributable to the renewal dtewj leases or replacement lea

» changes in occupancy rates at existing propentidseaecution of leases for newly acquired or dguetdiopropertie:

» changes in operating expen:

* anticipated leasing capital expenditures attribletédnthe renewal of existing leases or replaceneases

e anticipated building improvements; ¢

» expected cash flows from financing and investiniyaes.

The following stock price performance graph compdhe performance of our Common Stock to the S&F, 8t Russell 2000 and the F1
NAREIT All Equity REITs Index. The stock price perfnance graph assumes an investment of $100 i€onmmon Stock and the three indi
on December 31, 2008 and further assumes the stineat of all dividends. Equity REITs are definedtlaose that derive more than 75.09
their income from equity investments in real estatgets. The FTSE NAREIT All Equity REITs Indexludes all equity REITs not designate«

Timber REITs listed on the NYSE, the American Stdtkchange or the NASDAQ National Market System.clstprice performance is r
necessarily indicative of future results.
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Total Return Performance
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For the Period from December 31, 2008 to Decembelf 3
Index 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
Highwoods Properties, Inc. 130.4: 131.7¢ 129.4: 153.6¢ 174.0¢
S&P 500 126.4¢ 145.5:; 148.5¢ 172.3] 228.1¢
Russell 2000 127.1° 161.3: 154.5¢ 179.8¢ 249.6¢
FTSE NAREIT All Equity REITs Index 127.9¢ 163.7¢ 177.3¢ 209.3¢ 214.5¢

The performance graph above is being furnishedaetsgb this Annual Report solely in accordance vifth requirement under Rule 14a-3(b)
(9) to furnish the Compang’stockholders with such information and, therefisenot deemed to be filed, or incorporated bnesfice in ar
filing, by the Company or the Operating Partnershiger the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securlirshange Act of 1934.

During 2013 , cash dividends on Common Stock tdt&l#.70 per share, approximately $0dféwhich represented return of capital
approximately $0.26f which represented capital gains for income tasppses. The minimum dividend per share of Comntonkrequired fc
the Company to maintain its REIT status was $1€8hare in 2013 .

The Company has a Dividend Reinvestment and StagkhBse Plan (“DRIP"under which holders of Common Stock may elec
automatically reinvest their dividends in additibahares of Common Stock and make optional casimeats for additional shares of Comr
Stock. The Company may elect to satisfy its DRIRgations by issuing additional shares of Commaocktor instructing the DRIP administra
to purchase Common Stock in the open market.

The Company has an Employee Stock Purchase Plaugnirto which employees generally may contribygetas 25.0% of their ca:
compensation for the purchase of Common Stock.hAtend of each three-month offering period, eadticg@ant's account balance, whi
includes accumulated dividends, is applied to aegsinares of Common Stock at a cost that is caknlila 85.0% of the average closing pric
the NYSE on the five consecutive days precedindasteday of the quarter.
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Information about the Comparsyequity compensation plans and other related Baddkr matters is incorporated herein by referancene
Company’s Proxy Statement to be filed in connectidth its annual meeting of stockholders to be lwidMay 13, 2014 .
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The operating results and certain liabilities of thompany as of and for the years ended Decembh&03? , 2011 , 2010 and 200&re
retrospectively revised from previously reportedoants to reflect in real estate and other assetsheld for sale and liabilities held for salest
properties classified as held for sale, and inaifoued operations the operations for those ptigseclassified as discontinued operations.
information in the following tables should be readconjunction with the Company’Consolidated Financial Statements and relateelsra
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financ@dition and Results of Operations included hef®im thousands, except per share data):

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Rental and other revenues $ 556,81( $ 485,04t $ 431,95¢ $ 410,44t  $ 396,76:
Income from continuing operations $ 62,72: $ 40,311 $ 30,88 $ 55,12 $ 31,92(
Income from discontinued operations $ 68,37: $ 43,92: $ 17,08¢ $ 17,17¢ $ 29,77¢
Income from continuing operations available for cormon
stockholders $ 57,08. $ 3525. $ 22,447  $ 4548: % 23,68(
Net income $ 131,090 $ 84,23t $ 4797 % 72,30 % 61,69«

Net income available for common stockholders $ 122,94¢  $ 77,080 $ 38,677 $ 61,79C $ 51,77¢
Earnings per Common Share — basic:

Income from continuing operations available for caom stockholders $ 067 $ 047 $ 031 $ 0.6z $ 0.3t
Net income $ 144 % 1.0z % 054 $ 08¢ $ 0.7€
Earnings per Common Share — diluted:

Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholders $ 061 $ 041 $ 031 $ 0.6 $ 0.3t
Net income $ 144 % 1.0z % 054 $ 08¢ $ 0.7€
Dividends declared and paid per Common Share $ 1.7C % 1.7C % 1.7C % 1.7C % 1.7C

December 31,
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Total assets $ 3,807,10. $ 3,350,421 $ 3,180,99: $ 2,871,831 $ 2,887,10:
Mortgages and notes payable $ 1,956,290 $ 1,859,16. $ 1,868,900 $ 1,488,631 $ 1,443,501
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The operating results and certain liabilities of thperating Partnership as of and for the yearsdikcember 31, 2012 , 2011 , 2Gk@
2009were retrospectively revised from previously repdramounts to reflect in real estate and othetsgset, held for sale and liabilities held
sale those properties classified as held for sate, in discontinued operations the operations Hiosé properties classified as discontir
operations. The information in the following tablssould be read in conjunction with the Operatirgytierships Consolidated Financ
Statements and related notes and Managem&iscussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &esults of Operations included herein (

thousands, except per unit data):

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Rental and other revenues $ 556,81( $ 485,04t $ 431,95¢ $ 410,44t  $ 396,76:
Income from continuing operations $ 62,67: $ 40,370 $ 30,94¢ $ 55,09¢ $ 31,86¢
Income from discontinued operations $ 68,37: $ 43,92: $ 17,08¢ $ 17,17¢ $ 29,77¢
Income from continuing operations available for coomon unitholders $ 59,21¢ $ 37,07¢ $ 23,747 % 47,908 $ 25,147
Net income $ 131,04¢ $ 84,298 $ 48,03 $ 72,27¢  $ 61,64(
Net income available for common unitholders $ 127,58¢ $ 81,00 $ 40,82¢ 3 65,08! $ 54,92:
Earnings per Common Unit — basic:
Income from continuing operations available for caom unitholders ~ $ 067 $ 047 $ 031 $ 064 $ 0.3t
Net income $ 144 % 1.0z % 054 $ 087 $ 0.77
Earnings per Common Unit — diluted:
Income from continuing operations available for coom unitholders ~ $ 061 $ 041 $ 031 $ 0.64 $ 0.3t
Net income $ 144§ 1.0z $ 054 $ 087 $ 0.77
Distributions declared and paid per Common Unit $ 1.7C  $ 1.7C  $ 1.7¢ $ 1.7¢ $ 1.7¢
December 31,

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Total assets $ 3,807,191 $ 3,349,52! $ 3,179,88: 2,870,67. $ 2,885,73
Mortgages and notes payable $ 1,956,29° $ 1,859,16. $ 1,868,901 1,488,631 $ 1,443,501
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion and analys conjunction with the accompanying Consolidakénancial Statements and rel¢
notes contained elsewhere herein.

Disclosure Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

Some of the information in this Annual Report mayntain forwardlooking statements. Such statements include, iticpdar, statemen
about our plans, strategies and prospects undeséistion and under the heading “Item 1. Businedsu can identify forwardeoking statemen
by our use of forward-looking terminology such asay,” “will,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” tontinue”or other similar words. Althoug
we believe that our plans, intentions and expematreflected in or suggested by such forwaoking statements are reasonable, we cannot :
you that our plans, intentions or expectations bélachieved. When considering such forwlaaking statements, you should keep in minc
following important factors that could cause ouuatresults to differ materially from those contad in any forward-looking statement:

” o« ”ou ” o

» the financial condition of our customers could detate

* we may not be able to lease or release secondajmmespace, defined as previously occupied spzaebecomes available for lez
quickly or on as favorable terms as old leases;

* we may not be able to lease our newly constructddibgs as quickly or on as favorable terms agioailly anticipatec

* we may not be able to complete development, adguisireinvestment, disposition or joint ventur@jpcts as quickly or on as favora
terms as anticipated;

» development activity by our competitors in our &rig markets could result in an excessive supplyoffite properties relative
customer demand;

» our markets may suffer declines in economic grc
* unanticipated increases in interest rates coulease our debt service co
* unanticipated increases in operating expenses cagdtively impact our operating rest

* we may not be able to meet our liquidity requiretaear obtain capital on favorable terms to fund working capital needs and gro\
initiatives or repay or refinance outstanding dgtxin maturity; and

« the Company could lose key executive offic
This list of risks and uncertainties, however,ds imtended to be exhaustive. You should also veviee other cautionary statements we n
in “Item 1A. Business — Risk Factors” set forthtliis Annual Report. Given these uncertainties, sloould not place undue reliance on forward-

looking statements. We undertake no obligationubliply release the results of any revisions teséhtorwardiooking statements to reflect e
future events or circumstances or to reflect trmugence of unanticipated events.
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Executive Summary
Our Strategic Plan focuses on:
« owning highgquality, differentiated real estate assets in #eikfill business districts in our core mark

» improving the operating results of our existing gedies through concentrated leasing, asset marageicost control and custor
service efforts;

» developing and acquiring office properties in kafilli business districts that improve the overallatity of our portfolio and gener:
attractive returns over the long-term for our stamllders;

» disposing of properties no longer considered todye assets primarily due to location, age, qualityf overall strategic fit; a
* maintaining a conservative and flexible balancessthdth ample liquidity to meet our funding needsl growth prospect

While we own and operate a limited number of indakand retail properties, our operating resuéépehd heavily on successfully leasing
operating our office properties. Economic growttd @mployment levels in our core markets are and agihtinue to be important factors
predicting our future operating results.

The key components affecting our rental and otkgemues are average occupancy, rental rates, emstary income, new developme
placed in service, acquisitions and dispositiongerAge occupancy generally increases during tirh@aproving economic growth, as our abi
to lease space outpaces vacancies that occur hpaxpirations of existing leases. Average occupgeaterally declines during times of slo
economic growth, when new vacancies tend to outpacability to lease space. Asset acquisitionspakitions and new developments place
service directly impact our rental revenues andctoupact our average occupancy, depending upomdhapancy rate of the properties that
acquired, sold or placed in service. A further aadior of the predictability of future revenuestis £xpected lease expirations of our portfolioa
result, in addition to seeking to increase our ageroccupancy by leasing current vacant space)sgenaust concentrate our leasing effort
renewing our existing leases prior to expiratioor fore information regarding our lease expiratiaes “ltem 2. Properties - Lease Expirations.”
Our occupancy declined from 90.9% at December 81220 89.9% at December 31, 20dBmarily due to a scheduled expiration of a Ii
customer in Tampa, FL and the acquisition of reddyi low occupied buildings in Atlanta, GA, Nash&jl TN and Orlando, FL and the disposi
of relatively high occupied industrial buildingsAtlanta, GA.

Whether or not our rental revenue tracks averagepancy proportionally depends upon whether rentieusigned new and renewal le:
are higher or lower than the rents under the ptevieases. Annualized rental revenues from secemérgtion leases expiring during
particular year are generally less than 15% of total annual rental revenues. The following tabd¢s Sforth information regarding secc
generation leases signed during the fourth quarfteé?013 (we define second generation leases as leasesneithcustomers and renewals
existing customers in space that has been preyi@gsupied under our ownership and leases withexgp vacant space in acquired buildings):

Office Industrial Retail
New Renewal New Renewal New Renewal
Leased space (in rentable square feet) 407,51 383,28t 18,00( 172,02 — 5,304
Rentable square foot weighted average term (insyear 6.2 5.7 3.2 2.8 — 3.4
Base rents (per rentable square font) $ 242 % 222 % 42 % 328 % — 3 37.71
Rent concessions (per rentable square fapt) (0.9) (0.5€) (0.2¢) (0.2 — —
GAAP rents (per rentable square foaj) $ 2332 % 21.6¢ $ 398 % 3.0t $ — $ 37.71
Tenant improvements (per rentable square fapt) $ 3.7 ¢ 1.1€ % 0.0¢ ¢ 007 $ — 3.61
Leasing commissions (per rentable square fapt) $ 09C $ 058 § 0.1€ $ 0.0t % — 3 121

(1) Weighted average per rentable square foot on amahbasis over the lease te
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Compared to previous leases in the same spaceslarombined GAAP rents for new and renewal leasgsed in the fourth quarter wi
$22.51 per rentable square foot, or 8.5% highemfiice leases, $3.14 per rentable square fod, 2% higher, for industrial leases and $3hev
rentable square foot, or 9.7% lower, for retaibk=a

We strive to maintain a diverse, stable and credtity customer base. We have an internal guidedihereby customers that account
more than 3% of our revenues are periodically reggwith the Company's Board of Directors. Currgntb customer accounts for more than
of our revenues other than the Federal Governmehich accounted for less than 10.0% of our revenuesan annualized basis, as
December 31, 2013 . See “Item 2. Properties - Qusts.”

Our expenses primarily consist of rental propexpenses, depreciation and amortization, generalaaintinistrative expenses and inte
expense. From time to time, expenses also inclogmirments of real estate assets. Rental propgpgnses are expenses associated wit
ownership and operation of rental properties awmtude expenses that vary somewhat proportionatetyctupancy levels, such as maintene
repairs and utilities, and expenses that do not ased on occupancy, such as property taxes andaimce. Depreciation and amortization
non<cash expense associated with the ownership ofpreglerty and generally remains relatively consistath year, unless we buy, plac
service or sell assets, since we depreciate opepties and related building and tenant improverasséts on a straighite basis over fixed live
General and administrative expenses consist piliynafimanagement and employee salaries and otlrepipeel costs, corporate overhead
short and long-term incentive compensation.

We intend to maintain a conservative and flexibddahce sheet that allows us to capitalize on fdleraevelopment and acquisit
opportunities as they arise. We anticipate comnmgngp to $150 million of new development in 2013uch projects would likely not be place:
service until 2015 or beyond. We also anticipatquaing up to $300 million of new properties andlisg up to $175 million of norcore
properties in 2014 We generally seek to acquire and develop adsatsmprove the average quality of our overall fodid and deliver consiste
and sustainable value for our stockholders ovetdhgterm. Whether or not an asset acquisition or neveld@ment results in higher per st
net income or funds from operations ("FFO") in @yen period depends upon a number of factorsydiey whether the net operating income
any such period exceeds the actual cost of cap#et to finance the acquisition. Forward-lookindpimation regarding 201éperatin
performance contained below under "Results of Quarsl' excludes the impact of any potential acdjioiss or dispositions.

Results of Operations
Comparison of 2013 to 2012
Rental and Other Revenues

Rental and other revenues from continuing operatisare $71.8 million, or 14.8%, higher in 2013 ampared to 2012 primarily due
recent acquisitions and development propertiesplat service, which accounted for $70.9 milliortlod increase. Same property rental and
revenues in 2013 were flat with 2012 as averagepawy in the same property portfolio was substfintunchanged as well. We expect 2
rental and other revenues to increase over 2018apity due to the full year contribution of acqtisns closed in 2013, contribution
development properties and slightly higher sam@gny revenues resulting from higher expected sivery income and higher average G/
rents per rentable square foot.

Operating Expenses

Rental property and other expenses were $26.6omjlbr 15.1%, higher in 2013 as compared to 20i®gsily due to recent acquisitiol
which contributed $27.1 million to the net increaSame property operating expenses in 2013 werenvfth 2012 as average occupancy
substantially unchanged and lower utility costs anaperty taxes offset inflationary effects on othests. We expect 2014 rental property
other expenses to increase over 2013 primarilytduge full year contribution of acquisitions cldsie 2013 and slightly higher same prop
operating expenses resulting from higher expedtiéty wosts and higher property taxes.

Operating margin, defined as rental and other reeeress rental property and other expenses ergressa percentage of rental and ¢
revenues, was slightly lower at 63.5% for 2013¢caspared to 63.6% for 2012. Operating margin iseetqd to be slightly lower in 2014
compared to 2013.

Depreciation and amortization was $30.6 million,26:9%, higher in 2013 as compared to 2012 primalile to recent acquisitions. !

expect 2014 depreciation and amortization to irewezver 2013 primarily due to the full year conitibn of acquisitions closed and developm
placed in service in 2013.
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General and administrative expenses were $0.2omijllor 0.5%, lower in 2013 as compared to 2012 grilgn due to lower incenti
compensation, partly offset by higher salaries aoquisition costs. We expect 2014 general and dsfrative expenses to slightly decre
relative to 2013 primarily due to lower incentivengpensation, partially offset by higher companyenidhse salaries and employee benefit costs.

I nterest Expense

Interest expense was $3.4 million, or 3.5%, lowe2013 as compared to 2012 primarily due to lowanrage interest rates and hic
capitalized interest, partly offset by higher ageralebt balances. We expect 2014 interest expendectease over 2013 primarily due to Ic
average interest rates and higher capitalizeddstepartially offset by higher average debt baanc

Other Income

Other income was relatively unchanged in 2013 agpawed to 2012 primarily due to a decrease inéstancome on notes receivable in 2
resulting from the 2012 repayment of a secured toade to our Highwoods DLF 98/29, LLC joint ventamd a bankruptcy settlement in 2(
offset by a higher loss on debt extinguishmentdh2 We expect 2014 other income to decrease @43 @rimarily due to lower interest inco
as a result of the January 2014 repayment of dell@ncing provided in conjunction with a 2010 disfgion transaction.

Gain on Acquisition of Controlling I nterest in Unconsolidated Affiliate

We recorded a gain on acquisition of controllinteiest in unconsolidated affiliate of $7.5 millian2013 due to the acquisition of our jc
venture partner's 60.0% interest in our HIW-KC @da, LLC joint venture. We had no similar transawsi in 2012.

Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Affiliates

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates 2s8 million lower in 2013 as compared to 2012vanily due to our $4.5 million share
impairments of real estate assets on certain offioperties in our Highwoods DLF 98/29, LLC joirgnture, the acquisition of our joint vent
partner’s 60.0% interest in our HIWE Orlando, LLC joint venture in 2013 and the safeffice properties in our Highwoods DLF 98/29,C
and Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, LP joint ventuie late 2012 and early 2013. Partly offsetting thecrease was $3.2 million, net of ta
that we recorded as our share of a gain recogriyetie Lofts at Weston, LLC joint venture upon tade of 215 residential units to an unrel.
third party. Additionally offsetting this decreasms our $1.0 million share of impairments of resthge assets on two office properties in
Highwoods DLF 98/29, LLC joint venture in 2012. Thepairments in 2013 and 2012 were due to a chamglee assumed timing of futt
dispositions and/or leasing assumptions. We expé&# equity in earnings of unconsolidated affisate remain consistent to 2013 dus
impairments of real estate assets recorded in 848t by the reduction of our overall joint vergunvestments in 2013.

I mpairments of Real Estate Assets in Discontinued Operations

We recorded impairments of real estate assets.afrillion on seven industrial properties in AtlanGA and $1.1 million on four propert
in a single office park in Winsto8alem, NC in 2013. These impairments were duedoaage in the assumed timing of future dispositimme
leasing assumptions. We recorded no such impaigier2012.

Net Gains on Disposition of Discontinued Operations

Net gains on disposition of discontinued operatiwese $34.3 million higher in 2013 as comparedGb2due to higher disposition activity
2013.

Earnings Per Common Share - Diluted
Diluted earnings per common share was $0.42, @%lhigher in 2013 as compared to 2012 due to enedse in net income for the reas

discussed above, offset by an increase in the wetighiverage Common Shares outstanding from the 20d2013 issuances under our ec
sales agreements and the August 2013 Common Stieckg.
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Comparison of 2012 to 2011
Rental and Other Revenues

Rental and other revenues from continuing operatisare $53.1 million, or 12.3%, higher in 2012 aspared to 2011 primarily due
recent acquisitions, which accounted for $43.8iamillof the increase, and higher same property tee®f $10.7 million, partly offset by low
construction income of $1.7 million. Same propegyenues were higher primarily due to an increaseséerage occupancy to 91.0% in 2012 1
90.5% in 2011, an increase in annualized GAAP pentrentable square foot to $20.45 in 2012 from &2 2011, higher cost recovery inco
higher net termination fees and lower bad debt es@e
Operating Expenses

Rental property and other expenses were $19.4omjlr 12.4%, higher in 2012 as compared to 20irharily due to recent acquisitiol
which accounted for $18.8 million of the increase higher same property operating expenses of i§illién, partly offset by $1.7 million low
cost of construction expense. Same property operaxpenses were higher primarily due to higheaireppnd maintenance and insurance ¢
partly offset by lower utilities and real estatrds.

Operating margin, defined as rental and other r@eeress rental property and other expenses ergressa percentage of rental and ¢
revenues, remained constant at 63.6% at both 20d2@11.

Depreciation and amortization was $18.9 million,1dt8%, higher in 2012 as compared to 2011 primalile to recent acquisitions, wh
accounted for $16.5 million of the increase, arghbir same property depreciation and amortizatid2d million.

General and administrative expenses were $1.7omjllor 4.6%, higher in 2012 as compared to 201thamily due to higher salaries ¢
incentive compensation, partly offset by lower a@stjion and dead deal costs.

I nterest Expense

Interest expense was $0.6 million, or 0.6%, high€2012 as compared to 2011 primarily due to higherage debt balances, partly offse
lower average interest rates and lower financirlggation interest expense.

Other Income

Other income was $1.0 million, or 13.4%, lower ®12 as compared to 2011 primarily due to recorgirigss on debt extinguishmen
2012.

Gains on Disposition of I nvestmentsin Unconsolidated Affiliates

We recorded a gain on disposition of investmenirinonsolidated affiliate of $2.3 million in 2011elto our partner exercising its optior
acquire our 10.0% equity interest in one of ouramsolidated joint ventures. We recorded no such ige2012.

I mpairments of Real Estate Assets in Discontinued Operations

We recorded impairments of real estate assets .df i§fllion in 2011 related to two office propertizs Orlando, FL which resulted fron
change in the assumed timing of future dispositid¥is recorded no such impairments in 2012.

Net Gains on Disposition of Discontinued Operations

Net gains on disposition of discontinued operatiwese $26.9 million higher in 2012 as comparedGb2due to higher disposition activity
2012.

Dividends on Preferred Stock and Excess of Preferred Stock Redemption/Repurchase Cost Over Carrying Value

Dividends on Preferred Stock and excess of PrefeSteck redemption/repurchase cost over carryihgevaere $2.0 million and $1.9 milli
lower, respectively, in 2012 as compared to 201 tdithe redemption of all remaining Series B RrefeShares in 2011.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Overview

Our goal is to maintain a conservative and flexibédance sheet with access to multiple sourcesebf dnd equity capital and suffici
availability under our revolving credit facility. &/generally use rents received from customersnd fwr operating expenses, recurring ca
expenditures and distributions. To fund propertyuagitions, development activity or building renteas and repay debt upon maturity, we |
use current cash balances, sell assets, obtaimaetand/or issue equity. Our debt generally ctsmsisunsecured debt securities, unsecured
term loans, mortgage debt and borrowings undeunsecured revolving credit facility.
Statements of Cash Flows

We report and analyze our cash flows based on tipgractivities, investing activities and financiagtivities. The following table sets fo

the changes in the Company’s cash flows ($ in thods):

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 Change
Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities $ 256,43 $ 19341t $ 63,02:
Net Cash (Used In) Investing Activities (356,609 (238,81) (117,79)
Net Cash Provided By Financing Activities 96,56 47,99: 48,57¢
Total Cash Flows $ (3599 % 2,59  § (6,199

In calculating net cash related to operating atisj depreciation and amortization, which are oash expenses, are added back ti
income. As a result, we have historically generatgubsitive amount of cash from operating actigitiErom period to period, cash flow fr
operations depends primarily upon changes in ouingeme, as discussed more fully above under “ResfiOperations,thanges in receivabl
and payables, and net additions or decreases ioveuall portfolio, which affect the amount of depiation and amortization expense.

Net cash related to investing activities generadliates to capitalized costs incurred for leasind major building improvements and
acquisition, development, disposition and jointtuea capital activity. During periods of signifidamet acquisition and/or development acti
our cash used in such investing activities will gatly exceed cash provided by investing activitieich typically consists of cash received u
the sale of properties and distributions of cagitain our joint ventures.

Net cash related to financing activities generadiiates to distributions, incurrence and repaynwndebt, and issuances, repurchase
redemptions of Common Stock, Common Units and BexfeStock. As discussed previously, we use a faignit amount of our cash to fu
distributions. Whether or not we have increasethéoutstanding balances of debt during a periqgetidgs generally upon the net effect of
acquisition, disposition, development and jointtuea activity. We generally use our revolving ctddcility for working capital purposes, whi
means that during any given period, in order toimire interest expense, we may record significapayments and borrowings under
revolving credit facility.

The change in net cash related to operating aesvih 2013 as compared to 20&as primarily due to higher net cash from the opena o
acquired properties and lower cash paid for opggatixpenses in 2013. We expect net cash relatedei@ting activities to be higher in 201«
compared to 2013 due to the full year impact opprtes acquired in 2013 and higher cash flows fleases signed in 2013 and prior yea
free rent periods expire.

The change in net cash related to investing aigtivin 2013 as compared to 204as primarily due to higher acquisition and develep
activity and higher expenditures on tenant anddingl improvements in 2013, partly offset by highet proceeds from dispositions of real et
assets and higher distributions of capital fromamsolidated affiliates in 2013. We expect net cadated to investing activities to be lowe
2014 as compared to 2013 due to our plans to a§ad®0 million to $300 million of office buildingegnd commence development of $75 mil
to $150 million of office buildings. Additionallyas of December 31, 2013, we have $136.4 million teffund of our previouslgnnounce
development activity. We expect these uses of éasimvesting activities will be partially offsetyb$100 million to $175 million of nowore
dispositions and additional distributions of calgitam unconsolidated affiliates in 2014.

The change in net cash related to financing aE#/in 2013 as compared to 20&as primarily due to higher proceeds from the iaseao
Common Stock and contributions from noncontroliimgrests in consolidated affiliates in 2013, pecfifset by
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higher dividends on Common Stock and higher net dgayments in 2013. Assuming the net effect afamquisition, disposition, developm
and joint venture activity in 2014 results in aorgmase in our assets, we would expect outstandihglzhlances to increase. However, becau:
plan to continue to maintain a flexible and conaéwe balance sheet with mortgages and notes payaid outstanding preferred st

representing around 40% to 45% of the undeprecibtet value of our assets, we would also expedidrigutstanding balances of Comr
Stock in such event.

Capitalization

The following table sets forth the Company’s cdpgdion (in thousands, except per share amounts):

December 31,

2013 2012
Mortgages and notes payable, at recorded book value $ 1,956,29" $ 1,859,16:
Financing obligations $ 26,66: $ 29,35¢
Preferred Stock, at liquidation value $ 29,077 $ 29,077
Common Stock outstanding 89,92: 80,31
Common Units outstanding (not owned by the Company) 2,944 3,73:
Per share stock price at year end $ 36.17 % 33.4¢
Market value of Common Stock and Common Units $ 3,358,927 $ 2,811,27.
Total capitalization $ 5,370,96 $ 4,728,86!

At December 31, 2013 , our mortgages and notesbpaymd outstanding preferred stock represente@?@adf our total capitalization ai
41.4% of the undepreciated book value of our assets

Our mortgages and notes payable as of Decembe?(@B consisted of $488.7 millioof secured indebtedness with a weighted avi
interest rate of 4.98% and $1,467.6 million of wsed indebtedness with a weighted average intesigstof 4.07% The secured indebtedn
was collateralized by real estate assets with greggte undepreciated book value of $801.7 million

Current and Future Cash Needs

Rental and other revenues are our principal soofrfiends to meet our short-term liquidity requirertse Other sources of funds for shtatr
liquidity needs include available working capitaidaborrowings under our existing revolving creditifity, which had $ 251.9 milliorof
availability at January 31, 2014 . Our shignm liquidity requirements primarily consist ofeypting expenses, interest and principal amortn
on our debt, dividends and distributions and cépmtgenditures, including building improvement epdienant improvement costs and I
commissions. Building improvements are capital £ast maintain existing buildings not typically reld to a specific customer. Ten
improvements are the costs required to customiaeesfor the specific needs of customers. We aatieiphat our available cash and ¢
equivalents and cash provided by operating aatwittogether with cash available from borrowingdeunour revolving credit facility, will k
adequate to meet our short-term liquidity requiretae

Our longterm liquidity needs generally consist of the \tient or refinancing of debt upon maturity (inchglimortgage debt, our revolvi
credit facility, term loans and other unsecuredtdébnding of existing and new building developrhen land infrastructure projects and func
acquisitions of buildings and development land. ifiddally, we may, from time to time, retire someadl of our remaining outstanding Prefer
Stock and/or unsecured debt securities throughmptiens, open market repurchases, privately negotiacquisitions or otherwise.

We expect to meet our long-term liquidity needetigh a combination of:

» cash flow from operating activitie

* bank term loans and borrowings under our revoleirgglit facility;

» the issuance of unsecured d

» the issuance of secured di
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» theissuance of equity securities by the Comparie@Operating Partnership; ¢
» the disposition of nogere asset

Dividends and Distributions

To maintain its qualification as a REIT, the Compamust pay dividends to stockholders that are @tl€0.0% of its annual REIT taxa
income, excluding net capital gains. The partnersigreement requires the Operating Partnershipistoibdite at least enough cash for
Company to be able to pay such dividends. The Cagip&EIT taxable income, as determined by theréddex laws, does not equal its
income under generally accepted accounting priesijh the United States of America (“GAAPTh addition, although capital gains are
required to be distributed to maintain REIT statagpital gains, if any, are subject to federal stade income tax unless such gains are distri
to stockholders.

Cash dividends and distributions reduce the amotioaish that would otherwise be available for othwesiness purposes, including func
debt maturities or future growth initiatives. Thex@unt of future distributions that will be madeaisthe discretion of the Company's Boar
Directors. For a discussion of the factors that imfluence decisions of the Board of Directorsaeting distributions, sedtém 5. Market fo
Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholdertdstand Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.”

2013 Acquisition Activity
During the third quarter of 2013, we acquired:

e our joint venture partner's 60.0% interest im BIW-KC Orlando, LLC joint venture, which owned five ici properties in the cent
business district of Orlando, FL encompassing 1lilBom rentable square feet, for a net purchaseepdf $112.8 million. The purche
price included the assumption of secured debt decbat fair value of $127.9 million, with an effieet interest rate of 3.11%. This d
matures in July 2014. We previously accounted for40.0% interest in this joint venture using tligiiey method of accounting. As
result of acquiring a controlling interest in thsnt venture, our previously held equity intergsis remeasured at a fair value of $
million resulting in a gain of $7.5 million;

« an office property in the central business distoicNashville, TN encompassing 520,000 rentableasgfieet for a net purchase pric:
$150.1 million; and

» our Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, LP joint vere partner's 57.0% interest in two office propsith the central perimeter submar
of Atlanta, GA encompassing 505,000 rentable sqfesefor a net purchase price of $44.5 milliorgliding the assumption of secu
debt recorded at fair value of $37.6 million, wath effective interest rate of 3.34%. This debt mestin April 2015.

During the second quarter of 2013, we acquired:

« an office property in the Buckhead submarket obAih, GA encompassing 553,000 rentable squarddeat purchase price of $14
million.

During the first quarter of 2013, we acquired:

e two office properties in the Westshore submarkefarhpa, FL encompassing 372,000 rentable squaréofea purchase price of $5:
million;

» two office properties in the Green Valley submanieGreensboro, NC encompassing 195,000 rentableredeet for a purchase price
$30.8 million; and

» five acres of land in the Poplar Corridor subkearof Memphis, TN on which a build-guit development project is underway fc
purchase price of $4.8 million.

During 2013, we expensed $1.8 milliohacquisition costs (included in general and adstiative expenses) related to these aforement
acquisitions. The assets acquired and liabilitesimed were recorded at fair value as determineddnagement based on information avail
at the acquisition date and on current assumptsn® future operations. We have invested or interidvest an additional $17.7 millian the
aggregate of planned building improvements andréutienant improvements committed under existingsdeaacquired in these build
acquisitions. Based on the total anticipated imaest of $548.5 million ,
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the weighted average capitalization rate for trguesitions of these buildings, which were 81.8%¢upied on average as of the respective cl
dates, is 7.0% using projected annual GAAP netaijpgy income. These forwatdeking statements are subject to risks and unotiga. Se
“Disclosure Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.”

In the normal course of business, we regularly watal potential acquisitions. As a result, from titnetime, we may have one or m
potential acquisitions under consideration thatianearying stages of evaluation, negotiation oe diligence, including potential acquisitions
are subject to nohinding letters of intent or enforceable contra@snsummation of any transaction is subject to mber of contingencie
including the satisfaction of customary closing ditions. No assurances can be provided that weagtjuire any properties in the future.
"Item 1A. Risk Factors Recent and future acquisitions and developmentetigs may fail to perform in accordance with oxpectations ar
may require renovation and development costs extgedr estimates."

2013 Disposition Activity
During the fourth quarter of 2013, we sold:
» eight office properties in Greenville, SC for aesarice of $57.9 million (before $0.1 million inosing credits to buyer for unfunc
tenant improvements and after $0.3 million in algstredits to buyer for free rent) and recordedhim @n disposition of discontinu

operations of $3.1 million;

e an office property in Tampa, FL for a sale price$dfl.5 million (before $0.6 million in closing ciiexito buyer for unfunded ten:
improvements) and recorded a gain on dispositiatiszfontinued operations of $2.8 million;

» an office property in Atlanta, GA for a sale pricE$13.8 million and recorded a gain on dispositidrdiscontinued operations of $
million;

» four office properties in Winsto8alem, NC for a sale price of $6.2 million and reled a gain on disposition of discontinued opera
of $0.1 million; and

» an office property in WinstoBalem, NC for a sale price of $5.3 million and réleal a gain on disposition of discontinued operstio
$2.5 million.

During the third quarter of 2013, we sold:

» an office property in Tampa, FL for a sale price$@fL.6 million and recorded a gain on dispositibrdiscontinued operations of $.
million; and

» sixteen industrial properties and a land parcel gingle transaction in Atlanta, GA for a sale @it $91.6 million (before $0.3 million
closing credits to buyer for unfunded tenant imements and after $0.3 million in closing creditdbtoer for free rent). We recorc
gains on disposition of discontinued operation$26.7 million related to the industrial propertaggl a gain on disposition of property
less than $0.1 million related to the land parcel.

During the second quarter of 2013, we sold:

» five industrial properties in Atlanta, GA for a egbrice of $4.5 million (after $0.1 million in clog credits to buyer for free rent) ¢
recorded a gain on disposition of discontinued afi@ns of less than $0.1 million;

e six industrial properties and a land parcel inregks transaction in Atlanta, GA for a sale price$8B.7 million (before $1.8 million
closing credits to buyer for unfunded tenant imgroents and after $1.3 million in closing creditdbtryer for free rent) and recorde
gain on disposition of discontinued operations 3.8 million; and

» two industrial properties in Atlanta, GA for a salece of $4.8 million and recorded a loss on dsfion of discontinued operations
less than $0.1 million.

During the first quarter of 2013, we sold:

» two office properties in Orlando, FL for a salecgriof $14.6 million (before $0.8 million in closimgedits to buyer for unfunded ten
improvements) and recorded a loss on dispositiatisaontinued operations of $0.3 million.
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Additionally, in connection with the disposition ah office property in Jackson, MS in the third geaof 2012, we had the right to rece
additional cash consideration of up to $1.5 milliggon the satisfaction of a certain post-closimgurement. The postlosing requirement w
satisfied and the cash consideration was receiwehgl 2013. Accordingly, we recognized $1.5 million additional gain on disposition
discontinued operations in 2013.

2013 Financing Activity

During 2012, we entered into separate equity sedesements with each of Wells Fargo Securities, LBB&T Capital Markets, a division
BB&T Securities, LLC, Jefferies LLC, Morgan Stani&yCo., LLC and Piper Jaffray & Co. During 201hetCompany issued 1,299, 78ares ¢
Common Stock under these equity sales agreemerts average gross sales price of $3566 share and received net proceeds, after
commissions, of $46.0 million . We paid an aggregdt$0.7 millionin sales commissions to BB&T Capital Markets, Margianley & Co., LL(
and Piper Jaffray & Co. during 2013 .

During 2013, we entered into separate equity sedesements with each of Wells Fargo Securities, LBB&T Capital Markets, a division
BB&T Securities, LLC, Comerica Securities, Inc.ffdges LLC and Piper Jaffray & Co. Under the terofishe equity distribution agreements,
Company may offer and sell shares of its CommokSiim time to time through such firms, actingaagnts of the Company or as princif
Sales of the shares, if any, may be made by mdeaorslinary brokers' transactions on the New YoricRtExchange or otherwise at market pr
prevailing at the time of sale, at prices relategtevailing market prices or at negotiated pricess otherwise agreed with any of such fi
During 2013 , the Company issued 2,661,399 shafrédommon Stock at an average gross sales priceSoM4$per share and received
proceeds, after sales commissions, of $98.2 milldfe paid an aggregate of $1.5 millionsales commissions to Wells Fargo Securities, b€
Jefferies LLC during 2013 . No shares of CommorciSteere sold under the equity sales agreementagithie fourth quarter of 2013.

During the third quarter of 2013, the Company issde312,5006hares of Common Stock in a public offering ancenezd net proceeds
$150.9 million. The Company used the net proceeds from the offen repay borrowings outstanding under our unsecvevolving cred
facility, to fund property acquisitions and devetmgnt activity and for general corporate purposes.

During the fourth quarter of 2013, we entered Bmoamended and restated $ 475.0 milliasecured revolving credit facility, which repla
our previously existing $475.0 million revolvingediit facility, and includes an accordion featuratthllows for an additional $ 75.0 milliaof
borrowing capacity subject to additional lender agitments. Our new revolving credit facility is scled to mature in January 2018ssuming
no defaults have occurred, we have an option tengixthe maturity for two additional sirenth periods. The interest rate on the new fgdalitou
current credit ratings is LIBOR plus 110 basis poand the annual facility fee is 20 basis points. ifiberest rate and facility fee are based ol
higher of the publicly announced ratings from Mosdyvestors Service or Standard & Poor's Ratiregggi€es. The financial and other coven
under the new facility are similar to our previauesdit facility. We use our revolving credit fatylifor working capital purposes and for the short-
term funding of our development and acquisitiorivitgt and, in certain instances, the repaymenttbeo debt. The continued ability to borr
under the revolving credit facility allows us toickly capitalize on strategic opportunities at gfterm interest rates. There wa2$6.7 millior
and $ 223.0 million outstanding under our revolviagdit facility at December 31, 2013 and Janudry 3014, respectively. At bol
December 31, 2013 and January 31, 2014 , we had #illion of outstanding letters of credit, which reduces dhailability on our revolvin
credit facility. As a result, the unused capacitpor revolving credit facility at December 31, 20and January 31, 2014 was $ 259.2 miltmi
$ 251.9 million , respectively. We simultaneousipemded and restated our $200.0 million, fypeé=r unsecured bank term loan, which
scheduled to mature in January 2018. The loanvssoheduled to mature in January 2019 and theeistteate, based on our current credit rat
was reduced from LIBOR plus 135 basis points to@RBplus 120 basis points. We also simultaneouslkynaled and restated our $225.0 mill
seven-year unsecured bank term loan to conformaiogstovisions to our other credit facilities.

During the fourth quarter of 2013, we prepaid withpenalty a secured mortgage loan with a fair miavilue of $67.5 million bearing
effective interest rate of 5.12% that was originaltheduled to mature in January 2014. During dloettfi quarter of 2013, one of our consolidi
affiliates also prepaid without penalty the remain$32.3 million balance on four secured mortgagm$ bearing interest at a weighted ave
rate of 5.79% that were originally scheduled tourein January 2014. During the third quarter dE20ve prepaid without penalty the remair
$114.7 million balance on two secured mortgageddsgaring interest at a weighted average rate/6Pb that were originally scheduled to ma
in December 2013. Real estate assets having a bomdsvalue of approximately $147 millidmecame unencumbered in connection witt
payoff of these secured loans.

During 2013, we also paid down $11.7 milliohsecured loan balances through principal amditizaand prepaid the remaining $35.0 mil
balance on a $200.0 million unsecured bank term tbat was originally scheduled to mature in Fety2916.
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We regularly evaluate the financial condition of tfinancial institutions that participate in ouedit facilities and as counterparties ur
interest rate swap agreements using publicly dvlailmformation. Based on this review, we curremtkpect these financial institutions to perfi
their obligations under our existing facilities aswlap agreements.

For information regarding our interest hedging\atiis and other market risks associated with @btdinancing activities, see "ltem 7
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MarRisk."

Covenant Compliance

We are currently in compliance with financial coaats and other requirements with respect to ousaatated debt. Although we expec
remain in compliance with these covenants andgdto at least the next year, depending upon owrduoperating performance, property
financing transactions and general economic camtiwe cannot assure you that we will continueetin compliance.

Our revolving credit facility and bank term loamsjuire us to comply with customary operating comemand various financial requireme
Upon an event of default on the revolving crediilfy, the lenders having at least 51.@%the total commitments under the revolving ci
facility can accelerate all borrowings then outdiag, and we could be prohibited from borrowing d&mgther amounts under our revolving cr
facility, which would adversely affect our ability fund our operations.

The Operating Partnership has the following unstumotes currently outstanding ($ in thousands):

Carrying Stated Interest Effective Interest

Face Amount Amount Rate Rate
Notes due March 2017 $ 379,688 $ 379,31: 5.85(% 5.88(%
Notes due April 2018 $ 200,00¢ $ 200,00( 7.50(% 7.50(%
Notes due January 2023 $ 250,00 $ 247,62 3.62t% 3.752%

The indenture that governs these outstanding metgsres us to comply with customary operating cawes and various financial ratios.
trustee or the holders of at least 25.0%rincipal amount of either series of bonds careterate the principal amount of such series wpriten
notice of a default that remains uncured after &gsd

We may not be able to repay, refinance or exterydaarall of our debt at maturity or upon any accafien. If any refinancing is done
higher interest rates, the increased interest esgpeould adversely affect our cash flow and abititpay distributions. Any such refinancing cc
also impose tighter financial ratios and other cags that restrict our ability to take actionst tt@uld otherwise be in our best interest, suc
funding new development activity, making opportticiacquisitions, repurchasing our securities gfiqmadistributions.
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Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth a summary regardiog known contractual obligations, including regdirinterest payments for those it
that are interest bearing, at December 31, 2013 {ffusands):

Amounts due during the years ending December 31,

Total 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Thereafter

Mortgages and Notes Payable:

Principal paymentsz1) $ 195517 $ 137,69 $ 80,93: $ 157,63t $ 488,20t $ 415,70 $ 675,00(

Interest payments 338,17¢ 83,62¢ 78,71« 68,02¢ 46,93: 23,95¢ 36,92¢
Financing Obligations:

SF-HIW Harborview Plaza, LP financing

obligation 12,78 12,78 — — — — —

Tax increment financing bond 10,42: 1,46( 1,561 1,66¢ 1,78t 1,90¢ 2,03¢

Interest on financing obligations) 2,66¢ 72z 621 51z 397 274 14z
Capitalized Lease Obligations 29z 177 101 15 — — —
Purchase Obligations:

Lease and contractual commitmegais 233,75: 197,69¢ 34,39¢ 62t 16E 10C 767
Operating Lease Obligations:

Operating ground leases 131,69( 3,044 3,07¢ 3,10¢ 3,14: 3,17¢ 116,13¢
Other Long Term Obligations:

Future infrastructure funding 7,95¢ 3,22( 3,68( 1,05¢ — — —
Total $ 269291 $ 440,42t $ 203,080 $ 23265 $ 540620 $ 44511 $ 831,01:

(1) Excludes amortization of premiums, discounts angimchase accounting adjustme

(2) Does not include interest on the BRY Harborview Plaza, LP financing obligation, whicannot be reasonably estimated for future peridte intere:
expense on these financing obligations was $0.omi] $(0.3) million and $0.8 million in 2013 , 2D and 2011 , respectively.

(3) Amount represents commitments under signesekeand contracts for operating properties, exetuténanfunded tenant improvements, and contract
development/redevelopment projects. This include36$! millionof contractual commitments related to our in precdsvelopment activity. The timing
these expenditures may fluctuate.

The interest payments due on mortgages and notedblpaare based on the stated rates for the fiasrldebt and on the rates in effec
December 31, 201f®r the variable rate debt. The weighted averatgrést rate on our fixed (including debt with aiahle rate that is effective
fixed by related interest rate swaps) and variade debt was 5.10% and 1.32% , respectively, aeDber 31, 2013For additional informatic
about our mortgages and notes payable, see Nateo@irt Consolidated Financial Statements. For amfditi information about our financi
obligations, see Note 8 to our Consolidated Firarigfatements. For additional information abouthase obligations, operating lease obliga
and other long term obligations, see Note 9 toGumsolidated Financial Statements.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

We generally account for our investments in lessthhajority owned joint ventures, partnerships imited liability companies using tl
equity method. As a result, these joint ventures ot included in our Consolidated Financial Staets, other than as investment:
unconsolidated affiliates and equity in earningsmtonsolidated affiliates.

At December 31, 2013 , our unconsolidated jointtwers had $294.7 million of total assets and $200ilion of total liabilities. Ou
weighted average equity interest based on the ést#ts of these unconsolidated joint ventures38&% . During 2013 these unconsolidat
joint ventures ha$5.4 million of aggregate net income, of which share was $1.1 million . Additionally, we record&tl2 million of positive
adjustments for management and other fees in eguigrnings of unconsolidated affiliates. For &ddal information about our unconsolida
joint venture activity, see Note 4 to our ConsdldFinancial Statemen
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At December 31, 2013, our unconsolidated jointtwes had $189.4 millioof outstanding mortgage debt. The following talgts orth th
scheduled maturities of the Company’'s $64.4 milligmportionate share of the outstanding debt ofuitsonsolidated joint ventures
December 31, 2013 ($ in thousands):

2014 $ 11,01:
2015 99z
2016 1,062
2017 27,08:
2018 19,397
Thereafter 4,88(

$ 64,42¢

All of this joint venture debt is non-recourse waxcept in the case of customary exceptions partato such matters as misuse of funds,
environmental conditions, material misrepresentatiand voluntary or uncontested involuntary bantayipvents.

During the second quarter of 2013, our Highwood$-BB/29, LLC joint venture sold an office propettyan unrelated third party for a s
price of $5.9 million (after $0.1 million in clogincredits to buyer for free rent) and recorded ia ga disposition of discontinued operation
less than $0.1 million. We recorded less than #tlllon as our share of this gain through equityarnings of unconsolidated affiliates.

Our Highwoods DLF 98/29, LLC joint venture recordetpairments of real estate assets of $15.3 millioring the third quarter of 2013
an office property in Orlando, FL and $4.8 millidaring the first quarter of 2013 on an office pndpen Atlanta, GA and an office property
Charlotte, NC. We recorded $3.5 million and $1.0liam, respectively, as our share of these impanharges through equity in earning:
unconsolidated affiliates. These impairments were b a change in the assumed timing of futureadisipns and/or leasing assumptions, w
reduced the future expected cash flows from theired properties.

During the first quarter of 2013, our Highwoods DQF26 DLF 99/32, LP joint venture sold an offia@jperty to an unrelated third party
a sale price of $10.1 million (after $0.3 milliom ¢losing credits to buyer for free rent) and reledra gain on disposition of property of less
$0.1 million. As our cost basis is different frolretbasis reflected at the joint venture level, eeorded $0.4 million of gain through equity
earnings of unconsolidated affiliates.

See "2013 Acquisition Activity" for a descriptioffi the acquisitions of (1) our joint venture partaes0.0% interest in our HIW.C Orlando
LLC joint venture and (2) two office propertiesAtlanta, GA from our Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32R joint venture.

During the fourth quarter of 2013, our HighwoodsPEorum, LLC joint venture obtained a $71.7 millidive-year secured mortgage I¢
from a third party lender, bearing a floating ie&rrate of LIBOR plus 190 basis points, which wasd by the joint venture to repay a sec
loan at maturity to a third party lender. The lamscheduled to mature in November 2018.

During the fourth quarter of 2013, the Lofts at Wéesjoint venture sold 21fesidential units to an unrelated third party fovsg proceeds
$38.3 million and recorded a gain of $12.2 millidw. a result, we received aggregate net distribstif $9.4 million and recorded our share o
gain of $3.2 million, which is net of $1.7 millian taxes incurred by our taxable REIT subsidianyequity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia

Financing Arrangements
- SF-HIW Harborview Plaza, LP

In 2002, we contributed Harborview Plaza, a 205,@able square foot office building to our BRA/ Harborview Plaza, LP joint ventu
We retained a 20.0% equity interest in the joirttuee. Our joint venture partner has the rightubifs 80.0%equity interest in the joint venture
us in exchange for cash at any time during they@aa-period commencing September 11, 2014 . Theewall the 80.0%quity interest will b
determined at the time that our partner electxévaise its put right, if ever, based upon the tfe@nmarket value of the joint venture's assetd
liabilities. The fair value of the real estate assell be reduced by 3.0%which is intended to represent the hypothetioats of a sale transacti
Because of the put option, this
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transaction has been accounted for as a financamgdction. Accordingly, the assets, liabilitiesl @perations of Harborview Plaza, which is
sole property owned by SF-HIW Harborview LP, remaiour Consolidated Financial Statements.

As a result, we initially established a gross fitiag obligation equal to the $12.7 milli@guity contributed by our joint venture parti
During 2012, our joint venture partner contributad additional $1.8 milliorof equity to the joint venture. During each periog increase tt
gross financing obligation for 80.086 the net income before depreciation of Harborvitlaza, which is recorded as interest expensenanding
obligation, and decrease the gross financing ofitigdor distributions made to our joint venturertpar. At the end of each reporting period,
balance of the gross financing obligation is adiddb equal the greater of the equity contributgdir joint venture partner or the current
value of the put option, which is recorded as aiatibn allowance. The valuation allowance is amedion a straightne basis prospective
through September 2014 as interest expense oncfirambligation. The fair value of the put optiorasv$12.8 million and $12.7 millioat
December 31, 2013 and 2012espectively. We continue to depreciate Harbovidaza and record all of the depreciation on makis. At suc
time as the put option expires or is otherwise beated, we will record the transaction as a pasi@é and recognize gain accordingly.

- Tax Increment Financing Bond

In connection with tax increment financing for alppag garage we constructed in 1999, we are oldiy&d pay fixed special assessments
a 20-year period ending in 2019 . The net presehevof these assessments, discounted at the 6r@@fést rate on the underlying tax incren
financing, is recorded as a financing obligatiore Yéceive special tax revenues and property taateslrecorded in interest and other ince
which are intended, but not guaranteed, to profidels to pay the special assessments. We acqiiestelated tax increment financing bc
which is recorded in prepaid and other assets, pnivately negotiated transaction in 200For additional information about this tax incrent
financing bond, see Note 11 to our Consolidateamiéral Statements.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymvith GAAP requires us to make estimates and rapsions that affect the report
amounts of assets and liabilities and the disceosdrcontingent liabilities at the date of the fioal statements and the reported amour
revenues and expenses for the reporting periodighctsults could differ from our estimates.

The policies used in the preparation of our Coudstdid Financial Statements are described in Note @ur Consolidated Financ
Statements. However, certain of our significantoaoting policies contain an increased level of ag#tions used or estimates made
determining their impact in our Consolidated FiriahStatements. Management has reviewed and detednthe appropriateness of our crit
accounting policies and estimates with the auditroittee of the Company's Board of Directors.

We consider our critical accounting estimates tatHmse used in the determination of the reportedwerts and disclosure related to
following:

* Real estate and related as:

* Impairments of real estate assets and investmenitsdonsolidated affiliate
e Sales of real esta
» Rental and other revenues;

* Allowance for doubtful accoun
Real Estate and Related Assets

Real estate and related assets are recorded abmosttated at cost less accumulated deprecid@ienovations, replacements and ¢
expenditures that improve or extend the life oetssire capitalized and depreciated over theimastid useful lives. Expenditures for ordir
maintenance and repairs are charged to expenselwased. Depreciation is computed using the sttdigh method over the estimated useful
of 40 years for buildings and depreciable landastfructure costs, 15 years for building improvemamd five to seven years for furniture, fixtt
and equipment. Tenant improvements are amortizied) tise straightine method over initial fixed terms of the respeetieases, which genere
are from three to 10 years.
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Expenditures directly related to the development eonstruction of real estate assets are includetki real estate assets and are sta
depreciated cost. Development expenditures inclpoeconstruction costs essential to the developmentproperties, development &
construction costs, interest costs on qualifyingets real estate taxes, development personneiesaéand related costs and other costs inc
during the period of development. Interest and rotiaerying costs are capitalized until the buildiageady for its intended use, but not later
one year from cessation of major construction &gti¥We consider a construction project as sub&thyicompleted and ready for its intended
upon the completion of tenant improvements. Weeeapitalization on the portion that is substalytiebmpleted and occupied or held availi
for occupancy, and capitalize only those costscateal with the portion under construction.

Expenditures directly related to the leasing ofperties are included in deferred financing andifepsosts and are stated at amortized
Such expenditures are part of the investment naoe$s execute leases and, therefore, are classiieinvestment activities in the statemel
cash flows. All leasing commissions paid to thiafties for new leases or lease renewals are dapitialinternal leasing costs include prime
compensation, benefits and other costs, such as flegs related to leasing activities, that arauired in connection with successfully obtair
leases of properties. Capitalized leasing costsaarertized on a straiglitie basis over the initial fixed terms of the restive leases, whi
generally are from three to 10 years. Estimatetsaetated to unsuccessful activities are expeaséadcurred.

We record liabilities for the performance of assirement activities when the obligation to penfosuch activities is probable even w
uncertainty exists about the timing and/or methiskttlement.

Upon the acquisition of real estate assets, wesadhe fair value of acquired tangible assets ssdand, buildings and tenant improveme
intangible assets and liabilities such as above widw market leases, acquiredplace leases, customer relationships and othetificite
intangible assets and assumed liabilities. We adsdisvalue based on estimated cash flow projestibhat utilize discount and/or capitaliza
rates as well as available market information. fetievalue of the tangible assets of an acquireperty considers the value of the property as
were vacant.

The above and below market rate portions of leasgsired in connection with property acquisitions gecorded in deferred financing
leasing costs and in accounts payable, accruechsgpeand other liabilities, respectively, at faitue and amortized into rental revenue ove
remaining term of the respective leases as deschbw. Fair value is calculated as the preselnevaf the difference between (1) the contrac
amounts to be paid pursuant to each in-place laadg2) our estimate of fair market lease ratesefmh corresponding place lease, using
discount rate that reflects the risks associatéh thie leases acquired and measured over a pejiad ® the remaining initial term of the lease
abovemarket leases and the remaining initial term phesterm of any renewal option that the customerldvdde economically compelled
exercise for below-market leases.

In-place leases acquired are recorded at fair valdeferred financing and leasing costs and are @edrto depreciation and amortizal
expense over the remaining term of the respectiasd. The value of iplace leases is based on our evaluation of thdf&pebaracteristics «
each customer's lease. Factors considered inclsiiimages of carrying costs during hypothetical expe leasewp periods, current mark
conditions, the customer's credit quality and ctssxecute similar leases. In estimating carrgiosts, we include real estate taxes, insuranc
other operating expenses and estimates of lostlseatt market rates during the expected legsperiods, depending on local market condition
estimating costs to execute similar leases, weidentnant improvements, leasing commissions egal land other related expenses.

Real estate and other assets are classified adileigassets held for use or as Idingd assets held for sale. Real estate is clags#s hel
for sale when the sale of the asset has been gphpeed by the Company, a legally enforceable eattnas been executed and the buyer"
diligence period has expired.

Impairments of Real Estate Assets and Investmenta Unconsolidated Affiliates

With respect to assets classified as held for weeperform an impairment analysis if events or ¢gesnin circumstances indicate that
carrying value may be impaired, such as a sigmifickecline in occupancy, identification of matdyighdverse legal or environmental fact
change in our designation of an asset from comotecore, which may impact the anticipated holding @erior a decline in market value to
amount less than cost. This analysis is generaltfopmed at the property level, except when antasgert of an interdependent group such
office park, and consists of determining whetherdkset's carrying amount will be recovered franuitdiscounted estimated future operating
residual cash flows. These cash flows are estimbésgd on a number of assumptions that are sufgjemtonomic and market uncertain
including, among others, demand for space, conmetibr customers, changes in market rental ratests to operate each property and exp
ownership periods. For properties under developnteet cash flows are based on expected servicentaitef the asset or asset group w
development is substantially complete.
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If the carrying amount of a held for use asset edse¢he sum of its undiscounted future operatirgrasidual cash flows, an impairment
is recorded for the difference between estimated/édue of the asset and the carrying amount. Aeegally estimate the fair value of assets
for use by using discounted cash flow analysesome instances, appraisal information may be ailailand is used in addition to a discoul
cash flow analysis. As the factors used in genagafiese cash flows are difficult to predict and ambject to future events that may alter
assumptions, the discounted and/or undiscounteaefudperating and residual cash flows estimatedidyn our impairment analyses or th
established by appraisal may not be achieved andayebe required to recognize future impairmendédsson properties held for use.

We record assets held for sale at the lower ofcdreying amount or estimated fair value. Fair vadieassets held for sale is equal to
estimated or contracted sales price with a potehtiger, less costs to sell. The impairment losthés amount by which the carrying amc
exceeds the estimated fair value.

We also analyze our investments in unconsolidaffdcaees for impairment. This analysis consistsdeftermining whether an expected los
market value of an investment is other than tempdrg evaluating the length of time and the extenwvhich the market value has been less
cost, the financial condition and ndarm prospects of the investee, and our intent aility to retain our investment for a period afé
sufficient to allow for any anticipated recoveryrimarket value. As the factors used in this analgsésdifficult to predict and are subject to fu
events that may alter our assumptions, we maydperesl to recognize future impairment losses onimgstments in unconsolidated affiliates.

Sales of Real Estate

For sales transactions meeting the requirementiiligorofit recognition, the related assets arabilities are removed from the balance s
and the resultant gain or loss is recorded in #reog the transaction closes. For sales transactigth continuing involvement after the sale, i
continuing involvement with the property is limiteég the terms of the sales contract, profit is gggped at the time of sale and is reduced b
maximum exposure to loss related to the naturéhefdontinuing involvement. Sales to entities in akhive have or receive an interest
accounted for using partial sale accounting.

For transactions that do not meet the criteriaafeale, we evaluate the nature of the continuimghtement, including put and call provisio
if present, and account for the transaction asanfiing arrangement, proikaring arrangement, leasing arrangement or otteenate method
accounting, rather than as a sale, based on thieenaimd extent of the continuing involvement. Sdraasactions may have numerous formr
continuing involvement. In those cases, we deteemihich method is most appropriate based on thetanite of the transaction.

Rental and Other Revenues

Minimum contractual rents from leases are recoghize a straightine basis over the terms of the respective leaBeis. means that, wi
respect to a particular lease, actual amountsdbifieaccordance with the lease during any giveiodanay be higher or lower than the amout
rental revenue recognized for the period. Straligletrental revenue is commenced when the cust@s&uimes control of the leased prem
Accrued straight-line rents receivable represdmsaimount by which straiglitie rental revenue exceeds rents currently bilkedccordance wi
lease agreements. Contingent rental revenue, sugleraentage rent, is accrued when the contingesnogmoved. Termination fee income
recognized at the later of when the customer haatgd the space or the lease has expired andyaefidcuted lease termination agreemen
been delivered, the amount of the fee is deternignabd collectability of the fee is reasonably asduRental revenue reductions related to co:
tenancy lease provisions, if any, are accrued velvents have occurred that trigger such provisions.

Cost recovery income is determined on a calendar ged a lease-bigase basis. The most common types of cost recamegme in ou
leases are common area maintenance (“CAM”) andestate taxes, for which the customer pays its@t@share of operating and administre
expenses and real estate taxes in excess of tteigogrred during a contractually specified basaryThe computation of cost recovery incon
complex and involves numerous judgments, includiwginterpretation of terms and other customerelgasvisions. Leases are not uniforn
dealing with such cost recovery income and thezenzany variations in the computation. Many custameake monthly fixed payments of CA
real estate taxes and other cost reimbursemens.itdfe accrue cost recovery income related to thagments each month. We make quar
accrual adjustments, positive or negative, to msbvery income to adjust the recorded amountsitdest estimate of the final annual amoun
be billed and collected. After the end of the cdlamnyear, we compute each customer's final costverg income and, after considering amo
paid by the customer during the year, issue aobitiredit for the appropriate amount to the custobe differences between the amounts k
less previously received payments and the accdjasnent are recorded as increases or decreasesttiecovery income when the final bills
prepared, which occurs during the first half of sibsequent year.
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Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable, accrued straigjhe rents receivable and mortgages and notesveddei are reduced by an allowance for amount:
may become uncollectible in the future. We regylavaluate the adequacy of our allowance for dalilstEcounts. The evaluation prima
consists of reviewing past due account balancesansidering such factors as the credit qualitgwfcustomer, historical trends of the custc
and changes in customer payment terms. Additionaliyh respect to customers in bankruptcy, we estnthe probable recovery throl
bankruptcy claims and adjust the allowance for am®deemed uncollectible. If our assumptions raggrthe collectability of receivables prc
incorrect, we could experience losses in excessuofallowance for doubtful accounts. The allowanoe its related receivable are writteffi-
when we have concluded there is a low probabifityaiection and we have discontinued collectiofoes.

Non-GAAP Measures - FFO and NOI

The Company believes that FFO, FFO available famroon stockholders and FFO available for commonksialders per share are benefi
to management and investors and are importantdtatie of the performance of any equity REIT. Beeatliese FFO calculations exclude ¢
factors as depreciation, amortization and impaitenh real estate assets and gains or losses fatea af operating real estate assets, whicl
vary among owners of identical assets in similarditions based on historical cost accounting amdulidife estimates, they facilitate comparis
of operating performance between periods and betwéeer REITs. Management believes that histogoat accounting for real estate asse
accordance with GAAP implicitly assumes that théueaof real estate assets diminishes predictabfr eimne. Since real estate values t
historically risen or fallen with market conditign®any industry investors and analysts have coreidthe presentation of operating result:
real estate companies that use historical costuatiog to be insufficient on a stamdene basis. As a result, management believeghbaise ¢
FFO, FFO available for common stockholders and Fv@ilable for common stockholders per share, tagethith the required GAA
presentations, provides a more complete understgnali the Company's performance relative to its petitors and a more informed ¢
appropriate basis on which to make decisions inmgleperating, financing and investing activities.

FFO, FFO available for common stockholders and Bk@ilable for common stockholders per share areGAAP financial measures a
therefore do not represent net income or net incpeneshare as defined by GAAP. Net income andnuete per share as defined by GAAF
the most relevant measures in determining the Cogp@perating performance because these FFO nesasiciude adjustments that inves
may deem subjective, such as adding back expenshsas depreciation, amortization and impairmedristhermore, FFO available for comn
stockholders per share does not depict the ambahtatcrues directly to the stockholders' benafitordingly, FFO, FFO available for comrr
stockholders and FFO available for common stocldrsigier share should never be considered as dit@sto net income, net income availz
for common stockholders, or net income availabtectommon stockholders per share as indicatorseo€ibmpany's operating performance.

The Company's presentation of FFO is consistenh WEO as defined by the National Association of IREstate Investment Tru:
(“NAREIT"), which is calculated as follows:

* Net income/(loss) computed in accordance with G/
» Less net income attributable to noncontrollingiests in consolidated affiliate
* Plus depreciation and amortization of depreciapkrating propertie

» Less gains, or plus losses, from sales of depriec@ierating properties and acquisition of conimglinterest in unconsolidated affilia
plus impairments on depreciable operating propeeiel excluding items that are classified as esdmaary items under GAAP;

» Plus or minus our proportionate share of adjustmantluding depreciation and amortization of defaele operating properties,
unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventureseflect funds from operations on the same basig); a

* Plus or minus adjustments for depreciation and #madion and gains/(losses) on sales of depreciaplerating properties, pl
impairments on depreciable operating propertied,remmcontrolling interests in consolidated afféistrelated to discontinued operations.

In calculating FFO, the Company includes net incettigbutable to noncontrolling interests in thee@giing Partnership, which the Comp
believes is consistent with standard industry jcactor REITs that operate through an UPREIT stect The Company believes that i
important to present FFO on an as-converted basig il of the Common Units not owned by the Conypare redeemable on a one-tore
basis for shares of its Common Stock.
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The following table sets forth thHeompany's FFO, FFO available for common stockhslde&d FFO available for common stockholder:
share ($ in thousands, except per share amounts).

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Funds from operations:
Net income $ 131,097 $ 84,23t $ 47,97:
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling intéees consolidated affiliates (949) (78€) (755)
Depreciation and amortization of real estate assets 174,68 144,27! 125,53¢
(Gain) on acquisition of controlling interest inaamsolidated affiliate (7,45)) — —
Unconsolidated affiliates:
Depreciation and amortization of real estate assets 6,79¢€ 7,73¢€ 8,38¢
Impairments of depreciable properties 4,507 1,00z —
(Gains) on disposition of depreciable properties (431) (1,120 —
Discontinued operations:
Depreciation and amortization of real estate assets 5,75:% 11,97( 15,64°
Impairments of depreciable properties 2,19¢ — 2,42¢
(Gains) on disposition of depreciable properties (63,799 (29,455 (2,579
Funds from operations 252,40° 217,85 196,64
Dividends on Preferred Stock (2,509 (2,509 (4,557
Excess of Preferred Stock redemption/repurchadeoees carrying value — — (1,895
Funds from operations available for common stockhalers $ 249,89¢ $ 215,34¢ $ 190,19
Funds from operations available for common stockhalers per share $ 281 $ 27C % 2.5(
88,83t 79,67¢ 76,18¢

Weighted average shares outstandin(1)

(1) Includes assumed conversion of all potentiallytdieiCommon Stock equivaler

In addition, the Company believes net operatingnme from continuing operations (“NOIgnd same property NOI are useful supplem
measures of the Compasyproperty operating performance because suchawngirovide a performance measure of the revenwtegrense
directly involved in owning real estate assets pravides a perspective not immediately apparemh fnret income or FFO. The Company def
NOI as rental and other revenues from continuingraiions, less rental property and other expemses ¢ontinuing operations. The Comp
defines cash NOI as NOI less straijhe rent and lease termination fees. Other REIAg ose different methodologies to calculate NOI sauth
property NOI.

As of December 31, 2013 , our same property paotiodnsisted of 247 in-service office, industriadaretail properties encompassi?g.1
million rentable square feet that were wholly owmleding the entirety of the periods presented (fdamuary 1, 2012 to December 31, 2D18s
of December 31, 2012 , our same property portfotinsisted of 284 in-service office, industrial aethil properties encompassi§.8 millior
rentable square feet that were wholly owned duttiegentirety of the periods presented (from Jan@ia®011 to December 31, 201.2The chang
in our same property portfolio was due to the addiof eight office properties encompassing 2.liamlrentable square feet acquired dur2@j]
and two newly developed office properties enconipgs8.2 million rentable square feet placed in merduring 2011, offset by the removal
18 office properties and 29 industrial propertias@npassing 4.0 million rentable square feet diasisas discontinued operations during 2013 .

Rental and other revenues related to propertiesnnotir same property portfolio were $95.7 milliand $23.8 millionfor the years end:

December 31, 2013 and 2012 , respectively. Rentalgoty and other expenses related to propertiesraur same property portfolio we$38.£
million and $11.9 million for the years ended Debem31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
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The following table sets forth the Company’s NOtlasaame property NOI:

Income from continuing operations before dispositia of investment properties and activity in unconsatiated
affiliates

Other income
Interest expense
General and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Net operating income from continuing operations
Less — non same property and other net operateugria
Total same property net operating income from contiuing operations

Rental and other revenues
Rental property and other expenses
Total net operating income from continuing operatios
Less — non same property and other net operatamgrie
Total same property net operating income from contiuing operations

Total same property net operating income from cwiiig operations
Less — straight-line rent and lease terminatios fee

Same property cash net operating income from contiring operations
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Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012
53,01 $ 34,83
(6,399 (6,380)
92,70: 96,11+
37,19 37,37

176,95° 146,35°

353,46t 308,30:

(57,20%) (11,87

296,26: $ 296,42!

556,81( $ 485,04¢

203,34« 176,74«
353,46t 308,30:
(57,20%) (11,87

296,26: $ 296,42!

296,26. $ 296,42
(9,474 (14,48

286,787 % 281,94:
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

The effects of potential changes in interest raresdiscussed below. Our market risk discussioludies “forward-looking statementsinc
represents an estimate of possible changes irvdhie or future earnings that would occur assunhiyygothetical future movements in inte
rates. Actual future results may differ materidtlym those presented. Sdéetn 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis o&iéral Conditiol
and Results of Operations - Liquidity and CapitasBurces’and the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemfartsa description of ol
accounting policies and other information relatethese financial instruments.

We borrow funds at a combination of fixed and Malearates. Borrowings under our revolving creddilfey and bank term loans bear inte!
at variable rates. Our long-term debt, which cdasid secured and unsecured Idagm financings, typically bears interest at fixedes. Ot
interest rate risk management objectives are tib enerally the impact of interest rate changegamings and cash flows and lower our ov
borrowing costs. To achieve these objectives, ftiome to time we enter into interest rate hedgeremts such as collars, swaps, caps and tre
lock agreements in order to mitigate our interegé risk with respect to various debt instrumekl¢e generally do not hold or issue th
derivative contracts for trading or speculativepmses.

At December 31, 2013 , we had $1,315.6 miligsimcipal amount of fixed rate debt outstandingt (ncluding debt with a variable rate the
effectively fixed by related interest rate swagd)e estimated aggregate fair market value of thlst dvas $1,390.6 millionIf interest rates h:
been 100 basis points higher, the aggregate fakahsalue of our fixed rate debt would have beé8.% millionlower. If interest rates had be
100 basis points lower, the aggregate fair maraktevof our fixed rate debt would have been $5il6om higher.

At December 31, 2013 , we had $415.7 millafrvariable rate debt outstanding not protectedhbgrest rate hedge contracts. If the weig
average interest rate on this variable rate detitbde®n 100 basis points higher, the annual intengetnse would increase $4.2 millioif the
weighted average interest rate on this variabkedabt had been 100 basis points lower, the ammigaést expense would decrease $4.2 million .

At December 31, 2013 , we had $225.0 million ofiafale rate LIBOR-based debt outstanding with $228il0on of related floating-tdixed
interest rate swaps. These swaps effectively fxuhderlying LIBOR rate of the debt at 1.678% LIBOR interest rates increase or decreas
100 basis points, the aggregate fair market vafuileeoswaps at December 31, 2013 would increas&lby5 million or decrease by $10.6 million
respectively. We are exposed to certain losseBdrevent of nonperformance by the counterpartibgtware major financial institutions, un
the swaps. We regularly evaluate the financial d¢mrd of our counterparties using publicly availabhformation. Based on this review,

currently expect the counterparties to performyfulhder the swaps. However, if a counterparty defan its obligations under a swap, we ci
be required to pay the full rates on the applicalelet, even if such rates were in excess of tleeinahe contract.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

See pagé6 for Index to Consolidated Financial Statementslighwoods Properties, Inc. and Highwoods RealtyitachPartnership.
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.
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ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
General

The purpose of this section is to discuss our otsi@nd procedures. The statements in this seotipresent the conclusions of Edwar
Fritsch, the Company's President and Chief Exeeuificer (“CEO”),and Terry L. Stevens, the Company's Senior Vicesieat and Chit
Financial Officer (“CFQO”).

The CEO and CFO evaluations of our controls anccemuores include a review of the controls' objestiemd design, the contre
implementation by us and the effect of the contmisthe information generated for use in this ArRieport. We seek to identify data ern
control problems or acts of fraud and confirm thppropriate corrective action, including procespriomements, is undertaken. Our controls
procedures are also evaluated on an ongoing basisthrough the following:

» activities undertaken and reports issued by emptoyesponsible for testing our internal controlrdireancial reporting

» quarterly sulsertifications by representatives from appropriatesiness and accounting functions to support th©'€End CFO
evaluations of our controls and procedures;

» other personnel in our finance and accounting degdion
* members of our internal disclosure committee;
* members of the audit committee of the Company'sdofDirectors

We do not expect that our controls and procedutiéprevent all errors and all fraud. A control s, no matter how well conceived i
operated, can provide only reasonable, not absassrance that the objectives of the controksysire met. Further, the design of controls
procedures must reflect the fact that there am@ures constraints, and the benefits of controlstihesonsidered relative to their costs. Becau
the inherent limitations in all control systems,ev@luation of controls can provide absolute asggdhat all control issues and instances of f
if any, have been detected. These inherent limitatinclude the realities that judgments in deaisiaking can be faulty and that breakdowns
occur because of a simple error or mistake. Adadttily, controls can be circumvented by the indiaidacts of some persons, by collusion of
or more people, or by management override of thrgrob The design of any system of controls alsbased in part upon certain assumpt
about the likelihood of future events, and thene ba no assurance that any design will succeedhiewdng its stated goals under all potel
future conditions.

Management's Annual Report on the Company's InternhControl Over Financial Reporting
The Company's management is required to estabfidhnaintain internal control over financial repogidesigned to provide reason:
assurance regarding the reliability of financiglaging and the preparation of financial statemémt&xternal purposes in accordance with GA
Internal control over financial reporting includbe®se policies and procedures that:

e pertain to the maintenance of records that in mealsle detail accurately and fairly reflect trangatt and dispositions of ass

» provide reasonable assurance that transaction®eweded as necessary to permit preparation ofdiahstatements in accordance \
GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures are bemge only in accordance with authorizations of ganzent and directors; and

» provide reasonable assurance regarding preventiimely detection of unauthorized acquisition, wsalisposition of assets that cc
have a material effect on the financial statements.

Under the supervision of the Company's CEO and @kOzonducted an evaluation of the effectiveneskedfCompany's internal control o
financial reporting at December 31, 2013 based han driteria established in Internal Controlntegrated Framework (1992) issued by
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tremd@ommission.

We have concluded that, at December 31, 2@k8 Company's internal control over financialaging was effective. Deloitte & Touche LL

our independent registered public accounting filas issued their attestation report, which is idetl below, on the effectiveness of
Company's internal control over financial reportatgoecember 31, 2013 .
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Management's Annual Report on the Operating Partneship's Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Operating Partnership is also required to éstaland maintain internal control over financiaporting designed to provide reason
assurance regarding the reliability of financigloging and the preparation of financial statemémt&xternal purposes in accordance with GA

Under the supervision of the Company's CEO and @rO;onducted an evaluation of the effectiveneshefOperating Partnership's intel
control over financial reporting at December 3112®based on the criteria established in Internait@b - Integrated Framework issued by
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tremd@ommission.

We have concluded that, at December 31, 2ah& Operating Partnership's internal control direncial reporting was effective. SEC rt

do not require us to obtain an attestation repbRedoitte & Touche LLP on the effectiveness of tBperating Partnership's internal control «
financial reporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Highwoods Properties, Inc.
Raleigh, North Carolina

We have audited the internal control over finanoéglorting of Highwoods Properties, Inc. and sulsiéls (the "Company") as of Decem
31, 2013, based on criteria establishethternal Control - Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatod
the Treadway Commission. The Company's managemeasponsible for maintaining effective internahtcol over financial reporting and for
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cowtrel financial reporting, included in the accomypag Managemens Annual Report on tl
Companys Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Owpensibility is to express an opinion on the Comyfsimternal control over financ
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statedof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d@nited States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaiasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting w
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal cordwar financial reporting, assessing the risk
a material weakness exists, testing and evaludtingdesign and operating effectiveness of inteowaitrol based on the assessed risk,
performing such other procedures as we considezedssary in the circumstances. We believe thatodit provides a reasonable basis for
opinion.

A company's internal control over financial repagtiis a process designed by, or under the supenvidi the company's principal execu
and principal financial officers, or persons pemiorg similar functions, and effected by the compsaipard of directors, management, and «
personnel to provide reasonable assurance regattinceliability of financial reporting and the pegation of financial statements for exte
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatiog principles. A company's internal control pfieancial reporting includes those polic
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenahoecords that, in reasonable detail, accuratetyfairly reflect the transactions and disposit
of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasenabsurance that transactions are recorded assagceas permit preparation of financ
statements in accordance with generally accepteauating principles, and that receipts and expenett of the company are being made on
accordance with authorizations of management amdttdrs of the company; and (3) provide reasonabdeirance regarding prevention or tir
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or @i#jppn of the company's assets that could havatanmal effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal teoinover financial reporting, including the pogstp of collusion or improper managem
override of controls, material misstatements duertor or fraud may not be prevented or detectec d¢imely basis. Also, projections of ¢
evaluation of the effectiveness of the internaltcarover financial reporting to future periods auhject to the risk that the controls may bec
inadequate because of changes in conditions, ptitbalegree of compliance with the policies orcpaures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all mialerespects, effective internal control over fio&l reporting as of December 31, 2(
based on the criteria establishedriternal Control - Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatafrtbe
Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Blo@dnited States), the consolida

financial statements and financial statement sdesdas of and for the year ended December 31, 2018e Company and our report de
February 10, 2014 expressed an unqualified opioiothose financial statements and financial stat¢sehedules.

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLP

Raleigh, North Carolina
February 10, 2014
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in the Company'’s interndrabaver financial reporting during the fourth gtea of 2013that materially affected,
are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Quamy’s internal control over financial reporting. Thevere also no changes in the Opere
Partnership’s internal control over financial repay during the fourth quarter of 20%Bat materially affected, or are reasonably liked
materially affect, the Operating Partnership’siiné control over financial reporting.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

SEC rules also require us to maintain disclosurgrots and procedures that are designed to ensarénformation required to be disclose
our annual and periodic reports filed with the SE@corded, processed, summarized and reportéihvtite time periods specified in the SEC’
rules and forms. As defined in Rule 1Bafe) under the Exchange Act, disclosure contnotsgrocedures include, without limitation, contralx
procedures designed to ensure that informationinedjto be disclosed by us is accumulated and camuated to our management, including
Company’s CEO and CFO, to allow timely decisiorgarding required disclosure. The Company’'s CEO@R® concluded that the Compasy’
disclosure controls and procedures were effectivihea end of the period covered by this Annual Repthe Company CEO and CFO al
concluded that the Operating Partnershigisclosure controls and procedures were effectivithe end of the period covered by this An
Report.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART llI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE
Information about the Company’s executive officansl directors and the code of ethics that appliekeé Company chief executive offici
and senior financial officers, which is posted am website, is incorporated herein by referencthéoCompanys Proxy Statement to be filed
connection with its annual meeting of stockholderse held on May 13, 2014See Item X in Part | of this Annual Report foodpiaphice
information regarding the Company’s executive @ff&c The Company is the sole general partner obfierating Partnership.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information about the compensation of the Compadirsctors and executive officers is incorporatedein by reference to the Compasy’
Proxy Statement to be filed in connection withaitsiual meeting of stockholders to be held on May2034 .

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information about the beneficial ownership of Conmm®tock and the Comparsy’equity compensation plans is incorporated hebpg
reference to the Company’s Proxy Statement toleé iin connection with its annual meeting of stauklers to be held on May 13, 2014 .

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information about certain relationships and relatagsactions and the independence of the Compatiséctors is incorporated herein
reference to the Company’s Proxy Statement toléé fin connection with its annual meeting of stauklers to be held on May 13, 2014 .

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information about fees paid to and services praVid our independent registered public accountimg i incorporated herein by refere
to the Company’s Proxy Statement to be filed inneantion with its annual meeting of stockholderbdécheld on May 13, 2014 .
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Reference is made to the Index to Consolidatedrigiah Statements on pad® for a list of the Consolidated Financial Stateraeof
Highwoods Properties, Inc. and Highwoods RealtyitgchPartnership included in this report.

Exhibit
Number

Exhibits

Description

3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

Amended and Restated Charter of the Company (Gkeghart of the Company’s Current Report on Fori &atec
May 15, 2008)

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (filegart of the Company’s Current Report on Forid 8atec
May 15, 2008)

Indenture among the Operating Partnership, the @agnpnd U.S. Bank National Association (as sucecdrsaterest tc
Wachovia Bank, N.A.) dated as of December 1, 198&i(as part of the Operating Partnerski@urrent Report on For
8-K dated December 2, 1996)

Form of 7.5% Notes due April 15, 2018 (filed astpzfrthe Company's Current Report on ForrK 8lated April 24
1998)

Form of 5.85% Notes due March 15, 2017 (filed a$ phthe Company's Current Report on Forr 8ated March 2z
2007)

Officers’ Certificate Establishing the Terms of the 5.85%d$ptdated March 22, 2007 (filed as part of the Camgls
Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 22, 2007)

Form of 3.625% Notes due January 15, 2023 (filechas of the Company's Current Report on For{ 8atec
December 18, 2012)

Officers' Certificate Establishing the Terms of th&25% Notes, dated as of December 18, 2012 (fikegart of th
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated Decernh®g2012)

Second Restated Agreement of Limited Partnerstdpeddas of January 1, 2000, of the Operating Patiie (filed as
part of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-Ktke year ended December 31, 2004)

Amendment No. 1, dated as of July 22, 2004, toSheond Restated Agreement of Limited Partnershifeddas ¢
January 1, 2000, of the Operating Partnershipd(fie part of the Company’s Annual Report on ForaKX0r the yea
ended December 31, 2004)

2009 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan (filed as pErthe Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K daitsy 13, 2009)

Form of warrants to purchase Common Stock of the@my (filed as part of the CompasyAnnual Report on For
10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997)

Highwoods Properties, Inc. Retirement Plan, eféectis of March 1, 2006 (filed as part of the ConypmrQuarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended SepteBe2007)

Amended and Restated Executive Supplemental Em@oyigreement, dated as of February 12, 2013, lestwiec
Company and Edward J. Fritsch (filed as part of @@npany's Annual Report on Form KOfor the year ende
December 31, 2012)

Amended and Restated Executive Supplemental Em@oymgreement, dated as of February 12, 2013, |lestwiee
Company and Michael E. Harris (filed as part of tBempany's Annual Report on Form KOfor the year ende
December 31, 2012)

Amended and Restated Executive Supplemental Em@oyigreement, dated as of February 12, 2013, lestwiec
Company and Terry L. Stevens (filed as part of @@mpany's Annual Report on Form KOfor the year ende
December 31, 2012)

Amended and Restated Executive Supplemental Em@oyigreement, dated as of February 12, 2013, lestwiee
Company and Jeffrey D. Miller (filed as part of t®mpany's Annual Report on Form KOfor the year ende
December 31, 2012)

Highwoods Properties, Inc. Amended andt&ed Employee Stock Purchase Plan (filed as qfathe Companys
Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 12, 2010)
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Exhibit
Number Description
10.11 *  Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated Emgl&teck Purchase Plan of the Company (filed as gfattie
Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yewmteel December 31, 2010)
10.12 Fourth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dadedf November 12, 2013, by and among the Compiue
Operating Partnership , Bank of America, N.A., asnnistrative Agent, Swing Line Lender and L/C IssuWVells Farg:
Bank, National Association, as Syndication Agent] ¢he Other Lenders named therein (filed as datieeCompany'
Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 12, 2013)
10.13 Amended and Restated FiYear Term Loan Agreement, dated as of NovembefQ@23, by and among the Compa
the Operating Partnership, Wells Fargo Bank, Nafigkssociation, as Administrative Agent, and thénédtLender:
named therein (filed as part of the Company's @afReport on Form 8-K dated November 12, 2013)
10.14 Amended and Restated Sevéear Term Loan Agreement, dated as of NovembeRQ23, by and among the Compa
the Operating Partnership, Wells Fargo Bank, Nafigkssociation, as Administrative Agent, and thénétLender:
named therein (filed as part of the Company's @aiReport on Form 8-K dated November 12, 2013)
12.1 Statement re: Computation of Ratios of the Company
12.2 Statement re: Computation of Ratios of@Iperating Partnership
21 Schedule of Subsidiaries
23 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP for the Guany
31.1 Certification of CEO Pursuant to Section 302 of 8a#banes-Oxley Act for the Company
31.2 Certification of CFO Pursuant to Sectio2 8f the Sarbanes-Oxley Act for the Company
31.3 Certification of CEO Pursuant to Section 302 of 8a#banes-Oxley Act for the Operating Partnership
31.4 Certification of CFO Pursuant to Sectiog 8f the Sarbanes-Oxley Act for the Operatingrigaship
32.1 Certification of CEO Pursuant to Section 906 of 8a#banes-Oxley Act for the Company
32.2 Certification of CFO Pursuant to Sectio 9f the Sarbanes-Oxley Act for the Company
32.3 Certification of CEO Pursuant to Section 906 of 8a#banes-Oxley Act for the Operating Partnership
324 Certification of CFO Pursuant to Sectiob 8f the Sarbanes-Oxley Act for the Operatingrieaighip
101.INS XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuine
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Livkse Document
101.LAB XBRL Extension Labels Linkbase
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentatiortkhase Document

* Represents management contract or compensatany pl

55




Table of Contents

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incomihéo¥ears Ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 60
Consolidated Statements of Equity for the Yearse@rdecember 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 61
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All other schedules are omitted because they arapplicable or because the required informatioimétuded in our Consolidated Finani
Statements or notes thereto.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Highwoods Properties, Inc.
Raleigh, North Carolina

We have audited the accompanying consotieth balance sheets of Highwoods Properties, Ind. subsidiaries (the "Company”) as
December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related codasedi statements of income, comprehensive incoquétye and cash flows for each of
three years in the period ended December 31, 2DaBaudits also included the financial statemehedales listed in the Index at Item 15. Tt
financial statements and financial statement sdeedare the responsibility of the Company's managenOur responsibility is to express
opinion on the financial statements and finanditiesnent schedules based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversightifBo(United States). Thc
standards require that we plan and perform thet aaddbtain reasonable assurance about whethefintuecial statements are free of mate
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on alesis, evidence supporting the amounts and disids in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting principgesl and significant estimates made by managementet as evaluating the overall finan
statement presentation. We believe that our apdigide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetegresent fairly, in all material respects, timarficial position of Highwoods Properti
Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 8d@&,2and the results of their operations and ttesh flows for each of the three years ir
period ended December 31, 2013, in conformity veititounting principles generally accepted in thetééhiStates of America. Also, in ¢
opinion, such financial statement schedules, whasidered in relation to the basic consolidatedrfaial statements taken as a whole, pri
fairly, in all material respects, the informatiogt $orth therein.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Blo@dnited States), the Compar
internal control over financial reporting as of Bewer 31, 2013, based on the criteria establishddtérnal Control-Integrated Framework

(1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatadrthe Treadway Commission and our report datdatlsey 10, 2014 expressed
unqualified opinion on the Company's internal cohtwer financial reporting.

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLP

Raleigh, North Carolina
February 10, 2014
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

December 31,

2013 2012
Assets:
Real estate assets, at cost:
Land $ 393,60: $ 332,33°
Buildings and tenant improvements 3,748,86! 3,099,94.
Development in process 44,62 21,19¢
Land held for development 110,37- 115,41¢
4,297,46 3,568,89
Less-accumulated depreciation (985,24, (876,44¢)
Net real estate assets 3,312,22: 2,692,44i
Real estate and other assets, net, held for sale — 191,32°
Cash and cash equivalents 10,18 13,78:
Restricted cash 14,16¢ 19,70z
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $1,648 $2848, respectively 26,43( 23,07:
Mortgages and notes receivable, net of allowan&362 and $182, respectively 26,40¢ 25,47:
Accrued straight-line rents receivable, net of\aloce of $1,063 and $813, respectively 126,01 109,40:
Investments in and advances to unconsolidatedaaé 29,90: 66,80(
Deferred financing and leasing costs, net of acdated amortization of $92,220 and $75,008, respelsti 222,21 163,96
Prepaid expenses and other assets, net of accechalaiortization of $12,905 and $12,318,
respectively 39,56 44,45¢
Total Assets $ 3,807,100 $ 3,350,42
Liabilities, Noncontrolling Interests in the Operating Partnership and Equity:
Mortgages and notes payable $ 1,956,29° $ 1,859,16:
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheritiizdil 218,96 172,14¢
Financing obligations 26,66¢ 29,35¢
Total Liabilities 2,201,92! 2,060,66!
Commitments and contingencies
Noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partngrsh 106,48( 124,86¢
Equity:
Preferred Stock, $.01 par value, 50,000,000 awtbdrshares;

8.625% Series A Cumulative Redeemable PreferreceSifiquidation preference $1,000 per share), ZRghares

issued and outstanding 29,077 29,077
Common Stock, $.01 par value, 200,000,000 authdbshares;

89,920,915 and 80,311,437 shares issued and aditejanespectively 89¢ 802
Additional paid-in capital 2,370,36: 2,040,301
Distributions in excess of net income availabledommon stockholders (920,43)) (897,419
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (2,61) (12,62%

Total Stockholders’ Equity 1,477,301 1,160,141
Noncontrolling interests in consolidated affiliates 21,39¢ 4,752

Total Equity 1,498,69 1,164,89:
Total Liabilities, Noncontrolling Interests in ti@perating Partnership and Equity $ 380710 $ 335042

See accompanying notes to consolidated financssients.
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Rental and other revenues
Operating expenses:
Rental property and other expenses
Depreciation and amortization
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Interest expense:
Contractual
Amortization of deferred financing costs

Financing obligations

Other income:
Interest and other income

Losses on debt extinguishment

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Income

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Income from continuing operations before dispositia of investment properties and activity in unconsatlated

affiliates

Gains/(losses) on disposition of property

Gains/(losses) on for-sale residential condominiums

Gains on disposition of investments in unconsodidaffiliates

Gain on acquisition of controlling interest in unsolidated affiliate

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates

Income from continuing operations
Discontinued operations:
Income from discontinued operations

Impairments of real estate assets

Net gains on disposition of discontinued operations

Net income

Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling intdees the Operating Partnership

Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling intessim consolidated affiliates

Dividends on Preferred Stock

Excess of Preferred Stock redemption/repurchageowes carrying value

Net income available for common stockholders

Earnings per Common Share — basic:

Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholders

Income from discontinued operations available fimmon stockholders

Net income available for common stockholders

Weighted average Common Shares outstanding — basic

Earnings per Common Share — diluted:

Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholders

Income from discontinued operations available fimmon stockholders

Net income available for common stockholders

Weighted average Common Shares outstanding —dilute

Net income available for common stockholders:

Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholders

Income from discontinued operations available fimmon stockholders

Net income available for common stockholders

Year Ended December 31,

2013

2012

2011

556,81( $ 485,04( $ 431,95¢
203,34 176,74 157,30
176,95 146,35 127,49
37,19: 37,37: 35,72,
417,49 360,47t 320,53:
88,83t 92,83t 91,45¢
3,802 3,68t 3,312
63 (409) 74C
92,70% 96,11¢ 95,51(
6,597 7,35¢ 7,381
(199 (979 (24)
6,39¢ 6,38( 7,36¢
53,01 34,83: 23,27
©) — 764

— 444 (316)

= = 2,28z
7,451 — —
2,26¢ 5,03t 4,87¢
62,72: 40,31: 30,88t
6,77¢€ 14,46 16,94.
(2,199 — (2,429
63,79. 29,45 2,57¢
68,37 43,92. 17,08t
131,09 84,23t 47,97:
(4,69)) (3,859 (2,099
(949 (786) (755)
(2,509) (2,509) (4,559
— — (1,89
122,94¢ $ 77,080 $ 38,67
067 $ 0471 $ 0.31
0.717 0.5t 0.2¢
144 $ 1.0z $ 0.5¢
85,33t 75,81 72,28
067 $ 0471 $ 0.31
0.71 0.5¢ 0.2¢
144 $ 1.0z $ 0.5¢
88,83¢ 79,67¢ 76,18¢
57,08: $ 3525, $ 22,44:
65,86¢ 41,83t 16,23
122,94¢ $ 77,080 $ 38,67




See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@#dsients.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Comprehensive income:
Net income $ 131,09 $ 84,23t $ 47,97:
Other comprehensive income/(loss):
Unrealized gains on tax increment financing bond 86¢ 411 234
Unrealized gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges 5,77¢ (20,359 (2,209
Amortization of cash flow hedges 3,37( 3,05¢ (11¢)
Total other comprehensive income/(loss) 10,017 (6,899 (2,086
Total comprehensive income 141,11 77,34: 45,88t
Less-comprehensive (income) attributable to norrotiimtg interests (5,640 (4,640 (2,846
Comprehensive income attributable to common stddens $ 13547:  $ 72,707 $ 43,03¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated financssients.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Equity
(in thousands, except share amounts)

Distributions in
Excess of Net

Balance at December 31, 2010

Issuances of Common Stock, net of tax
withholdings

Conversions of Common Units to
Common Stock
Dividends on Common Stock

Dividends on Preferred Stock

Adjustment of noncontrolling interests in
the Operating Partnership to fair
value

Distributions to noncontrolling interests i
consolidated affiliates
Issuances of restricted stock

Redemptions/repurchases of Preferred
Stock

Share-based compensation expense, net of

forfeitures

Net (income) attributable to noncontrollil
interests in the Operating
Partnership

Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling

interests in consolidated affiliates
Comprehensive income:

Net income

Other comprehensive loss

Total comprehensive income

Balance at December 31, 2011

Issuances of Common Stock, net of tax
withholdings

Conversions of Common Units to
Common Stock
Dividends on Common Stock

Dividends on Preferred Stock

Adjustment of noncontrolling interests in
the Operating Partnership to fair
value

Distributions to noncontrolling interests i
consolidated affiliates
Issuances of restricted stock

Share-based compensation expense, n¢
forfeitures

Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling

interests in the Operating
Partnership

Net (income) attributable to noncontrollil
interests in consolidated affiliates

Comprehensive income:
Net income
Other comprehensive loss

Total comprehensive income

Balance at December 31, 2012

Series A Series B Non-controlling Income
Cumulative Cumulative Accumulated Interests in Available for
Number of Common Redeemable Redeemable Additional Paid- Other Compre- Consolidated Common
Common Shares Stock Preferred Shares  Preferred Shares In Capital hensive Loss Affiliates Stockholders Total

71,690,48 $ 717 $ 29,09: $ 52,50( $ 1,766,88 $ (3649 $ 4,46( $ (761,78) $ 1,088,22.
758,38¢ 8 —_ 23,26: —_ —_ —_ 23,27(
64,46¢ — — 1,90¢ — — — 1,90¢
_ _ — — — — (122,74Y) (122,74Y)
— — — — — — (4,557) (4,557)
— — — 3,95¢ — — — 3,95¢
— — — — — (56¢9) — (56¢9)
134,35: —_ —_ —_ —_ —_ —_ —_
— — (15) (52,500 1,89¢ — — (1,895 (52,515
— 1 — 6,097 — — — 6,094
— — — — — — (2,099 (2,097
_ _ _ — — 75& (75%) —
—_ —_ —_ —_ —_ —_ 47,97 47,97
— — — = (2,086) — — (2,08¢)
45,88t
72,647,69 72¢€ 29,07° 1,803,99 (5,739 4,64¢ (845,85) 986,85¢
7,441,48 74 —_ 243,09: —_ —_ —_ 243,16¢
63,36¢ — — 2,09¢ — — — 2,09¢
— — — — — — (128,65) (128,65)
— — — — — — (2,50¢) (2,50¢)
_ _ —_ (16,49)) — — — (16,49))
— — — — — (679 — (679
158,88! —_ —_ —_ —_ —_ —_ —_
— 3 — 7,61( — — — 7,613
_ _ _ — — — (3.859 (3.859
— — — — — 78€ (78€) —
— — — — — — 84,23t 84,23t
— — — — (6,899 — — (6,899
77,34:
80,311,43 $ 802 $ 29,077 $ $ 2,040,300 $ (12,62 $ 4,752 $ (897,41) $ 1,164,89:
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Equity - Continued

(in thousands, except share amounts)

Distributions in
Excess of Net

Series A Series B Non-controlling Income
Cumulative Cumulative Accumulated Interests in Available for
Number of Common Redeemable Redeemable Additional Paid- Other Compre- Consolidated Common
Common Shares Stock Preferred Shares  Preferred Shares In Capital hensive Loss Affiliates Stockholders Total

Balance at December 31, 2012 80,311,43 $ 80 $ 29,077 $ — $ 204030 $ (12,628 $ 475 $ (897,41) $ 1,164,89:
Issuances of Common Stock, net of tax

withholdings 8,670,51 87 — — 305,75¢ — — — 305,84t
Conversions of Common Units to

Common Stock 789,14« — — — 28,78¢ — — — 28,78¢
Dividends on Common Stock — — — — — — — (145,969 (145,969
Dividends on Preferred Stock — — — — — — — (2,50¢) (2,50¢)
Adjustment of noncontrolling interests in

the Operating Partnership to fair

value — — — — (11,379 — — — (11,379
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in

consolidated affiliates — — — — — — (54€) — (54€)
Contributions fom noncontrolling interes

in consolidated affiliates — — — — — — 16,24( — 16,24(
Issuances of restricted stock 151,63( — — — — — — — —
Share-based compensation expense, n¢

forfeitures (1,819 9 — — 6,89( — — — 6,89¢
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling

interests in the Operating

Partnership — — — — — — — (4,69)) (4,69))
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolli

interests in consolidated affiliates — — — — — — 94¢ (949) —
Comprehensive income:

Net income — — — — — — — 131,09 131,09

Other comprehensive income — — — — — 10,017 — — 10,017
Total comprehensive income 141,11
Balance at December 31, 2013 89,920,91 $ 89¢ 29,077 $ — $ 237036 $ (261) $ 21,3%¢ $ (92043) $ 1,498,691

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanassients.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Operating activities:

Net income $ 131,09 $ 84,23t % 47,97

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigea by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 182,71( 158,32 143,14¢
Amortization of lease incentives and acquisitiolated intangible assets and liabilities 34t 35E 1,44¢
Share-based compensation expense 6,89¢ 7,61° 6,09
Allowance for losses on accounts and accrued &tréiite rents receivable 1,51¢ 1,05¢ 2,521
Accrued interest on mortgages and notes receivable (485) — —
Amortization of deferred financing costs 3,80z 3,68t 3,312
Amortization of cash flow hedges 3,37(C 3,05: (11¢)
Amortization of mortgages and notes payable fdneadjustments (1,825 — —
Impairments of real estate assets 2,19¢ — 2,42¢
Losses on debt extinguishment 19¢ 972 24
Net gains on disposition of property (63,789 (29,454 (3,337)
(Gains)/losses on for-sale residential condominiums — (4449 31€
Gains on disposition of investments in unconsodidatffiliates — — (2,2872)
Gain on acquisition of controlling interest in unsolidated affiliate (7,45)) — —
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates (2,269 (5,03%) (4,87%)
Changes in financing obligations (759) (1,287 (47€)
Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated &ffits 3,98¢ 4,61¢ 5,02¢

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (920 3,13 (8,49¢)
Prepaid expenses and other assets 684 (1,129 (400)
Accrued straight-line rents receivable (18,259 (17,919 (13,609
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheiitiigdil 15,37¢ (18,370 16,70:
Net cash provided by operating activities 256,43 193,41¢ 195,39¢
Investing activities:

Investments in acquired real estate and relatedgible assets, net of cash acquired (418,79¢) (269,84)) (75,510
Investment in acquired controlling interest in unsolidated affiliate (32,819 — —
Investments in development in process (34,47 (13,28%) (5,83%)
Investments in tenant improvements and deferresirigaosts (103,249 (79,639 (80,939
Investments in building improvements (53,189 (35,799 (22,28))
Net proceeds from disposition of real estate assets 254,02: 152,45¢ 17,71°
Net proceeds from disposition of for-sale residdrtondominiums — 5,19¢ 3,02(
Proceeds from disposition of investments in unchdated affiliates — — 4,75¢
Distributions of capital from unconsolidated affiies 27,48¢ 1,311 1,57
Investments in mortgages and notes receivable (902) (8,64 —
Repayments of mortgages and notes receivable 40k 1,77¢ 444
Investments in and advances/repayments to/fromnsatiolated affiliates (429 8,291 (39,90))
Changes in restricted cash and other investingiaes 5,33t (620 (18,52¢)
Net cash (used in) investing activities $ (356,60) $ (238,81) $ (215,479
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows — Continued

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

Financing activities:

Dividends on Common Stock $

Redemptions/repurchases of Preferred Stock

Dividends on Preferred Stock

Distributions to noncontrolling interests in the&ating Partnership
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in coridated affiliates
Proceeds from the issuance of Common Stock

Costs paid for the issuance of Common Stock

Repurchase of shares related to tax withholdings

Borrowings on revolving credit facility

Repayments of revolving credit facility

Borrowings on mortgages and notes payable

Repayments of mortgages and notes payable

Borrowings on financing obligations

Payments on financing obligations

Payments on debt extinguishment

Contributions from noncontrolling interests in colidated affiliates
Additions to deferred financing costs and otheafficing activities

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equisalent
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the gberio

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period $

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capitalized $

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing anihfincing activities:

Unrealized gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges $

Conversions of Common Units to Common Stock

Changes in accrued capital expenditures

Write-off of fully depreciated real estate assets

Write-off of fully amortized deferred financing afehsing costs

Unrealized gains/(losses) on marketable secunfie®n-qualified deferred compensation plan
Adjustment of noncontrolling interests in the Opieig Partnership to fair value

Unrealized gains on tax increment financing bond

Assumption of mortgages and notes payable relatadduisition activities

Reduction of advances to unconsolidated affiliagésted to acquisition activities

Issuances of Common Units to acquire real esta&tas

Reclass of aggregate differences between histarisslbasis and the basis reflected at the joint
venture level for assets acquired

Option deposit applied upon acquisition of reahtsassets

2013 2012 2011
(145,969 $ (128,65) $ (122,74Y
— — (52,51%
(2,509 (2,509 (4,557
(5,667 (6,339 (6,419
(54¢) (679) (569)
316,08: 249,48¢ 23,27(
(7,679 (3,600 —
(2,557 (2,72)) —
837,00( 524,10( 525,80(
(644,30() (863,10() (193,80()
— 507,35( 200,00(
(259,20 (219,53() (344,209
— 1,83¢ —
(1,94 (1,316 (1,199
— (90¢) —
16,24( — —
(2,39)) (5,439 (6,019
96,56 47,99 17,06
(3,599 2,59t (3,019
13,78: 11,18¢ 14,20¢
10,18 $ 13,78  $ 11,18¢

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

85,91¢ $ 93,547 $ 90,83¢
Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
577¢ $ (10,35¢) $ (2,202
28,78¢ 2,09¢ 1,90¢
18,38¢ 8,11¢ 11,04¢
31,00¢ 48,97¢ 48,56¢
27,34; 19,17¢ 19,98’
80¢ 47¢ (119
11,37¢ 16,49: (3,95%)
86¢ 411 234
165,51! 7,831 192,36°
— 26,00( —
— 2,29¢ —
8,20¢ — —
5,00( — —



See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@#dsients.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors of the General Partner of
Highwoods Realty Limited Partnership
Raleigh, North Carolina

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Highwoods Realty Limited Partnersinigp subsidiaries (the "Operat
Partnership") as of December 31, 2013 and 2012ttencklated consolidated statements of income peenensive income, capital, and cash fl
for each of the three years in the period endecedéer 31, 2013. Our audits also included the firstatement schedules listed in the Inde
Item 15. These financial statements and finandi&lement schedules are the responsibility of ther@mg Partnership's management.
responsibility is to express an opinion on theriitial statements and financial statement schethalesd on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversightifBo(United States). Thc
standards require that we plan and perform thet aaddbtain reasonable assurance about whethefintuecial statements are free of mate
misstatement. The Operating Partnership is notiredjio have, nor were we engaged to perform, alit ad its internal control over financ
reporting. Our audits included consideration oéinal control over financial reporting as a basisdfesigning audit procedures that are approj
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose @ressing an opinion on the effectiveness of ther@je Partnership's internal control ¢
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express notswpinion. An audit also includes examining, orest basis, evidence supporting the amc
and disclosures in the financial statements, aggp#ise accounting principles used and significastimates made by management, as wi
evaluating the overall financial statement pred@rmiaWe believe that our audits provide a reastmbasis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetaepresent fairly, in all material respects, timaficial position of Highwoods Rea
Limited Partnership and subsidiaries as of DecerBheP013 and 2012, and the results of their opersiand their cash flows for each of the t
years in the period ended December 31, 2013, ifoomity with accounting principles generally acasgin the United States of America. Alsc
our opinion, such financial statement schedulegnadonsidered in relation to the basic consolidfitethcial statements taken as a whole, prt
fairly, in all material respects, the informaticet $orth therein.

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLP
Raleigh, North Carolina

February 10, 2014
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except unit and per unit data)

Assets:
Real estate assets, at cost:
Land
Buildings and tenant improvements
Development in process
Land held for development

Less-accumulated depreciation
Net real estate assets

Real estate and other assets, net, held for sale
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $1,648 $2@48, respectively
Mortgages and notes receivable, net of allowan&862 and $182, respectively
Accrued straight-line rents receivable, net ofwalace of $1,063 and $813, respectively
Investments in and advances to unconsolidatedsaés
Deferred financing and leasing costs, net of acdated amortization of $92,220 and $75,008, respelgti

Prepaid expenses and other assets, net of accechalaiortization of $12,905 and $12,318,
respectively

Total Assets
Liabilities, Redeemable Operating Partnership Unitsand Equity:
Mortgages and notes payable
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheiitiedil
Financing obligations
Total Liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Redeemable Operating Partnership Units:

Common Units, 2,943,872 and 3,733,016 outstandespectively

Series A Preferred Units (liquidation preferenced® per unit), 29,077 units issued and
outstanding

Total Redeemable Operating Partnership Units
Equity:
Common Units:
General partner Common Units, 924,560 and 836, 85%tanding, respectively
Limited partner Common Units, 88,587,546 and 79,268 outstanding, respectively
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Noncontrolling interests in consolidated affiliates
Total Equity
Total Liabilities, Redeemable Operating Partneréimits and Equity
See accompanying notes to consolidated financassients.
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December 31,

2013 2012
$ 393,60. $ 332,33
3,748,86' 3,099,94:
44,62 21,19¢
110,37 115,41
4,297,46/ 3,568,89.
(985,242 (876,440)
3,312,22 2,692,44:
— 191,32°
10,28: 13,86°
14,16¢ 19,70:
26,43( 23,07:
26,40¢ 25,47:
126,01 109,40:
29,90: 65,81
222,21 163,96
39,56: 44,45¢
$ 3,807,19 $  3,349,52
$ 1,95629 $ 1,859,16
218,88° 172,02
26,66¢ 29,35¢
2,201,85! 2,060,54:
106,48( 124,86
29,07 29,07
135,55° 153,94(
14,50¢ 11,42
1,436,49: 1,131,48
(2,611 (12,629
21,39¢ 4,75:
1,469,79. 1,135,03
$ 3,807,190 $  3,349,52




Table of Contents

Rental and other revenues
Operating expenses:
Rental property and other expenses
Depreciation and amortization
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Interest expense:
Contractual
Amortization of deferred financing costs

Financing obligations

Other income:
Interest and other income

Losses on debt extinguishment

Consolidated Statements of Income
(in thousands, except per unit amounts)

Income from continuing operations before dispositia of investment properties and activity in unconsatlated

affiliates

Gains/(losses) on disposition of property

Gains/(losses) on for-sale residential condominiums

Gains on disposition of investments in unconsodidaffiliates

Gain on acquisition of controlling interest in unsolidated affiliate

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates

Income from continuing operations

Discontinued operations:

Income from discontinued operations

Impairments of real estate assets

Net gains on disposition of discontinued operations

Net income

Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling inteseim consolidated affiliates

Distributions on Preferred Units

Excess of Preferred Unit redemption/repurchaseaastcarrying value

Net income available for common unitholders

Earnings per Common Unit — basic:

Income from continuing operations available for coom unitholders

Income from discontinued operations available fimmon unitholders

Net income available for common unitholders

Weighted average Common Units outstanding — basic

Earnings per Common Unit — diluted:

Income from continuing operations available for coom unitholders

Income from discontinued operations available fimmon unitholders

Net income available for common unitholders
Weighted average Common Units outstanding — diluted

Net income available for common unitholders:

Income from continuing operations available for coom unitholders

Income from discontinued operations available fimmon unitholders

Net income available for common unitholders
See accompanying notes to consolidated financssients.

HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

Year Ended December 31,

2013

2012

2011

$ 556,81( $ 485,04t $ 431,95t
203,30: 176,49 157,28

176,95° 146,35’ 127,49

37,23 37,62¢ 35,75

417,49 360,47 320,53:

88,83¢ 92,83¢ 91,45¢

3,80: 3,68t 3,31:

63 (409 74C

92,70: 96,11+ 95,51(

6,591 7,35¢ 7,381

(199 (979 (24)

6,39¢ 6,38( 7,36¢

53,01: 34,83 23,271

©) — 764

— 444 (31€)

— — 2,28:

7,451 — —

2,218 5,09t 4,93¢

62,67: 40,37: 30,94¢

6,77¢ 14,46° 16,94:

(2,199 — (2,429

63,79: 29,45t 2,57¢

68,37+ 43,92: 17,08¢

131,04 84,29t 48,03:

(949 (786) (755)

(2,50€) (2,50€) (4,559

— — (1,895

$ 127,58¢ $ 81,00 $ 40,82¢
$ 067 $ 041 $ 0.31
0.77 0.5¢ 0.2¢

$ 144 $ 1.0z $ 0.5¢
88,311 79,14 75,64¢

$ 0671 $ 041 $ 0.31
0.71 0.5¢ 0.2¢

$ 144 $ 1.0z $ 0.5¢
88,42 79,26¢ 75,78(

$ 59,21t $ 37,07¢  $ 23,74
68,37+ 43,92: 17,08¢

$ 127,58¢ $ 81,00 $ 40,82¢
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Comprehensive income:
Net income $ 131,04t $ 84,29t $ 48,03:
Other comprehensive income/(loss):
Unrealized gains on tax increment financing bond 86¢ 411 234
Unrealized gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges 5,77¢ (20,359 (2,209
Amortization of cash flow hedges 3,37( 3,05¢ (11¢)
Total other comprehensive income/(loss) 10,017 (6,899 (2,086
Total comprehensive income 141,06: 77,40: 45,94¢
Less-comprehensive (income) attributable to norrotiimtg interests (949) (78€) (755)
Comprehensive income attributable to common urdés $ 140,11:  $ 76,618 $ 45,19
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
Consolidated Statements of Capital
(in thousands, except unit amounts)

Common Units

Noncontrolling

General Limited Accumulated Interests in
Partners’ Partners’ Other Consolidated Total Partners’
Capital Capital Comprehensive Loss Affiliates Capital

Balance at December 31, 2010 $ 10,04 $ 994,61( $ (3,649 $ 4,46( $ 1,005,46!
Issuances of Common Units, net of tax withholdings 23z 23,03: — — 23,27(
Distributions paid on Common Units (1,285 (127,179 — — (128,467
Distributions paid on Preferred Units (46) (4,507 — — (4,557)
Share-based compensation expense, net of forfeiture 61 6,032 — — 6,094
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in conidated affiliates — — — (569) (569)
Adjustment of Redeemable Common Units to fair valne

contributions/distributions from/to the General thar 96 9,387 — — 9,48¢
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling intese consolidated

affiliates 8 (747) — 75¢ —
Comprehensive income:

Net income 48( 47,55: — — 48,03:

Other comprehensive loss — — (2,08¢) — (2,086
Total comprehensive income 45,94¢
Balance at December 31, 2011 9,57¢ 948,18 (5,739 4,64¢ 956,67:
Issuances of Common Units, net of tax withholdings 2,45¢ 243,01. — — 245,46°
Distributions paid on Common Units (1,349 (132,949 — — (134,29)
Distributions paid on Preferred Units (25) (2,487) — — (2,50¢)
Share-based compensation expense, net of forfeiture 76 7,531 — — 7,61
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in coridated affiliates — — — (679) (679)
Adjustment of Redeemable Common Units to fair valoe

contributions/distributions from/to the General tRar (14€) (14,499 — — (14,649
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling inteee® consolidated

affiliates 8 (77¢) — 78€ —
Comprehensive income:

Net income 84: 83,45 — — 84,29t

Other comprehensive loss — — (6,899 — (6,899
Total comprehensive income 77,40:
Balance at December 31, 2012 11,427 1,131,48 (12,62%) 4,75¢ 1,135,03:
Issuances of Common Units, net of tax withholdings 3,05¢ 302,78t — — 305,84t
Distributions paid on Common Units (1,509 (149,42) — — (150,93)
Distributions paid on Preferred Units (25) (2,487) — — (2,50¢)
Share-based compensation expense, net of forfeiture 69 6,83( — — 6,89¢
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in conidated affiliates — — — (54€) (54€)
Contributions from noncontrolling interests in colidated affiliates — — — 16,24( 16,24(
Adjustment of Redeemable Common Units to fair valne

contributions/distributions from/to the General thar 187 18,51 — — 18,70(
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling intetse consolidated

affiliates (©)] (940 — 94¢ —
Comprehensive income:

Net income 1,31C 129,73t — — 131,04¢

Other comprehensive income — — 10,01° — 10,01%
Total comprehensive income 141,06:
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 1450¢ $ 1,436,490 $ 2,61) $ 21,39%¢ $ 1,469,79

See accompanying notes to consolidated financssients.
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Operating activities:

Net income $ 131,04t  $ 84,29f $ 48,03:

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigeal by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 182,71( 158,32° 143,14t
Amortization of lease incentives and acquisitiolated intangible assets and liabilities 34t 35E 1,44¢
Share-based compensation expense 6,89¢ 7,61% 6,094
Allowance for losses on accounts and accrued biriige rents receivable 1,51¢€ 1,05¢ 2,521
Accrued interest on mortgages and notes receivable (485) — —
Amortization of deferred financing costs 3,80z 3,68t 3,312
Amortization of cash flow hedges 3,37( 3,05: (11¢)
Amortization of mortgages and notes payable fdneadjustments (1,825 — —
Impairments of real estate assets 2,19¢ — 2,42¢
Losses on debt extinguishment 19¢ 978 24
Net gains on disposition of property (63,789 (29,455 (3,337)
(Gains)/losses on for-sale residential condominiums — (444) 31€
Gains on disposition of investments in unconsoéidaffiliates — — (2,287)
Gain on acquisition of controlling interest in unsolidated affiliate (7,45)) — —
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates (2,219 (5,09%) (4,939
Changes in financing obligations (759) (1,287 (47€)
Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated &ifiés 3,96t 4,59 5,00¢

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (920) 3,13 (8,49¢)
Prepaid expenses and other assets 684 (1,129 (400)
Accrued straight-line rents receivable (18,259 (17,919 (13,609
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheiitiigdil 15,42: (18,490 16,70:
Net cash provided by operating activities 256,46: 193,27( 195,37:
Investing activities:

Investments in acquired real estate and relatedgible assets, net of cash acquired (418,79 (269,84) (75,510
Investment in acquired controlling interest in unsolidated affiliate (32,819 — —
Investments in development in process (34,479 (13,289 (5,835
Investments in tenant improvements and deferresiigacosts (103,24)) (79,639 (80,939
Investments in building improvements (53,189 (35,799 (22,28))
Net proceeds from disposition of real estate assets 254,02: 152,45¢ 17,71°
Net proceeds from disposition of for-sale residdrdondominiums — 5,19¢ 3,02(
Proceeds from disposition of investments in unchdated affiliates — — 4,75¢
Distributions of capital from unconsolidated affiies 27,48¢ 1,311 1,57
Investments in mortgages and notes receivable (902) (8,64¢) —
Repayments of mortgages and notes receivable 40t 1,77¢ 444
Investments in and advances/repayments to/fromnsatiolated affiliates (429 8,291 (39,90))
Changes in restricted cash and other investingiaes 5,33¢ (620 (18,52¢)
Net cash (used in) investing activities $ (356,60) $ (238,81) $ (215,479
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows - Continued
(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Financing activities:
Distributions on Common Units $ (150,93 $ (134,29) $ (128,46
Redemptions/repurchases of Preferred Units — — (52,515
Distributions on Preferred Units (2,50¢) (2,50¢) (4,557
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in coridated affiliates (54¢€) (679 (569
Proceeds from the issuance of Common Units 316,08: 249,48t¢ 23,27(
Costs paid for the issuance of Common Units (7,679 (3,600 —
Repurchase of units related to tax withholdings (2,557 (2,727 —
Borrowings on revolving credit facility 837,00( 524,10( 525,80(
Repayments of revolving credit facility (644,30() (863,10() (193,80()
Borrowings on mortgages and notes payable — 507,35( 200,00(
Repayments of mortgages and notes payable (259,20 (219,53() (344,209
Borrowings on financing obligations — 1,83¢ —
Payments on financing obligations (1,94 (1,316 (1,199
Payments on debt extinguishment — (90¢) —
Contributions from noncontrolling interests in colidated affiliates 16,24( — —
Additions to deferred financing costs and otheaficing activities (3,099 (5,867 (6,719
Net cash provided by financing activities 96,55¢ 48,25¢ 17,06(
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equisalent (3,586 2,71¢ (3,049
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the gberio 13,867 11,15 14,19¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period $ 10,28 $ 13,86 $ 11,15

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capitalized $ 85,91¢( § 9354 $ 90,83¢

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing anéthfincing activities:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Unrealized gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges $ 577¢ % (10,359 $ (2,202
Changes in accrued capital expenditures 18,38 8,11¢ 11,04¢
Write-off of fully depreciated real estate assets 31,00¢ 48,97¢ 48,56
Write-off of fully amortized deferred financing alehsing costs 27,347 19,17¢ 19,98’
Unrealized gains/(losses) on marketable secunfie®n-qualified deferred compensation plan 805 47E (119
Adjustment of Redeemable Common Units to fair value (18,389 11,91t (10,189
Unrealized gains on tax increment financing bond 86¢ 411 234
Assumption of mortgages and notes payable relatadduisition activities 165,51t 7,831 192,36°
Reduction of advances to unconsolidated affiliatésted to acquisition activities — 26,00( —
Issuances of Common Units to acquire real esta&tas — 2,29¢ —
Reclass of aggregate differences between histaristlbasis and the basis reflected at the joinituve

level for assets acquired 8,20¢ — —
Option deposit applied upon acquisition of reahtsassets 5,00( — —

See accompanying notes to consolidated financssients.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2013
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per sére and per unit data)

1. Description of Business and Significant Accaiting Policies
Description of Business

Highwoods Properties, Inc. (the “Company”) is ayfihtegrated real estate investment trust (“REITfat provides leasing, managem
development, construction and other custoretated services for its properties and for thiadtips. The Company conducts its activities thre
Highwoods Realty Limited Partnership (the “OpergtiPartnership”). At December 31, 2013 , we ownellaat an interest in 32.2 milliaentable
square feet of in-service office, industrial andaileproperties, 0.9 milliorrentable square feet of office properties underetigmment an
approximately 600 acres of development land.

The Company is the sole general partner of the &iper Partnership. At December 31, 2018e Company owned all of the Preferred L
and 89.5 million , or 96.8% , of the Common Unitghe Operating Partnership. Limited partners dwenremaining 2.9 millio©ommon Units. |
the event the Company issues shares of Common ,Stexket proceeds of the issuance are contritotéte Operating Partnership in exche
for additional Common Units. Generally, the OpergtPartnership is obligated to redeem each Communat the request of the holder thel
for cash equal to the value of one share of Com8took based on the average of the market pricthéofOtrading days immediately preced
the notice date of such redemption, provided that Company, at its option, may elect to acquire smgh Common Units presented
redemption for cash or one share of Common Stolkk.Gommon Units owned by the Company are not redblemDuring 2013 the Compan
redeemed 789,148ommon Units for a like number of shares of ComrBtwck. As a result of this activity, in conjunctiaith the proceeds fro
issuances of Common Stock (see Note 12), the pagenf Common Units owned by the Company increfsed 95.6% aDecember 31, 20:
to 96.8% at December 31, 2013 .

Basis of Presentation

Our Consolidated Financial Statements are preperezbnformity with accounting principles generatigcepted in the United States
America (“GAAP”). Our Consolidated Balance Sheetacember 31, 201%ere retrospectively revised from previously repdramounts |
reflect in real estate and other assets, net, foeldale those properties classified as held f& daring 2013 Our Consolidated Statements
Income for the years ended December 31, 2012 ahtl\#6re retrospectively revised from previously repdramounts to reflect in discontint
operations the operations for those propertiesified as discontinued operations.

The Company's Consolidated Financial Statementadacthe Operating Partnership, wholly owned subsis and those entities in wh
the Company has the controlling interest. The QpegePartnership's Consolidated Financial Statememtiude wholly owned subsidiaries
those entities in which the Operating Partnerskap the controlling interest. We consolidate pashigs, joint ventures and limited liabil
companies when we control the major operating arah€ial policies of the entity through majority e@rship or in our capacity as general pa
or managing member. Five of the 50.0% or less owineskrvice office properties in two joint ventures aa@nsolidated. In addition, \
consolidate those entities deemed to be variabdgast entities in which we are determined to leeptimary beneficiary. ADecember 31, 20:
and 2012 we had involvement with, but are not the primlagypeficiary in, an entity that we concluded to beagable interest entity (see Note
All intercompany transactions and accounts have leéminated.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statemémtaccordance with GAAP requires us to make edémand assumptions that affect

amounts reported in the Consolidated Financiak8tahts and accompanying notes. Actual results abffet from those estimates.
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per sire and per unit data)

1. Description of Business and Significant Accaiting Policies — Continued
Real Estate and Related Assets

Real estate and related assets are recorded abmsttated at cost less accumulated deprecid@ienovations, replacements and ¢
expenditures that improve or extend the life oketssire capitalized and depreciated over theimastid useful lives. Expenditures for ordir
maintenance and repairs are charged to expensewsed. Depreciation is computed using the sttdigh method over the estimated useful
of 40 years for buildings and depreciable landasifructure costs, 15 years for building improvemmamd five to seven years for furniture, fixtt
and equipment. Tenant improvements are amortiziegy tise straightine method over initial fixed terms of the respeetieases, which genere
are from three to 10 years. Depreciation expenseefl estate assets was $ 138.2 million , $ 148llibn and $ 106.8 milliorfor the years end:
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 , respectively.

Expenditures directly related to the development eonstruction of real estate assets are includetki real estate assets and are sta
depreciated cost. Development expenditures inclpoeconstruction costs essential to the developmentproperties, development &
construction costs, interest costs on qualifyingets real estate taxes, development personneiesaéand related costs and other costs inc
during the period of development. Interest and rotlaerying costs are capitalized until the buildisgeady for its intended use, but not later th
year from cessation of major construction activitye consider a construction project as substapt@mpleted and ready for its intended
upon the completion of tenant improvements. Weeeapitalization on the portion that is substalytiebmpleted and occupied or held availi
for occupancy, and capitalize only those costscateal with the portion under construction.

Expenditures directly related to the leasing ofperties are included in deferred financing andifepsosts and are stated at amortized
Such expenditures are part of the investment naoe$s execute leases and, therefore, are classiieinvestment activities in the statemel
cash flows. All leasing commissions paid to thiafties for new leases or lease renewals are dapitialinternal leasing costs include prime
compensation, benefits and other costs, such as flegs related to leasing activities, that areuired in connection with successfully obtair
leases of properties. Capitalized leasing costsaarertized on a straiglitie basis over the initial fixed terms of the restive leases, whi
generally are from three to 10 years. Estimatetsaetated to unsuccessful activities are expeaséadcurred.

We record liabilities for the performance of assirement activities when the obligation to penfosuch activities is probable even w
uncertainty exists about the timing and/or methiskttlement.

Upon the acquisition of real estate assets, wesadhe fair value of acquired tangible assets ssdand, buildings and tenant improveme
intangible assets and liabilities such as above widw market leases, acquiredplace leases, customer relationships and othetifickte
intangible assets and assumed liabilities. We adsdisvalue based on estimated cash flow projestihat utilize discount and/or capitaliza
rates as well as available market information. fetievalue of the tangible assets of an acquireperty considers the value of the property as
were vacant.

The above and below market rate portions of leasgsired in connection with property acquisitions gecorded in deferred financing
leasing costs and in accounts payable, accruechsgpeand other liabilities, respectively, at faitue and amortized into rental revenue ove
remaining term of the respective leases as deschbw. Fair value is calculated as the preselnevaf the difference between (1) the contrac
amounts to be paid pursuant to each in-place laadg2) our estimate of fair market lease ratesefmh corresponding pplace lease, using
discount rate that reflects the risks associatéh thie leases acquired and measured over a pejiad ® the remaining initial term of the lease
abovemarket leases and the remaining initial term phesterm of any renewal option that the customerldvdde economically compelled
exercise for below-market leases.

In-place leases acquired are recorded at fair valdeferred financing and leasing costs and are @edrto depreciation and amortizal
expense over the remaining term of the respectiase. The value of iplace leases is based on our evaluation of thdfgpebaracteristics «
each customer's lease. Factors considered inclsiiimages of carrying costs during hypothetical expe leasewp periods, current mark
conditions, the customer's credit quality and ctssxecute similar leases. In estimating carrgiosts, we include real estate taxes, insuranc
other operating expenses and estimates of lostlseait market rates during the expected legsperiods, depending on local market condition
estimating costs to execute similar leases, weidentenant improvements, leasing commissions egal land other related expenses.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per sire and per unit data)

1. Description of Business and Significant Accaiting Policies — Continued

Real estate and other assets are classified asilenigassets held for use or as Idivgd assets held for sale. Real estate is classis hel
for sale when the sale of the asset has been gplpeed by the Company, a legally enforceable eattnas been executed and the buyer"
diligence period has expired.

Impairments of Real Estate Assets and Investmenta Unconsolidated Affiliates

With respect to assets classified as held for wseperform an impairment analysis if events or gesnin circumstances indicate that
carrying value may be impaired, such as a sigmifickecline in occupancy, identification of matdysighdverse legal or environmental fact
change in our designation of an asset from comotecore, which may impact the anticipated holding @erior a decline in market value to
amount less than cost. This analysis is generalfopmed at the property level, except when antasgert of an interdependent group such
office park, and consists of determining whetherdkset's carrying amount will be recovered franuitdiscounted estimated future operating
residual cash flows. These cash flows are estimbésgd on a number of assumptions that are sufgjemtonomic and market uncertain
including, among others, demand for space, conetibr customers, changes in market rental ratests to operate each property and exp:
ownership periods. For properties under developnteet cash flows are based on expected servicentaitef the asset or asset group w
development is substantially complete.

If the carrying amount of a held for use asset edse¢he sum of its undiscounted future operatirgrasidual cash flows, an impairment
is recorded for the difference between estimated/édue of the asset and the carrying amount. \&feegally estimate the fair value of assets
for use by using discounted cash flow analysesomme instances, appraisal information may be alailand is used in addition to a discoul
cash flow analysis. As the factors used in genagatfiese cash flows are difficult to predict and ambject to future events that may alter
assumptions, the discounted and/or undiscounteatefudperating and residual cash flows estimatedidoyn our impairment analyses or th
established by appraisal may not be achieved andayebe required to recognize future impairmengdsson properties held for use.

We record assets held for sale at the lower ofctireying amount or estimated fair value. Fair vadfiessets held for sale is equal to
estimated or contracted sales price with a potehtiger, less costs to sell. The impairment losthés amount by which the carrying amc
exceeds the estimated fair value.

We also analyze our investments in unconsolidaffdcates for impairment. This analysis consistsdettermining whether an expected los
market value of an investment is other than temydog evaluating the length of time and the extenwhich the market value has been less
cost, the financial condition and nearm prospects of the investee, and our intent aility to retain our investment for a period ahé
sufficient to allow for any anticipated recoveryrirarket value. As the factors used in this analgsesdifficult to predict and are subject to fu
events that may alter our assumptions, we maydpéresl to recognize future impairment losses onimgstments in unconsolidated affiliates.

Sales of Real Estate

For sales transactions meeting the requirement&iligorofit recognition, the related assets arabilities are removed from the balance s
and the resultant gain or loss is recorded in #réod the transaction closes. For sales transactiagth continuing involvement after the sale, i
continuing involvement with the property is limiteg the terms of the sales contract, profit is geiped at the time of sale and is reduced b
maximum exposure to loss related to the naturenefdontinuing involvement. Sales to entities in akhive have or receive an interest
accounted for using partial sale accounting.

For transactions that do not meet the criteriaafeale, we evaluate the nature of the continuinghtement, including put and call provisio
if present, and account for the transaction aganfiing arrangement, proftaring arrangement, leasing arrangement or otteznate method «
accounting, rather than as a sale, based on thieenand extent of the continuing involvement. Sdraasactions may have numerous forrr
continuing involvement. In those cases, we detegmihich method is most appropriate based on thet@nte of the transaction.
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1. Description of Business and Significant Accaiting Policies — Continued
Rental and Other Revenues

Minimum contractual rents from leases are recoghize a straightine basis over the terms of the respective leaBeis. means that, wi
respect to a particular lease, actual amountsdbifieaccordance with the lease during any giveiodanay be higher or lower than the amoutr
rental revenue recognized for the period. Straligletrental revenue is commenced when the cust@s&umes control of the leased prem
Accrued straight-line rents receivable represdrmsaimount by which straiglitie rental revenue exceeds rents currently bilkedccordance wi
lease agreements. Contingent rental revenue, sugeraentage rent, is accrued when the contingenoymoved. Termination fee income
recognized at the later of when the customer haated the space or the lease has expired andyeefidcuted lease termination agreemen
been delivered, the amount of the fee is deternignabd collectability of the fee is reasonably asduRental revenue reductions related to co:
tenancy lease provisions, if any, are accrued velvents have occurred that trigger such provisions.

Cost recovery income is determined on a calendar ged a lease-bigase basis. The most common types of cost recamegme in ou
leases are common area maintenance (“CAM”) andaestate taxes, for which the customer pays its@t@share of operating and administre
expenses and real estate taxes in excess of tteigogrred during a contractually specified basaryThe computation of cost recovery incon
complex and involves numerous judgments, includiwginterpretation of terms and other customerelgasvisions. Leases are not uniforn
dealing with such cost recovery income and thezenzany variations in the computation. Many custameake monthly fixed payments of CA
real estate taxes and other cost reimbursement.itévie accrue income related to these payments machth. WWe make quarterly accr
adjustments, positive or negative, to cost recowecpme to adjust the recorded amounts to our éstsinate of the final annual amounts tc
billed and collected. After the end of the calengar, we compute each customer's final cost regameome and, after considering amounts
by the customer during the year, issue a bill editrfor the appropriate amount to the customee differences between the amounts billed
previously received payments and the accrual adpsst are recorded as increases or decreases toecosery income when the final bills
prepared, which occurs during the first half of sabsequent year.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable, accrued straigjhe rents receivable and mortgages and notesveaddei are reduced by an allowance for amount:
may become uncollectible in the future. We regylavaluate the adequacy of our allowance for dalilstEcounts. The evaluation prima
consists of reviewing past due account balancesansidering such factors as the credit qualitgwfcustomer, historical trends of the custc
and changes in customer payment terms. Additionalith respect to customers in bankruptcy, we estinthe probable recovery throi
bankruptcy claims and adjust the allowance for amsdeemed uncollectible. If our assumptions reggrthe collectability of receivables prc
incorrect, we could experience losses in excessuofallowance for doubtful accounts. The allowanod its related receivable are writteffi-
when we have concluded there is a low probabifityadiection and we have discontinued collectiofoe$.

Discontinued Operations

Properties that are sold or classified as held#&e are classified as discontinued operationsigeedvthat (1) the operations and cash flow
the property will be eliminated from our ongoingeogtions and (2) we will not have any significaohtinuing involvement in the operations
the property after it is sold. Interest expensiadtuded in discontinued operations if the reldtsh securing the sold property is to be paid ¢
assumed by the buyer in connection with the shigelare retained to provide property managemeasihg and/or other services for the prog
owner after the sale, the property generally wél dccounted for as a discontinued operation becdugsexpected cash flows related to
management and leasing activities generally willbesignificant in comparison to the cash flowsirthe property prior to sale. If the proper
contributed to a joint venture in which we retamiaterest, the property will not be accounteddsra discontinued operation due to our signif
ongoing interest in the operations through ourtjgenture interest.
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1. Description of Business and Significant Accaiting Policies — Continued

Lease Incentives

Lease incentive costs, which are payments made tm dehalf of a customer as an incentive to signléase, are capitalized in defe
financing and leasing costs and amortized on &ktréine basis over the respective lease ternesrasluction of rental revenues.

For-Sale Residential Condominiums

For-sale residential condominiums include completed, unsold, condominium inventory. We initially redoreceipts of earnest mor
deposits in accounts payable, accrued expensesthedliabilities in accordance with the deposittimogl. We then record completed sales v
units close and the remaining net cash is recekdor-sale residential condominiums were solcbé®ecember 31, 2012.

Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates

We account for our investments in less than mgjaritned joint ventures, partnerships and limitebility companies using the equ
method of accounting when our interests represegyanaral partnership interest but substantive @patiing rights or substantive kick out rig
have been granted to the limited partners or whenirderests do not represent a general partneistépest and we do not control the m
operating and financial policies of the entity. $adnvestments are initially recorded at cost wesitments in unconsolidated affiliates anc
subsequently adjusted for our share of earningscasti contributions and distributions. To the extmmr cost basis at formation of the jc
venture is different than the basis reflected atjtiint venture level, the basis difference is amed over the life of the related assets and ohet
in our share of equity in earnings of unconsolidatfiliates.

Cash Equivalents

We consider highly liquid investments with an onigi maturity of three months or less when purch&gdx cash equivalents.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash represents cash deposits thaggatyl restricted or held by third parties on oghalf, such as constructioatated escrow
property disposition proceeds set aside and desidnar intended to fund future tabeferred exchanges of qualifying real estate imuests
escrows and reserves for debt service, real esteds and property insurance established pursaamrtain mortgage financing arrangements
any deposits made with lenders to unencumber sg:quoperties.

Redeemable Common Units and Preferred Units

Limited partners holding Common Units other thaa ompany (“Redeemable Common Unitegve the right to put any and all of
Common Units to the Operating Partnership and tmagainy has the right to put any and all of thed?refl Units to the Operating Partnershi
exchange for their liquidation preference plus aedrand unpaid distributions in the event of aesponding redemption by the Company o
underlying Preferred Stock. Consequently, theseeBmdble Common Units and Preferred Units are ledsbutside of permanent partners’
capital in the Operating Partnership's accompaniaignce sheets. The recorded value of the Redée@ammon Units is based on fair valu
the balance sheet date as measured by the closegggl Common Stock on that date multiplied by tb&l number of Redeemable Comr
Units outstanding. The recorded value of the Prefetnits is based on their redemption value.

Income Taxes

The Company has elected and expects to contingeaiify as a REIT under Sections 856 through 86thefinternal Revenue Code of 1¢
as amended (the “Code’A. corporate REIT is a legal entity that holds restate assets and, through the payment of dividenstockholders,
generally permitted to reduce or avoid the paynoéféderal and state income taxes at the corpéead. To maintain qualification as a REIT,
Company is required to pay dividends to its stokas equal to at least 90.0% of its annual REXRle income, excluding net capital gains.
partnership agreement requires the Operating Raltipeto pay economically equivalent distributiars outstanding Common Units at the s
time that the Company pays dividends on its outBtgnCommon Stock.
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1. Description of Business and Significant Accaiting Policies — Continued

Other than income taxes related to its taxable Rtlbsidiary, the Operating Partnership does ndeéatefiny federal income taxes in
financial statements, since as a partnership ttebta effects of its operations are attributeddartners. The Operating Partnership does r
state income tax for states that tax partnerstupnre directly.

We conduct certain business activities throughxalike REIT subsidiary, as permitted under the Cdtle.taxable REIT subsidiary is sub
to federal, state and local income taxes on italiBexincome. We record provisions for income téb@&sed on its income recognized for finar
statement purposes, including the effects of teargatifferences between such income and the anreaagnized for tax purposes.

Concentration of Credit Risk

At December 31, 2013, properties that we whollynomere leased to 1,733istomers. The geographic locations that comprieater tha
10.0% of our rental and other revenues are Ral@igh,Atlanta, GA, Tampa, FL, Nashville, TN and 8litirgh, PA. Our customers engage
wide variety of businesses. No single customerhef groperties that we wholly own generated mora th&0%of our consolidated revent
during 2013 .

We maintain our cash and cash equivalents and esiriated cash at financial or other intermediarstitutions. The combined acco
balances at each institution may exceed FDIC imagraoverage and, as a result, there is a contientia credit risk related to amounts
deposit in excess of FDIC insurance coverage. Aaditly, from time to time in connection with taleferred 1031 transactions, our restricted
balances may be commingled with other funds be&ld hy any such intermediary institution which sd$ our balance to the credit risk of
institution.

Derivative Financial Instruments

We borrow funds at a combination of fixed and Malearates. Borrowings under our revolving creddilfty and bank term loans bear intel
at variable rates. Our lortgrm debt typically bears interest at fixed ratear interest rate risk management objectives atentio generally th
impact of interest rate changes on earnings arndft@ass and to lower our overall borrowing costs. 8chieve these objectives, from time to t
we enter into interest rate hedge contracts sudoléars, swaps, caps and treasury lock agreenremisler to mitigate our interest rate risk v
respect to various debt instruments. We generallyat hold or issue these derivative contractdrfmding or speculative purposes. The inte
rate on all of our variable rate debt is generalfijusted at one or three month intervals, subdettiements under these interest rate t
contracts.

Interest rate swaps involve the receipt of variabte amounts from a counterparty in exchange faking fixedrate payments over the life
the agreements without exchange of the underlyitipnal amount. The effective portion of changethmfair value of derivatives designated
that qualify as cash flow hedges is recorded iruamdated other comprehensive loss ("AOCL") andubsgquently reclassified into intel
expense in the period that the hedged forecasteddction affects earnings.

We account for terminated derivative instrumentsrégognizing the related accumulated comprehensiveme/loss balance in curr
earnings, unless the hedged forecasted transactiotinues as originally planned, in which case watioue to amortize the accumule
comprehensive income/loss into earnings over thgnadly designated hedge period.

Earnings Per Share and Per Unit

Basic earnings per share of the Company is computedividing net income available for common stoalklers by the weighted Comnr
Shares outstandingbasic. Diluted earnings per share is computeditigidg net income available to common stockholdgss noncontrollin
interests in the Operating Partnership by the wedjfCommon Shares outstandindasic plus the dilutive effect of options, warsamin
convertible securities outstanding, including Commnits, using the treasury stock method. Weigh@einmon Shares outstandingoasic
includes all unvested restricted stock where divittereceived on such restricted stock are nonifabie.
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1. Description of Business and Significant Accaiting Policies — Continued

Basic earnings per unit of the Operating Partnprghicomputed by dividing net income available dommon unitholders by the weigh
Common Units outstandingoasic. Diluted earnings per unit is computed bydilng net income available to common unitholderghsy weighte
Common Units outstandingbasic plus the dilutive effect of options and watsa using the treasury stock method. Weighted Comivnits
outstanding - basic includes all of the Compangigested restricted stock where dividends receivesuah restricted stock are non-forfeitable.

2. Real Estate Assets

Acquisitions

During 2013, we acquired:

our joint venture partner's 60.0% interest im HIW-KC Orlando, LLC joint venture, which owned five io# properties in Orlando, |
encompassing 1.3 million rentable square feetafoet purchase price of $112.8 million. We previpascounted for our 40.0% inter
in this joint venture using the equity method of@mting. The assets and liabilities of the joiahture are now wholly owned and
recorded in our Consolidated Financial Statementtiding assets recorded at fair value of $188ildlan and secured debt recordet
fair value of $127.9 million, with an effective erest rate of 3.11%. This debt matures in July 28%4a result of acquiring a controlli
interest in this joint venture, our previously helguity interest was remeasured at a fair valug76t2 million resulting in a gain of $:
million, which represents the difference betweeanftir market value of our previously held equityerest and the carrying value of
investment on the date of acquisition. The fair kewalue of our previously held equity interestsvegetermined by management bz
on information available at the acquisition datd an current assumptions as to future operations;

an office property in Nashville, TN encompassin@,820 rentable square feet for a net purchase pfig&50.1 million

our Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, LP joint ventyartner's 57.0% interest in two office properiie#tlanta, GA encompassi
505,000 rentable square feet for a net purchase pfi$44.5 million, including the assumption ofwed debt recorded at fair value
$37.6 million, with an effective interest rate 088%. This debt matures in April 2015;

an office property in Atlanta, GA encompassing 5988, rentable square feet for a purchase price 49 $1million

two office properties in Tampa, FL encompassing,80@ rentable square feet for a purchase pric&2&Esmillion

two office properties in Greensboro, NC encompas$®b,000 rentable square feet for a purchase pfi80.8 million; an

five acres of land in Memphis, TN on which albtb-suit development project is underway for a purchpse of $4.8 millior

We expensed $1.8 millioaf acquisition costs (included in general and adsiviative expenses) in 2013 related to these aitigmis. The
assets acquired and liabilities assumed were redaatifair value as determined by management baséuformation available at the acquisit
date and on current assumptions as to future dpesat
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2. Real Estate Assets - Continued

The following table sets forth a summary of the feilue of the major assets acquired and lialsliissumed relating to the 2013 acquisit
in Orlando, FL and Nashville, TN and the 553,00@table square foot office property in Atlanta, Gidalissed in the preceding paragraphs:

Total
Purchase Price
Allocation
Real estate assets $ 445,39t
Acquisition-related intangible assets (in defefindncing and leasing costs) 50,59¢
Mortgages and notes payable (127,89)
Acquisition-related below market lease liabilit{@s accounts payable, accrued expenses and cdidities) (17,819
Total allocation $ 350,28:

The following table sets forth our rental and ott@renues and net income, adjusted for interestresgpand depreciation and amortize
related to purchase price allocations, acquisitiasts and equity in earnings of unconsolidatediatts previously recognized as income assu
the Orlando, FL, Nashville, TN and Atlanta, GA aisifions discussed in the preceding paragraph bad bompleted as of January 1, 2012:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012
(unaudited)
Pro forma rental and other revenues $ 593,770 $ 541,00:
Pro forma net income $ 121,75 $ 69,11:
Pro forma earnings per share - basic $ 132 % 0.8z
Pro forma earnings per share - diluted $ 13z % 0.8¢

The 2013 acquisitions in Orlando, FL, Nashville, @Nd Atlanta, GA discussed in the preceding papgraesulted in revenues $25.(
million and net losses of $0.2 million recordedtie Consolidated Statements of Income for the grded December 31, 2013 .

During 2012, we acquired:
e a492,000 rentable square foot office propartjtianta, GA for a purchase price of $144.9 millio
e a 616,000 rentable square foot office propertRittsburgh, PA for a purchase price of $91.2ianil}

» three medical office properties in Greensbor@, fér a purchase price of $29.6 million , which ssted of the issuance 66,86
Common Units to noncontrolling interests, contirngeansideration with fair value at the acquisitidate of $0.7 million, and th:
assumption of secured debt due August 2014 recafedr value of $7.9 million , with an effectivweterest rate of 4.06% ;

* a178,300entable square foot office property in Cary, N@nfrour Highwoods DLF 98/29, LLC joint venture for agreed upon value
$26.0 million , the net proceeds of which were usetduce the balance of the advance due to ostfie joint venture; and

» 68 acres of development land currently zoned1f@r million rentable square feet of future office developmenNashville, TN for
purchase price of $15.0 million .

We expensed $1.5 millioaf acquisition costs (included in general and adsiviative expenses) in 2012 related to these aitigmis. The
assets acquired and liabilities assumed were redaatifair value as determined by management baséuformation available at the acquisit
date and on current assumptions as to future dpesat
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2. Real Estate Assets - Continued

The following table sets forth a summary of the failue of the major assets acquired and liabsliiesumed relating to the acquisition of
492,000 rentable square foot office building inafitla, GA discussed in the preceding paragraph:

Total
Purchase Price
Allocation
Real estate assets $ 135,12¢
Acquisition-related intangible assets (in deferfisencing and leasing costs) 21,637
Acquisition-related below market lease liabilit{@s accounts payable, accrued expenses and cdihdities) (11,879
Total allocation $ 144,89

The following table sets forth our rental and otferenues and net income, adjusted for interestresgpand depreciation and amortization
related to purchase price allocations and acqoiisitdbsts, assuming the 492,000 rentable squarefidat building in Atlanta, GA discussed in -
preceding paragraphs had been acquired on Janu20y 1:

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011
(unaudited)
Pro forma rental and other revenues $ 499,55 % 448,42
Pro forma net income $ 84,13 $ 44,817
Pro forma earnings per share - basic $ 10z $ 0.4¢
Pro forma earnings per share - diluted $ 101 $ 0.4¢

During 2011, we acquired a six-building, 1.54 roiflirentable square foot office complex in PittshigA for a purchase price of188.t
million . The purchase price included the assunmptib secured debt recorded at fair value of $ 12dilBon , with an effective interest rate
4.27% , including amortization of deferred finargcitosts. This debt matures in November 2017 . Wermrsed $ 4.0 millioof costs related to tt
acquisition (included in general and administraiéx@enses). Additionally, we acquired a 503,68@table square foot office building in Atlar
GA for a purchase price of $ 78.3 million . The ghase price included the assumption of securedréebtded at fair value of $ 67.9 millign
with an effective interest rate of 5.45% , inclugiemortization of deferred financing costs. Thibtdaatures in January 2014 . We expens@t$
million of costs related to this acquisition.

The following table sets forth a summary of the falue of the major assets acquired and lialslisssumed relating to the acquisit
discussed in the preceding paragraph:

Total
Purchase Price
Allocation
Real estate assets $ 241,60:
Acquisition-related intangible assets (in defeffiedncing and leasing costs) 39,72:
Furniture, fixtures and equipment (in prepaid exygsmand other assets) 1,101
Acquisition-related below market lease liabilit{@s accounts payable, accrued expenses and odihdities) (15,627
Total allocation $ 266,79
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2. Real Estate Assets - Continued

The following table sets forth our rental and ottrenues and net income, adjusted for interestresgpand depreciation and amortize
related to purchase price allocations and acgaisitbsts, assuming the 1.54 million rentable sqf@reoffice complex in Pittsburgh, PA and

503,000 rentable square foot office building inaftia, GA discussed in the preceding paragraph éex &icquired on January 1, 2011:

Year Ended
December 31,
2011
(unaudited)

Pro forma rental and other revenues $ 473,58
Pro forma net income $ 45,674
Pro forma earnings per share - basic $ 0.5C
Pro forma earnings per share - diluted $ 0.5C

During 2011, we also acquired a 48,000 rentablearsqtoot medical office property in Raleigh, NC 8.9 million and expensed (1

million of acquisition costs related to this tractsen.
Dispositions
During 2013, we sold:

» eight office properties in Greenville, SC for aesarice of $57.9 million (before $0.1 million inosing credits to buyer for

unfunc

tenant improvements and after $0.3 million in aigstredits to buyer for free rent) and recordedhim @n disposition of discontinu

operations of $3.1 million;

e an office property in Tampa, FL for a sale price$dfl.5 million (before $0.6 million in closing ciiexito buyer for unfunded ten:

improvements) and recorded a gain on dispositiatiszfontinued operations of $2.8 million;

» an office property in Atlanta, GA for a sale pricE$13.8 million and recorded a gain on dispositidrdiscontinued operations of $

million;

» four office properties in Winsto8alem, NC for a sale price of $6.2 million and reled a gain on disposition of discontinued opera

of $0.1 million;

» an office property in WinstoBalem, NC for a sale price of $5.3 million and réleal a gain on disposition of discontinued operstio

$2.5 million;

» an office property in Tampa, FL for a sale price$@fL.6 million and recorded a gain on dispositibrdiscontinued operations of $.

million;

» sixteen industrial properties and a land parcel gingle transaction in Atlanta, GA for a sale @t $91.6 million (before $0.3

million

closing credits to buyer for unfunded tenant imements and after $0.3 million in closing creditdbtoer for free rent). We recorc
gains on disposition of discontinued operation$26.7 million related to the industrial propertaggl a gain on disposition of property

less than $0.1 million related to the land parcel;

» five industrial properties in Atlanta, GA for a egbrice of $4.5 million (after $0.1 million in clog credits to buyer for free rent) ¢

recorded a gain on disposition of discontinued afi@ns of less than $0.1 million;

e six industrial properties and a land parcel inregks transaction in Atlanta, GA for a sale price$8B.7 million (before $1.8 million
closing credits to buyer for unfunded tenant imgroents and after $1.3 million in closing creditdtoyer for free rent) and recorde

gain on disposition of discontinued operations 3.8 million;
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Real Estate Assets - Continued

two industrial properties in Atlanta, GA for a sgliece of $4.8 million and recorded a loss on dssion of discontinued operations
less than $0.1 million; and

two office properties in Orlando, FL for a salecgriof $14.6 million (before $0.8 million in closimgedits to buyer for unfunded ten
improvements) and recorded a loss on dispositiatisaontinued operations of $0.3 million.

Additionally, in connection with the disposition ah office property in Jackson, MS in the third geaof 2012, we had the right to rece

additional cash consideration of up to $1.5 milliggon the satisfaction of a certain post-closimguimement. The postlosing requirement w
satisfied and the cash consideration was receiveihgl 2013. Accordingly, we recognized $1.5 millian additional gain on disposition
discontinued operations in 2013.

During 2012, we sold:

three buildings in Jackson, MS and Atlanta, GA & sale price of $86.5 millioand recorded a gain on disposition of discontil
operations of $14.0 million ;

five office properties in Nashville, TN for alsgrice of $41.0 milliorand recorded a gain on disposition of discontinogerations ¢
$7.0 million ;

an office property in Pinellas County, FL fosale price of $9.5 milliomnd recorded a gain on disposition of discontinoeerations ¢
$1.4 million ;

an office property in Kansas City, MO for a spteee of $6.5 million and recorded a gain on d@fpon of discontinued operations $f.¢
million ;

96 vacant rental residential units in Kansay,Q\O for a sale price of $11.0 milliceind recorded a gain on disposition of discontil
operations of $5.1 million ; and

17 for-sale residential condominiums in Raleiyig; for a sale price of $5.5 million and recordede gain of $0.4 million . All fosale
residential condominiums were sold as of Decemef312.

During 2011, we sold an office property and adja¢and parcel in a single transaction in Winstome8g NC for $ 15.0 milliorand recorde

a gain on disposition of discontinued operation$ &f6 million related to the office property andain on disposition of property ofG$3 million
related to the land.

Impairments

During 2013, we recorded impairments of real esaasets of $1.1 million on four properties in ay@roffice park in Winstor8alem, NC an

$1.1 million on seven industrial properties in Awla, GA. During 2011, we recorded impairments af estate assets of $ 2.4 million on teffice
properties in Orlando, FL. These impairments ware t a change in the assumed timing of futureadisipns and leasing assumptions, w
reduced the future expected cash flows from theired properties.
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3. Mortgages and Notes Receivable

The following table sets forth our mortgages antkgoeceivable:

December 31,

2013 2012
Seller financing (first mortgages) $ 16,45 $ 15,85:
Less allowance — —
16,45« 15,85
Mortgage receivable 9,43t 8,64¢
Less allowance — —
9,43t 8,64¢
Promissory notes 822 1,152
Less allowance (302) (182)
52C 971
Mortgages and notes receivable, net $ 26,40¢  $ 25,47.

During 2010, we provided seller financing in corgtion with two disposition transactions. The seller financing védenced by firs
mortgages secured by the assignment of rents anghifferlying real estate assets.

During 2012, we provided an $8.6 millidman to a third party, which was used by such tpidy to fund a portion of the purchase pric
acquire 77 acres of mixed-use development lanccadiao our 68acre office development parcel in Nashville, TNtidtly, the loan is scheduls
to mature in December 2015 and bears interes0@ per year. The loan can be extended by the plairty for up to threadditional years, subje
to applicable increases in the interest rate. V8e abreed to loan such third party $8.4 millmn a secured basis to fund future infrastruc
development securitized by the 77 acres. As of bdee 31, 2013 , $0.3 milliohas been funded to the third party for infrastreetevelopmer
We concluded this arrangement to be an intereatvariable interest entity. However, since we dbhave the power to direct matters that r
significantly impact the activities of the entitye do not qualify as the primary beneficiary. Aatingly, the entity is not consolidated. Our ris|
loss with respect to this arrangement is limitedhi carrying value of the mortgage receivable tedfuture infrastructure development func
commitment.

We evaluate the ability to collect our mortgaged aates receivable by monitoring the leasing stesisand/or market fundamentals of tF
assets. As of December 31, 2013 , our mortgagesated receivable were not in default and thereewmerother indicators of impairment.

The following table sets forth our notes receivailewance, which relates only to promissory notes:

December 31,

2013 2012
Beginning notes receivable allowance $ 18z ¢ 61
Bad debt expense — 18¢€
Recoveries/write-offs/other 12C (65)
Total notes receivable allowance $ 302§ 182
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4. Investments in and Advances to Affiliates
Unconsolidated Affiliates

We have equity interests of up to 50.@%various joint ventures with unrelated third pestthat are accounted for using the equity metf
accounting because we have the ability to exegig@ficant influence over their operating and fio&l policies.

The following table sets forth our ownership in ansolidated affiliates at December 31, 2013 :

Ownership
Joint Venture Location of Properties Interest
Concourse Center Associates, LLC Greensboro, NC 50.0%
Plaza Colonnade, LLC Kansas City, MO 50.0%
Lofts at Weston, LLC Raleigh, NC 50.0%
Board of Trade Investment Company Kansas City, MO 49.0%
Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, LP Orlando, FL 42.9%
Highwoods KC Glenridge Office, LLC Atlanta, GA 40.0%
Highwoods KC Glenridge Land, LLC Atlanta, GA 39.9%
Kessinger/Hunter, LLC Kansas City, MO 26.5%
Highwoods DLF Forum, LLC Raleigh, NC 25.0%
Highwoods DLF 98/29, LLC Atlanta, GA; Orlando, FL 22.8%
4600 Madison Associates, LB Kansas City, MO 12.5%

(1) During 2013, the Company contributed its 12.5%regein the 4600 Madison Associates, LP joint vemta the Operating Partnersl

The following table sets forth the combined summetibalance sheets of our unconsolidated affitiates

December 31,

2013 2012
Balance Sheets1)
Assets:
Real estate assets, net $ 228,49° $ 491,18
All other assets, net 66,19¢ 113,73¢
Total Assets $ 294,69: $ 604,91«
Liabilities and Partners’ or Shareholders’ Equity:
Mortgages and notes payalgg $ 189,43. $ 370,39:
All other liabilities 11,33¢ 24,50"
Partners’ or shareholders’ equity 93,92: 210,01
Total Liabilities and Partners’ or Shareholdersug $ 294,69. $ 604,91-
Our share of historical partners’ or shareholdegglity $ 29,09¢ $ 63,84
Net excess of cost of investments over the net bable of underlying net assets 80z 2,95¢
Carrying value of investments in and advances twosolidated affiliates $ 29,90: $ 66,80(
Our share of unconsolidated non-recourse mortgalyga) $ 64,42:  $ 137,26:
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Investments in and Advances to Affiliates —@htinued

For the year ended December 31, 2013, as a resadigoiring our joint venture partner's 60.0% ietdrin 2013, we consolidated a joint venture prasli
accounted for under the equity method of accounting

Our share of scheduled future principal payisi@ncluding amortization, due on mortgages artésipayable at December 31, 204.3s follows

2014 $ 11,01
2015 99z
2016 1,062
2017 27,08:
2018 19,397
Thereafter 4,88(

$ 64,42«

All of this joint venture debt is norecourse to us except in the case of customarypéros pertaining to such matters as misuse offuedvironmenti
conditions, material misrepresentations and volyrda uncontested involuntary bankruptcy events.

This amount represents the aggregate differeneecketour historical cost basis and the basis tefeat the joint venture level, which is depredateer th
life of the related asset.

The following table sets forth the summarized inestatements of the Company’s unconsolidatedzédi

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Income Statementsii)
Rental and other revenues $ 82,16¢ $ 101,23: % 100,
Expenses:
Rental property and other expenses 41,28¢ 47,76 44!
Depreciation and amortization 20,92¢ 25,25 26,
Impairments of real estate assets 20,077 7,18(
Interest expense 14,99/ 20,95! 23/
Total expenses 97,28: 101,14¢ 94,
Income/(loss) before disposition of properties (15,115 85 6,
Gains on disposition of properties 20,50: 11,18¢
Net income $ 538t $ 11,26¢ $ 6,
The Company's share of:
Depreciation and amortization $ 6,79¢ $ 7,73t $ 8.
Impairments of real estate assets $ 4507 $ 1,00 $
Interest expense $ 542: $ 7,36¢ $ 8,
Gains on disposition of properties $ 3,61¢ $ 1,12 $
Net income $ 1,09¢ $ 330 $ 2,
The Company's share of net income $ 1,09¢ $ 3,30¢ % 2,
Adjustments for management and other fees 1,16¢ 1,731 2,
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates $ 2,26¢  $ 503t § 4.¢

For the year ended December 31, 2013, as a resadigoiring our joint venture partner's 60.0% ietdrin 2013, we consolidated a joint venture prasli
accounted for under the equity method of accounting
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Investments in and Advances to Affiliates —@htinued

The following table sets forth the summarized inestatements of the Operating Partnership's untidated affiliates:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Income Statementsi1)
Rental and other revenues $ 79,04¢ % 97,22t $ 96,
Expenses:
Rental property and other expenses 39,42« 45,39: 42,
Depreciation and amortization 19,99 24,00° 25,
Impairments of real estate assets 20,077 7,18(C
Interest expense 14,51 20,29¢ 23,
Total expenses 94,00¢ 96,87+ 90,
Income/(loss) before disposition of properties (14,95) 351 6,
Gains on disposition of properties 20,50: 11,18¢
Net income $ 554, $ 11,53 $ 6,
The Operating Partnership's share of:
Depreciation and amortization $ 6,67¢ $ 758C % 8,
Impairments of real estate assets $ 4507 $ 1,00 $
Interest expense $ 536: $ 7,28¢ % 8,(
Gains on disposition of properties $ 3,616 % 1,12 $
Net income $ 1,11¢ $ 3331 % 2.}
The Operating Partnership's share of net income $ 1,11¢  $ 3337 % 2!
Adjustments for management and other fees 1,09¢ 1,75¢ 2,
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates $ 221§ 509 § 4

For the year ended December 31, 2013, as a resadigoiring our joint venture partner's 60.0% iptdrin 2013, we consolidated a joint venture prasli
accounted for under the equity method of accounting
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4. Investments in and Advances to Affiliates —@htinued
The following summarizes additional informationateld to certain of our unconsolidated affiliates:
- HIW -KC Orlando, LLC
See Note 2 for a description of our acquisitiomwf partner's 60.0% equity interest in this joiabture during 2013.
- Lofts at Weston, LLC ("Weston Lofts")

During 2011, we and Ravin Partners, LLC (“Ravirgjrhed Weston Lofts, in which we have a 50.0% owmpriterest. We contributetb.C
acres of land at an agreed upon value of $ 2.4omitb this joint venture, and Ravin contributed.® millionin cash and agreed to guarantee
joint venture's development loan. The joint ventilren distributed 1.2 million to us and we recorded a gain of $ Oilfian on this transactio
Ravin manages and operates this joint venture,wtimstructed 215 residential units at a total odst 25.9 million. Ravin was the develop
manager and leasing agent and received customesyfifem the joint venture. During 2013, Weston &dfold the 21%esidential units to ¢
unrelated third party for gross proceeds of $381Bam and recorded a gain of $12.2 million. Asesult, we received aggregate net distributiol
$9.4 million and recorded our share of the gai$®f million, which is net of $1.7 million in taxd@scurred by our taxable REIT subsidiary
equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliatesr®lare of the gain was less than 50.0% due tonfRsguieferred return as the developer.

- Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, LP (“DLF II”)

See Note 2 for a description of our acquisitiotvad office properties in Atlanta, GA from DLF Il dag 2013.

During 2013, DLF Il sold an office property to anrelated third party for a sale price of $10.1 imill (after $0.3 million in closing credits
buyer for free rent) and recorded a gain on disjpwsof property of less than $0.1 million. As aast basis was different from the basis refle
at the joint venture level, we recorded $0.4 millaf gain through equity in earnings of unconsdbdaaffiliates.

During 2012, DLF Il obtained a $50.0 million , tergear secured mortgage loan from a third partgderbearing a fixed interest rate305%
on $39.1 million of the loan and a floating intereste of LIBOR plus 250 basis points on $10.9 igmllof the loan, which was used by the ji
venture to repay a secured loan at maturity toird fharty lender. During 2013, this loan was asdlifag us in connection with the acquisit
discussed in Note 2.

- Kessinger/Hunter, LLC

Kessinger/Hunter, LLC, which is managed by our tjorenture partner, provides leasing services, amuthgr things, to certain offi
properties that we wholly own in Kansas City, MOexchange for customary fees from us. KessingetétuhLC received $ 0.2 million , $.1
million and $ 2.1 million from us for these sengda 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , respectively.

- Highwoods DLF Forum, LLC (“Forum”)

During 2013, Forum obtained a $71.7 million, figear secured mortgage loan from a third party lgndlearing a floating interest rate
LIBOR plus 190 basis points, which was used byjoi venture to repay a secured loan at matuaitg third party lender. This loan is sched
to mature in November 2018.

- Highwoods DLF 98/29, LLC (“DLF I”)

At the formation of this joint venture in 1999, opartner contributed excess cash to the ventuitevtha distributed to us under the jc
venture agreements. We are required to repay xhisss cash to our partner over time, as discussiddte 9.

During 2013, DLF | sold an office property to arrelated third party for a sale price of $5.9 milligafter $0.1 million in closing credits
buyer for free rent) and recorded a gain on disjposdf discontinued operations of less than $0illian. We recorded less than $0.1 million
our share of this gain through equity in earninigsrconsolidated affiliates.
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During 2013, DLF | recorded impairments of reabéstassets of $20.1 million on office propertie®©ntando, FL, Atlanta, GA and Charlot
NC. We recorded $4.5 million as our share of thegsmirment charges through equity in earnings afomsolidated affiliates. These impairme
were due to a change in the assumed timing ofdulispositions and/or leasing assumptions, whidbed the future expected cash flows 1
the impaired properties.

During 2012, DLF | sold two office properties tarthparties for $15.5 million and recorded gainsdigposition of property of $4.9 million
We recorded $1.1 million as our proportionate sloéthese gains through equity in earnings of usotidated affiliates.

During 2012, we recorded $1.0 million as our shareanpairments of real estate assets on office properties in DLF I, due to a decline
projected occupancy and a change in the assumdih@gleriod of those assets, which reduced theategduture cash flows from the properties.

During 2011, we provided a $ 38.3 million interesty secured loan to DLF | that was initially schkdl to mature in March 2012During
2012, the outstanding balance of the loan was depaia result of our acquisition of an office pmypdrom the joint venture and throu
application of the net proceeds from the joint vee's sale of two office properties to third partiés noted above. We recorded $0.9 milhon
$1.3 million of interest income from this loan intérest and other income during the years endedreer 31, 2012 and 2011 , respectively.

- HIW Development B, LLC

During 2011, our joint venture partner exercissiption to acquire our 10.08guity interest in the HIW Development B, LLC joirgnture
which had recently completed construction of adtiksuit office property in Charlotte, NC. As asué, we received gross proceeds of.8
million and recorded a gain on disposition of irnwesnt in unconsolidated affiliate related to thisrohant build project of $2.3 million .

- Other Activities

We receive development, management and leasingfdeeservices provided to certain of our joint wenes. These fees are recognize
income to the extent of our respective joint veatpartner's interest. During the years ended Deeefith 2013 , 2012 and 201tve recognized
2.9 million , $ 2.4 million and $ 3.1 millionrespectively, of development, management andnigdses from our unconsolidated joint venture
December 31, 2013 and 2012 , we had receivabl$8.6fmillion and $0.9 million , respectively, raldtto these fees in accounts receivable.

Consolidated Affiliates
The following summarizes our consolidated affili@ate
- Highwoods-Markel Associates, LLC (“Markel”)

We have a 50.0%wnership interest in Markel. We are the managdrleasing agent for Markel's properties, whichlacated in Richmon:
VA in exchange for customary management and leafdag. We consolidate Markel since we are the gérgartner and control the ma
operating and financial policies of the joint veletuAs controlling partner, we have an obligatiorc&use this propertywning entity to distribut
proceeds of liquidation to the noncontrolling imtstrpartner in these partially owned propertiey drthe net proceeds received by the entity 1
the sale of Markel's assets warrant a distribuiendetermined by the governing agreement. We estithe value of noncontrolling inter
distributions would have been $ 33.4 million had émtity been liquidated at December 31, 20T8is estimated settlement value is based @
fair value of the underlying properties which iséd on a number of assumptions that are subjextaimomic and market uncertainties incluc
among others, demand for space, competition fotoouers, changes in market rental rates and costgpecate each property. If the enti
underlying assets are worth less than the underliebilities on the date of such liquidation, weowld have no obligation to remit &
consideration to the noncontrolling interest holder
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- SF-HIW Harborview Plaza, LP (“Harborview”)

We have a 20.0%nterest in Harborview. We are the manager andirlgaagent for Harborview's property in Tampa, FLd aeceivi
customary management and leasing fees. As furtrgrithed in Note 8, we account for this joint veatas a financing obligation since our par
has the right to put its 80.0% equity interest bimcls during the one-year period commencing Sdmpterhl, 2014.

During 2012, we provided a three-year, $20.8 millioterest-only secured loan to Harborview thatclseduled to mature in September 2015
which the joint venture used to repay a secured &tanaturity to a third party lender. This newrldmears interest at LIBOR plus 500 basis pc
subject to a LIBOR floor of 0.5% Because Harborview is a consolidated joint vemtthis loan and related interest income and exarx
eliminated in consolidation.

5. Intangible Assets and Below Market Lease Lialities

The following table sets forth total intangible etssand acquisition-related below market leasdlitigls, net of accumulated amortization:

December 31,

2013 2012
Assets:
Deferred financing costs $ 17,36  $ 21,75¢
Less accumulated amortization (5,209 (7,862
12,15¢ 13,89"
Deferred leasing costs (including lease incentaresabove market lease and in-place lease acqunisélated intangible
assets) 297,06¢ 217,21
Less accumulated amortization (87,01¢) (67,14¢)
210,05: 150,06
Deferred financing and leasing costs, net $ 22221. % 163,96«
Liabilities (in accounts payable, accrued expensesd other liabilities):
Acquisition-related below market lease liabilities $ 55,320 $ 37,01¢
Less accumulated amortization (8,47%) (3,389
$ 46,84F $ 33,63¢
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5. Intangible Assets and Below Market Lease Lialities - Continued

The following table sets forth amortization of in¢ggble assets and below market lease liabilities:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Amortization of deferred financing costs $ 3,80: $ 3,68t % 3,31z
Amortization of deferred leasing costs and acqoisitelated intangible assets (in depreciation and

amortization) $ 37,09: $ 26,50¢ $ 19,56:
Amortization of lease incentives (in rental andestfevenues) $ 1,40¢ $ 1,38¢ $ 1,302
Amortization of acquisition-related intangible assg@n rental and other revenues) $ 3,67¢ 3 1,357 % 91t
Amortization of acquisition-related intangible assg@n rental property and other expenses) $ 55€ $ 18€ % =
Amortization of acquisition-related below markeade liabilities (in rental and other revenues) $ (5,31 $ (2,627 $ (840

The following table sets forth scheduled future dimation of intangible assets and acquisitiontezlebelow market lease liabilities:

Amortization
of Deferred
Leasing Costs anc

Amortization of Amortization

Acquisition- Amortization Acquisition- of Acquisition-
Related Amortization of Acquisition- Related Related Below
Amortization Intangible Assets of Lease Related Intangible Assets Market Lease
of Deferred (in Depreciation Incentives (in Intangible Assets (in Rental Liabilities (in
Financing and Rental and Other (in Rental and Property and Rental and Other
Years Ending December 31, Costs Amortization) Revenues) Other Revenues) Other Expenses) Revenues)
2014 2,78¢ $ 38,63. $ 1,266 $ 433t % 55¢ % (5,99))
2015 2,751 32,15( 1,027 3,627 553 (5,722)
2016 2,48¢ 26,53¢ 851 2,81( 55: (5,429
2017 2,191 22,56¢ 771 2,26¢ 55: (5,165
2018 1,08¢ 18,32 674 1,42¢ 553 (5,017
Thereafter 861 43,09° 2,07 3,761 1,08¢ (19,52)
12,15¢ $ 181,30 $ 6,66¢ $ 18,22¢ $ 3,851 % (46,8445
Weighted average remaining amortization
periods as of December 31, 2013 (in
4.7 6.€ 7.€ 6.7 7.C 9.1

years)

The following table sets forth the intangible assetquired and below market lease liabilities agslias a result of 2013 acquisition activity:

Amount recorded from acquisition activity

Weighted average remaining amortization periodsf &ecember 31, 2013 (in years)
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Acquisition- Acquisition-
Related Related Below
Intangible Acquisition- Market Lease
Assets Related Liabilities
(amortized in Intangible Assets  (amortized in
Rental and (amortized in Rental and
Other Depreciation and Other
Revenues) Amortization) Revenues)
$ 17,20 $ 58,42: $ (29,12
6.5 6.5 8.¢
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6. Mortgages and Notes Payable

Our mortgages and notes payable consist of thewolh:

December 31,

2013 2012
Secured indebtednessi)
5.68% mortgage loan due 2013 $ — 3 107,28¢
5.45% (5.12% effective rate) mortgage loan due 2614 — 67,60¢
5.21% (3.11% effective rate) mortgage loan due 2814 125,24° —
5.17% (6.43% effective rate) mortgage loan due 2615 39,60¢ 39,80¢
3.50% (3.34% effective rate) mortgage loan due 2615 37,34( —
6.88% mortgage loans due 2016 109,16° 110,67:
7.50% mortgage loan due 2016 45,10 45,66
5.10% (4.22% effective rate) mortgage loan due 2617 118,12¢ 120,92:
5.74% to 9.00% mortgage loans due between 2012@H6(7) (8) 14,07: 57,65
488,66¢ 549,60
Unsecured indebtedness:
5.85% (5.88% effective rate) notes due 2@17 379,31: 379,19«
7.50% notes due 2018 200,00( 200,00(
3.625% (3.752% effective rate) notes due 2Q23 247,62« 247,36
Variable rate term loan due 2016 — 35,00(
Variable rate term loan due 20(9) 200,00( 200,00(
Variable rate term loan due 2009) 225,00( 225,00(
Revolving credit facility due 201@3) 215,70( 23,00(
1,467,63! 1,309,55!
Total $ 1,956,29" $ 1,859,16:

(1) The secured mortgage loans payable are callated by real estate assets with an aggregatepnedated book value of $ 801.7 million&cember 3:
2013. Our fixed rate mortgage loans generally are eitheked out to prepayment for all or a portiontbéir term or are prepayable subject to ce
conditions including prepayment penalties.

(2) Net of unamortized fair market premium$0.2 million as of December 31, 201Zhis debt was repaid in 20

(3) Net of unamortized fair market value premiun$0.7 million as of December 31, 2013

(4) Net of unamortized fair market value discount ©.8 million and $1.2 million as of December 31, 2@hd 2012 respectively
(5) Net of unamortized fair market value premiun$0.1 million as of December 31, 2013

(6) Net of unamortized fair market premium$3.6 million and $4.6 million as of December 3112@&nd 2012 respectively

(7) Included mortgage debt related to Markel 83%L million at December 31, 2017 his debt was repaid in 20.

(8) Net of unamortized fair market value premium (0.3 million and $ 0.5 million at December 31, 2@k®1 2012 respectively
(9) Net of unamortized original issuance discount 0.4 million and $ 0.5 million at December 31, 2GRl 2012 respectively
(10) Net of unamortized original issuance discour$2.4 million and $2.6 million at December 31, 2@t®&l 2012 respectively
(11) The interest rate is 1.37% at December 31, 2013

(12) As more fully described in Note 7, we entered fibating-tofixed interest rate swaps that effectively fix LIBGor the full amount and duration of this lc
Accordingly, the equivalent fixed rate of this loar8.43% .

(13) The interest rate is 1.27% at December 31, 2013
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6. Mortgages and Notes Payable - Continued

The following table sets forth scheduled futurenpipal payments, including amortization, due on mortgages and notes payabl
December 31, 2013 :

Years Ending December 31, Principal Amount
2014 $ 138,76:
2015 81,23:
2016 158,21¢
2017 488,71:
2018 415,43
Thereafter 673,93t

During 2013, we entered into an amended and restté75.0 millionunsecured revolving credit facility, which replacedr previousl
existing revolving credit facility, and includes aacordion feature that allows for an additionad350 million of borrowing capacity subject
additional lender commitments. Our new revolvingdit facility is scheduled to mature in January0Assuming no defaults have occurred
have an option to extend the maturity for two addal six-month periods. The interest rate on thev fiacility at ourcurrent credit ratings
LIBOR plus 110 basis pointand the annual facility fee is 20 basis points. iFiterest rate and facility fee are based on tigadri of the publicl
announced ratings from Moody's Investors ServicBtandard & Poor's Ratings Services. The finarasidl other covenants under the new fac
are similar to our previous credit facility. Thensas $ 215.7 million and $ 223.0 milliooutstanding under our revolving credit facility
December 31, 2013 and January 31, 2014 , resplctAieboth December 31, 2013 and January 31, 20&é had $ 0.1 milliorof outstandin
letters of credit, which reduces the availability @aur revolving credit facility. As a result, thaused capacity of our revolving credit facility
December 31, 2013 and January 31, 2014 was $ 25#i@n and $ 251.9 million, respectively. We simultaneously amended and texbtau
$200.0 million, fiveyear unsecured bank term loan which, from a previnodification, was scheduled to mature in Jan@afB. The loan is nc
scheduled to mature in January 2019 and the intemts based on our current credit ratings, wasiaded to LIBOR plus 120 basis points.
incurred $0.4 million of deferred financing fees éonnection with the recent modification, which Iwlle amortized along with existi
unamortized deferred loan fees over the remairéng bf the new loan.

During 2013, we prepaid without penalty a securedtgage loan with a fair market value of $67.5 imillbearing an effective interest ratt
5.12% that was originally scheduled to mature inuday 2014. We also prepaid without penalty theaieing $114.7 million balance on t
secured mortgage loans bearing interest at a vezlglwerage rate of 5.75% that were originally saleebito mature in December 2013.
recorded less than $0.1 million of loss on debingxtishment related to these prepayments. Duriri26ne of our consolidated affiliates ¢
prepaid without penalty the remaining $32.3 millimaance on four secured mortgage loans beariegesit at a weighted average rate of 5.
that were originally scheduled to mature in JanuZ¥4. Real estate assets having a gross book wélapproximately $147 milliodbecam
unencumbered in connection with the payoff of theseured loans. We also paid down $11.7 milbbsecured loan balances through princ
amortization during 2013.

During 2013, we prepaid the remaining $35.0 millmalance on a $200.0 million unsecured bank tean tbat was originally schedulec
mature in February 2016. We recorded $0.2 millibloss on debt extinguishment related to this pyepent.

During 2012, we repaid the remaining balances @f Bhillion of our variable rate, secured constiarctoan bearing interest of 1.078ad
$123.0 million secured mortgage loan bearing irsteoé 6.03% that was scheduled to mature in Ma@132 One of our consolidated affilial
also repaid a $20.8 million secured loan that boterest at 6.06% and matured in October 201¥e incurred no penalties related to tt
repayments.
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6. Mortgages and Notes Payable - Continued

During 2012, the Operating Partnership issued $@%dillion aggregate principal amount of 3.625% é&otdue January 15, 2023es:
original issue discount of $2.7 million . Thesea®wtvere priced at 98.94% for an effective yiel3.d52%. Underwriting fees and other exper
were incurred that aggregated $2.1 million ; thessts were deferred and will be amortized ovetdéh® of the notes.

During 2012, we modified our $200.0 million , fiyear unsecured bank term loan, as discussed alvbeeeby the original maturity date
February 2016 was extended to January 201Bthe original interest rate was reduced fromQRBplus 220 basis points to LIBOR plus 165 k
points. We incurred $0.9 millioaf deferred financing fees in connection with thisvious modification, which was amortized alonghwexisting
unamortized deferred loan fees over the remairény of the loan. Proceeds from two new participaaggregating $35.0 millionwere used |
reduce amounts outstanding under our revolvingitcfadility. Two of the original participants, whicheld an aggregate $35.0 milliaf the
principal balance under the original term loan,evetly paid off in February 2013 .

During 2012, we repurchased $12.1 million principaiount of unsecured notes due March 2017 beaniegest of 5.85%or a purchas
price of 107.5% of par value. We recorded $1.0iamilbf loss on debt extinguishment related to tepurchase.

During 2012, we obtained a $225.0 million , seveear unsecured bank term loan bearing interestiBOR plus 190 basis points. T
underlying LIBOR rate has been effectively fixed fbe entire seven-year term through floatindited interest rate swaps discussed in No
The counterparties under the swaps are the samacfad institutions that participated in the tewan.

During 2011, we repaid the remaining balance 08%.4 million of a secured mortgage loan bearingredt of 7.05%hat was scheduled
mature in January 2012 and the remaining $ 10.0omibf a three -year unsecured term loan beanmerést of 3.90%hat was scheduled
mature in February 2012 . We incurred no penatééasted to these early repayments. We also obtan®®00.0 million , five year unsecure
bank term loan bearing interest of LIBOR plus 228ib points; this loan has been modified as dexgrbove.

We are currently in compliance with financial comats and other requirements with respect to ousaatated debt.

Our revolving credit facility and bank term loamsjuire us to comply with customary operating comemand various financial requireme
Upon an event of default on the revolving crediilfy, the lenders having at least 51.@%the total commitments under the revolving ci
facility can accelerate all borrowings then outdiag, and we could be prohibited from borrowing d&mgther amounts under our revolving cr
facility, which would adversely affect our ability fund our operations.

The Operating Partnership has $379.3 million cagyamount of 2017 bonds outstanding, $200.0 miltarrying amount of 2018 bor
outstanding and $247.6 milliocarrying amount of 2023 bonds outstanding. Thernhge that governs these outstanding notes requses
comply with customary operating covenants and wariinancial ratios. The trustee or the holderatdeast 25.0%n principal amount of eith
series of bonds can accelerate the principal anafusuch series upon written notice of a defawdt temains uncured after 60 days.

Capitalized Interest

Total interest capitalized to development and sicgmt building and tenant improvement projects $&&7 million , $ 1.0 million and $.€
million for the years ended December 31, 2013 2241id 2011 , respectively.
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7. Derivative Financial Instruments

We have six floating-to-fixed interest rate swaptgh January 2019 each with respect to an aggrefe$225.0 million LIBORbase:
borrowings. These swaps effectively fix the undedyLIBOR rate at a weighted average of 1.678%he counterparties under the swaps
major financial institutions. The swap agreememstain a provision whereby if we default on anyoof indebtedness, if greater th&hO0.(
million , and which defaults results in repayment of sumtelbtedness being, or becoming capable of beinglexated by the lender, then
could also be declared in default on our derivatipéigations. These swaps have been designateddaara being accounted for as cash
hedges with changes in fair value recorded in otbenprehensive income each reporting period. No gaioss was recognized related to he
ineffectiveness or to amounts excluded from effectess testing on our cash flow hedges during ¢lae gnded December 31, 201\&/e have n
collateral requirements related to our interest sataps.

Amounts reported in AOCL related to derivativeslwig reclassified to interest expense as interagingnts are made on our variabége
debt. During 2014, we estimate that $3.3 milliofl & reclassified to interest expense.

The following table sets forth the gross fair vatdie@ur derivatives:

Gross Fair Value as of December 31,

2013 2012
Derivatives:
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges in préga&xpenses and other assets:
Interest rate swaps $ 301 $ —
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges in acotsipayable, accrued expenses and other liabilities
Interest rate swaps $ 51C $ 9,36¢

The following table sets forth the effect of ouskdlow hedges on AOCL and interest expense:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Derivatives Designated as Cash Flow Hedges:
Amount of unrealized gains/(losses) recognized in@CL on derivatives (effective portion):
Interest rate swaps $ 577¢ $ (10,35 % (2,209)
Amount of (gains)/losses reclassified out of AOCLnto contractual interest expense (effective
portion):
Interest rate swaps $ 337C % 305 § (119)
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8. Financing Arrangements

Our financing obligations consist of the following:

December 31,

2013 2012
Harborview financing obligation $ 16,24: $ 17,57:
Tax increment financing bond 10,42 11,78°
Total $ 26,66: $ 29,35¢

Harborview

In 2002, we contributed Harborview Plaza, a 205,88fttable square foot office building to our Hasbew joint venture. We retainec
20.0% equity interest in the joint venture. Oumjoventure partner has the right to put its 80.8§uity interest in the joint venture to us
exchange for cash at any time during the one-yeangh commencing September 11, 2014 . The valuth@f80.0%equity interest will b
determined at the time that our partner electxévaise its put right, if ever, based upon the tfe@nmarket value of the joint venture's assetd
liabilities. The fair value of the real estate assell be reduced by 3.0%which is intended to represent the hypothetioats of a sale transacti
Because of the put option, this transaction has laeeounted for as a financing transaction. Acecwlgi the assets, liabilities and operation
Harborview Plaza, which is the sole property owhgdHarborview, remain in our Consolidated FinanStdtements.

As a result, we initially established a gross fitiag obligation equal to the $12.7 milli@quity contributed by our joint venture parti
During 2012, our joint venture partner contributed additional $1.8 milliorof equity to the joint venture. During each perieg; increase tt
gross financing obligation for 80.086 the net income before depreciation of Harborvitlaza, which is recorded as interest expensenanding
obligation, and decrease the gross financing otidigdor distributions made to our joint venturetpar. At the end of each reporting period,
balance of the gross financing obligation is adjiddb equal the greater of the equity contributgdir joint venture partner or the current
value of the put option, which is recorded as aiatibn allowance. The valuation allowance is amedion a straightne basis prospective
through September 2014 as interest expense oncfimambligation. The fair value of the put optiormsv$12.8 million and $12.7 millioat
December 31, 2013 and 20]12espectively. We continue to depreciate Harbovidaza and record all of the depreciation on mokis. At suc
time as the put option expires or is otherwise beated, we will record the transaction as a paséé and recognize gain accordingly.

Tax Increment Financing Bond

In connection with tax increment financing for alpag garage we constructed in 1999, we are oldiy& pay fixed special assessments
a 20-year period ending in 2019 . The net presehtevof these assessments, discounted at the 6r@@fast rate on the underlying tax incren
financing, is recorded as a financing obligatiore Yéceive special tax revenues and property taateslrecorded in interest and other ince
which are intended, but not guaranteed, to proficels to pay the special assessments. We acqlieecklated tax increment financing bc
which is recorded in prepaid and other assets, pnivately negotiated transaction in 200For additional information about this tax incrart
financing bond, see Note 11.

9. Commitments and Contingencie
Operating Ground Leases

Certain of our properties are subject to operagiraund leases. Rental payments on these leasesljasted periodically based on either
consumer price index or on a pre-determined schedultal rental property expense recorded for dpgrground leases was $2.8 milliof1.5

million and $1.4 million for the years ended Decem®1, 2013, 2012 and 2011 , respectively.
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9. Commitments and Contingencies Continued

The following table sets forth our scheduled oldliyss for future minimum payments on operating gibleases at December 31, 2013 :

Minimum

Years Ending December 31, Payments
2014 $ 3,04«
2015 3,07¢
2016 3,10¢
2017 3,14:
2018 3,17¢
Thereafter 116,13¢

s 18169

Lease and Contractual Commitments

We have $233.8 million of lease and contractual m@ments at December 31, 2013Lease and contractual commitments reprt
commitments under signed leases and contracts geratng properties (excluding tendatided tenant improvements) and contracts
development/redevelopment projects, of which $2&lBon was recorded on the Consolidated BalanogeSht December 31, 2013 .

DLF | Obligation

At the formation of DLF I, the amount our partnentributed in cash to the venture and subsequéigtyibuted to us was determined tc
$7.2 million in excess of the amount required bazedits ownership interest and the agrepdn value of the real estate assets. We wereree
to repay this amount over 14 years, beginning enfitst quarter of 1999 . The $7.2 million was disoted to net present value $3.8 millior
using a discount rate of 9.62% specified in theeagrent. Payments of $0.2 million , $0.6 million &@d6 millionwere made in the years en
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 , respectivéig.bRlance at December 31, 2012 was $0.2 millishich was included in accounts paya
accrued expenses and other liabilities. During 2€i8obligation was fully paid.

Environmental Matters

Substantially all of our iservice and development properties have been datljgc Phase | environmental assessments and,rtiain
instances, Phase Il environmental assessments.aSseksments and/or updates have not revealeahenae aware of, any environmental liab
that we believe would have a material adverse effieour Consolidated Financial Statements.

Litigation, Claims and Assessments

We are from time to time a party to a variety afdbeproceedings, claims and assessments arisitig iardinary course of our business.
regularly assess the liabilities and contingeniriennection with these matters based on thetlatEsmation available. For those matters wi
it is probable that we have incurred or will in@utoss and the loss or range of loss can be relalyoastimated, the estimated loss is accruec
charged to income in our Consolidated Financiale®tents. In other instances, because of the uitigtarelated to both the probable outc
and amount or range of loss, a reasonable estiwhéitbility, if any, cannot be made. Based on ¢herent expected outcome of such matters,
of these proceedings, claims or assessments istexb® have a material effect on our businesanfifal condition, results of operations or ¢
flows.
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10. Noncontrolling Interests
Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Affiliates

At December 31, 2013 , our noncontrolling interéatgonsolidated affiliates relates to our jointhtwge partner's 50.0%terest in offici
properties in Richmond, VA. Our joint venture partis an unrelated third party.

Noncontrolling Interests in the Operating Partnershp

Noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partngrsfelate to the ownership of Redeemable CommortsUiNet income attributable
noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partnigrsé computed by applying the weighted averagegrdage of Redeemable Common LU
during the period, as a percent of the total nundferutstanding Common Units, to the Operating raghips net income for the period al
deducting distributions on Preferred Units. Whemoacontrolling unitholder redeems a Common Unitdahare of Common Stock or cash,
noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partnigrélte reduced and the Compaghare in the Operating Partnership is increageithé fail
value of each security at the time of redemption.

The following table sets forth the Company's nomicdling interests in the Operating Partnership:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012

Beginning noncontrolling interests in the OperatRaytnership $ 124,86¢ $ 110,65!
Adjustment of noncontrolling interests in the Opierg Partnership to fair value 11,37¢ 16,49:
Issuances of Common Units — 2,29¢
Conversions of Common Units to Common Stock (28,78%) (2,096

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interestthe Operating Partnership 4,691 3,85¢
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in theédating Partnership (5,667 (6,339
Total noncontrolling interests in the OperatingtRearship $ 106,48 $ 124,86

The following table sets forth net income availatdecommon stockholders and transfers from the @amg's noncontrolling interests in
Operating Partnership:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Net income available for common stockholders $ 122,94¢ $ 77,080 $ 38,67
Increase in additional paid in capital from coni@rs of Common Units to Common Stock 28,78t 2,09¢ 1,90¢
Issuances of Common Units — (2,299 —
Change from net income available for common stolciéts and transfers from noncontrolling interest 151,73 § 76,88 $ 40,58t
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11. Disclosure About Fair Value of Financial Instrument
The following summarizes the three levels of inghtt we use to measure fair value.
Level 1. Quoted prices in active markets for identicaktssr liabilities.

Our Level 1 assets are investments in marketalderiies that we use to pay benefits under our qualified deferred compensation pl
Our Level 1 liability is our nomualified deferred compensation obligation. The @any's Level 1 noncontrolling interests in the Qgiec
Partnership relate to the ownership of Common Umjtsarious individuals and entities other than@wmpany.

Level 2.0bservable inputs other than Level 1 prices, ssapuated prices for similar assets or liabilitiggoted prices in markets that are
active; or other inputs that are observable orlmamorroborated by observable market data for anbatly the full term of the related asset
liabilities.

Our Level 2 assets include the fair value of cartsiour mortgages and notes receivable and cesfadur interest rate swaps. Our Lev:
liabilities include the fair value of our mortgagasd notes payable and the remainder of our iritegiEss swaps.

The fair value of mortgages and notes receivabteraartgages and notes payable is estimated bynttwenie approach utilizing contract
cash flows and markdtased interest rates to approximate the pricevtbatd be paid in an orderly transaction betweenketaparticipants. Tt
fair value of interest rate swaps is determineagishe market standard methodology of netting iBeodinted future fixed cash receipts anc
discounted expected variable cash payments. ThHablercash payments of interest rate swaps aredb@sahe expectation of future LIBC
interest rates (forward curves) derived from obsdmnarket LIBOR interest rate curves. In additicnedit valuation adjustments are incorpor
in the fair values to account for potential nonperfance risk, but were concluded to not be sigaifiainputs to the calculation for the peri
presented.

Level 3.Unobservable inputs that are supported by littlaamarket activity and that are significant to thie value of the assets or liabiliti

Our Level 3 assets include (1) certain of our mags and notes receivable, which were estimatatidbincome approach utilizing inter
cash flow projections and market interest ratesstonate the price that would be paid in an ordedgsaction between market participants, (2
tax increment financing bond, which is not routingbded but whose fair value is determined byitlteme approach utilizing contractual ¢
flows and markebased interest rates to estimate the projectedntiten value based on quoted bid/ask prices foilainunrated municipi
bonds, and (3) any real estate assets recordexdr atafue on a nomecurring basis as a result of our quarterly inpaint analysis, which we
valued using the terms of definitive sales congractthe sales comparison approach and substahtiéteinternal cash flow projections.

Our Level 3 liabilities include the fair value ofilocontingent consideration to acquire real estasets and financing obligations, which v
estimated by the income approach to approximatttice that would be paid in an orderly transactetween market participants, utilizing:
contractual cash flows; (2) markiesed interest rates; and (3) a number of othamg#sons including demand for space, competitior
customers, changes in market rental rates, costgavhtion and expected ownership periods.
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11. Disclosure About Fair Value of Financial Instrumens —Continued

The following table sets forth our assets and litds and the Company's noncontrolling intereststtie Operating Partnership that
measured at fair value within the fair value hiehgr

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets for Significant Significant
Identical Assets Observable Unobservable
Total or Liabilities Inputs Inputs

Fair Value at December 31, 2013:
Assets:
Mortgages and notes receivable, at fair valye $ 26,48 $ — 3 17,02¢  $ 9,45¢
Interest rate swaps (in prepaid expenses and atisets) 301 — 301 —
Marketable securities of non-qualified deferred pemsation plan (in prepaid

expenses and other assets) 3,99¢ 3,99¢ — —
Tax increment financing bond (in prepaid expensesaher assets) 13,40: — — 13,40:

Total Assets $ 44,18 $ 3,99 $ 17,33 $ 22,85¢
Noncontrolling Interests in the Operating Partnership $ 106,48( $ 106,48( $ — % —
Liabilities:
Mortgages and notes payable, at fair vaiye $ 2,037,38 $ — $ 2,037,38 $ —
Interest rate swaps (in accounts payable, accrxeehses and other liabilities) 51C — 51C —
Non-qualified deferred compensation obligationgacounts payable, accrued

expenses and other liabilities) 3,99¢ 3,99¢ — —
Financing obligations, at fair valyg 22,47¢ — — 22,47¢

Total Liabilities $ 2,064,360 $ 3,99 $ 2,037,89! % 22,47¢
Fair Value at December 31, 2012:
Assets:
Mortgages and notes receivable, at fair valye $ 2472 $ — 3 16,077 $ 8,64¢
Marketable securities of non-qualified deferred pemsation plan (in prepaid

expenses and other assets) 3,35¢ 3,35¢ — —
Tax increment financing bond (in prepaid expensekaher assets) 14,49¢ — — 14,49¢

Total Assets $ 42570  $ 3,35¢  $ 16,077 $ 23,14«
Noncontrolling Interests in the Operating Partnershp $ 124,86! $ 124,86¢ $ —  $ =
Liabilities:
Mortgages and notes payable, at fair vadye $ 1,987,36. $ — 3 1,987,36. $ —
Interest rate swaps (in accounts payable, accrxgehses and other liabilities) 9,36¢ — 9,36¢ —
Non-qualified deferred compensation obligationg@tounts payable, accrued

expenses and other liabilities) 3,35¢ 3,35¢ — —
Contingent consideration to acquire real estatetags accounts payable, accrued

expenses and other liabilities) 562 — — 562
Financing obligations, at fair valyg 23,25; — — 23,25:

Total Liabilities $ 2,023,90. $ 335« % 1,996,73. $ 23,81t

(1) Amounts recorded at historical cost on oansblidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2013C4r#].
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11. Disclosure About Fair Value of Financial Instrumens —Continued

The following table sets forth the changes in oawél 3 asset and liability, which are recordedaat ¥alue on our Consolidated Bala
Sheets:

December 31,

2013 2012
Asset:

Tax Increment Financing Bond:

Beginning balance $ 14,49¢ $ 14,78¢
Principal repayment (1,967) (703)
Unrealized gains (in AOCL) 86¢ 411

Ending balance $ 13,400 % 14,49¢

Liability:

Contingent Consideration to Acquire Real Estate Agss:

Beginning balance $ 56 $ =
Fair value at acquisition date — 677
Recognized gains (in general and administrativeeses) (569) (1149

Ending balance $ — 8 568

During 2007, we acquired a tax increment finandingd associated with a parking garage developaghbyhis bond amortizes to maturity
2020 . The estimated fair value at December 313 2@s $1.0 milliorbelow the outstanding principal due on the bonthéfdiscount rate usec
fair value this bond was 100 basis points highelowser, the fair value of the bond would have b&8rb million lower or $0.5 milliorhigher
respectively, as of December 31, 201%/e intend to hold this bond and have concluded e will not be required to sell this bond be
recovery of the bond principal. Payment of the @pal and interest for the bond is guaranteed by\es have recorded no credit losses relat
the bond during the years ended December 31, 20d2@12. There is no legal right of offset with the liatyj] which we report as a financi
obligation, related to this tax increment financband.

During 2013, we recorded impairment charges onatenteal estate assets, which were subsequently ddoing the year, based uj
aggregate fair values at the time of impairmen$b4.9 million. These impaired real estate assets were deenszl ltevel 3 assets and vall
based primarily on markdtased inputs and our assumptions about the use @fssets, as observable inputs were not availablkee absence
observable inputs, we estimate the fair value af estate using unobservable data such as estirdeeount and capitalization rates. We
utilize local and national industry market datatsas comparable sales, sales contracts and appraissssist us in our estimation of fair va
Significant increases or decreases in any valuatiouts in isolation would result in a significantbwer or higher fair value measurement.

The following table sets forth quantitative infortioa about the unobservable inputs of our Leves$ets, which are recorded at fair valu
our Consolidated Balance Sheets :

Valuation Unobservable
Technique Input Rate/ Percentage
Assets:
Tax increment financing bond Income approach Discount rate 9.3%
Impaired real estate assets Income approach Capitalization rate 8.5%-10.5%
Discount rate 9.0%-15.0%
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12. Equity
Common Stock Issuances

During 2013, the Company issued 8,273,690 shar€oofmon Stock in public offerings and receivedpreceeds of $295.1 millionDuring
2012, the Company issued 7,245,837 shares of Con®tomk in public offerings and received net proceeid$236.4 million .

Common Stock Dividends

Dividends of the Company declared and paid peresbhCommon Stock aggregated $1.70 for each of¢laes ended December 31, 2013
2012 and 2011 .

The following table sets forth the Company's estédaaxability to the common stockholders of divide per share for federal income
purposes:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Ordinary income $ 1.2¢  $ 128 % 1.1¢
Capital gains 0.2¢ 0.2¢ —
Return of capital 0.1€ 0.1¢ 0.5t
Total $ 1.7¢ % 1.7¢ % 1.7¢

The Company's tax returns have not been examineithdoynternal Revenue Service (“IRSihd, therefore, the taxability of dividend:
subject to change.

Preferred Stock

In 2011, the Company redeemed the remaining 2.liomibutstanding 8.0% Series B Cumulative Redeemabléiifed Shares for i
aggregate redemption price of $52.5 million , edilg accrued dividends. In connection with thisemagtion, the $1.9 milliorexcess of tr
redemption cost over the net carrying amount oféldeemed shares was recorded as a reduction ittccoate available for common stockhold:

The following table sets forth the Company's Pref&iStock:

Annual

Number of Liquidation Dividends
Shares Carrying Preference Per Optional Payable Per
Preferred Stock Issuances Issue Date Outstanding Value Share Redemption Date Share
(in thousands)

December 31, 2013

8.625% Series A Cumulative Redeemable 2/12/1997 2¢ $ 29,077 % 1,00( 2/12/2027 $ 86.2¢F
December 31, 2012

8.625% Series A Cumulative Redeemable 2/12/1997 2¢ $ 29,077 % 1,00( 2/12/2027 $ 86.2¢F
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12. Equity - Continued

The following table sets forth the Company's estiaaxability to the preferred stockholders ofidi@énds per share for federal income
purposes:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

8.625% Series A Cumulative Redeemable:
Ordinary income $ 71.5¢ $ 72.4¢ 3 86.2¢
Capital gains 14.6¢ 13.7¢ —
Total $ 86.2t $ 86.2t % 86.2¢

8.000% Series B Cumulative Redeemable:
Ordinary income $ — 3 — 3 1.0%
Capital gains — — —
Total $ — 3 — 3 1.0t

The Company's tax returns have not been examindldehRS and, therefore, the taxability of dividens subject to change.
Warrants

At December 31, 2013 and 2012 , we had 15,000 war@utstanding with an exercise price of $3%80share. Upon exercise of a wart
the Company will contribute the exercise pricelte Operating Partnership in exchange for CommonsUmherefore, the Operating Partner
accounts for such warrants as if issued by the &jper Partnership. These warrants have no expiralée.

Dividend Reinvestment Plan

The Company has a Dividend Reinvestment and StagkhBse Plan (“DRIP"under which holders of Common Stock may elec
automatically reinvest their dividends in additibahares of Common Stock and make optional casimeats for additional shares of Comr
Stock. The Company may elect to satisfy DRIP oliliges by issuing additional shares of Common Starckastructing the DRIP administrator
purchase Common Stock in the open market.

Common Unit Distributions

Distributions of the Operating Partnership declaaed paid per Common Unit aggregated $1.70 for ef¢he years endeDecember 3:
2013, 2012 and 2011 .

Redeemable Common Units

Generally, the Operating Partnership is obligatectetieem each Redeemable Common Unit at the regjuttst holder thereof for cash ec
to the value of one share of Common Stock baseti@average of the market price for the 10 tradiags immediately preceding the notice |
of such redemption, provided that the Companysatition may elect to acquire any such Redeematnen@n Unit presented for redemption
cash or one share of Common Stock. When a holdeerss a Redeemable Common Unit for a share of Con8taxk or cash, the Compasay’
share in the Operating Partnership will be incrda$e Common Units owned by the Company are rigemmable.
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12. Equity - Continued
Preferred Units

In 2011, the Operating Partnership redeemed thairéng 2.1 millionoutstanding 8.0% Series B Cumulative RedeemablierPed Units fo
an aggregate redemption price of $52.5 millioncleding accrued distributions. In connection witistredemption, the $1.9 millioexcess of tr
redemption cost over the net carrying amount oféloeemed units was recorded as a reduction oacw@ne available for common unitholders.

The following table sets forth the Operating Paship's Preferred Units:

Annual
Number of Liquidation Optional Distributions
Units Carrying Preference Redemption Payable
Preferred Unit Issuances Issue Date Outstanding Value Per Unit Date Per Unit
(in thousands)
December 31, 2013
8.625% Series A Cumulative Redeemable 2/12/1997 26 $ 29,077 % 1,00( 2/12/2027  $ 86.2¢
December 31, 2012
8.625% Series A Cumulative Redeemable 2/12/1997 2¢ $ 29,077 % 1,00( 2/12/2027  $ 86.2¢

13. Employee Benefit Plan
Officer, Management and Director Compensation Progams

The officers of the Company participate in an ahmaa-equity incentive program pursuant to which they eligible to earn cash payme
based on a percentage of their annual base salagffect for December of the applicable year. Untles component of our execut
compensation program, officers are eligible to eatditional cash compensation to the extent sgep#rformancéased metrics are achie
during the most recently completed year. The pmsitield by each officer has a target annual ineergercentage that ranges from 30%4.30%
of base salary. The more senior the position withehnCompany, the greater the portion of compemsdtiat varies with performance.

The percentage amount an officer may earn undeairthaal norequity incentive plan is the product of the targehual incentive percente
times an “actual performance factor,” which cangefrom zero to 200% The actual performance factor depends upon théaeship betwee
actual performance in specific areas at each ofdousions and predetermined goals. For an offigho has division responsibilities, goals
certain performance criteria are based partly endiision’s actual performance relative to thatigion’s established goals and partly on ac
total performance. Payments under our annual naityeiqcentive plan are accrued and expensed iydhae earned.

Certain other employees participate in a similaruah non-equity incentive program. Incentive elilifip ranges from 10% to 30%f annua

base salary. The actual incentive payment is détexdnby our overall performance and the individsigilerformance during each year. Tt
incentive payments are also accrued and expengbd yrear earned.

103




Table of Contents

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per sire and per unit data)

13. Employee Benefit Plans Continued

The Company's officers generally receive annuaitgraf stock options and restricted stock on ouébéarch 1 of each year. Restricted s!
grants are also made annually to directors ancioeother employees. Except as set forth in the semtence, dividends received on restri
stock are norerfeitable and are paid at the same rate and erséime date as on shares of Common Stock. Witkeaetp shares of restrici
stock issued to the Company's chief executive effin 2012 and 2013, dividends accumulate and ayalge only if and to the extent the sh
vest. Dividends paid on subsequently forfeited ehare expensed. Additional total retbased restricted stock may be issued at the ettt
threeyear periods if actual performance exceeds celgaigls of performance. Such additional sharesnyf, aould be fully vested when issu
No expense is recorded for additional shares af teturr-based restricted stock that may be issued atrtieoethe thregrear period since th
possibility is reflected in the grant date fair wal The following table sets forth the number ofrels of Common Stock reserved for fu
issuance:

December 31,

2013 2012
Outstanding stock options and warrants 889,38: 1,144,30!
Possible future issuance under equity incentivegpla 1,742,23 2,047,551

2,631,61 3,191,85!

Of the possible future issuance under equity ineerglans at December 31, 2013 , no more than @limcan be in theform of restricte
stock. At December 31, 2013 , the Company had 1i@libn remaining shares of Common Stock authatittebe issued under its charter.

During the years ended December 31, 2013 , 201226ad , we recognized $6.9 million , $7.6 millionda$6.1 million, respectively, ¢
share-based compensation expense. Because REI@®iyedo not pay income taxes, we do not reabizebtenefits on shafdgased payments.
December 31, 2013 , there was $4.0 million of tetalecognized shateased compensation costs, which will be recognmext a weighte
average remaining contractual term of 2.3 years.

- Stock Options

Stock options issued prior to 2005 vest ratablyr dear years and remain outstanding foryHars. Stock options issued from 2005 thre
2013 vest ratably over a four -year period and ieroatstanding for seveyears. The value of all options as of the daterahgis calculated usil
the Black-Scholes optiopricing model and is amortized over the respecta&ting period or the service period, if shorter,dmployees who &
or will become eligible under the Company's retiesimplan. The fair values of options granted du@fd3 , 2012 and 2011 were $6.586,4
and $6.47 , respectively, per option. The fair ealof the options granted were determined at thetglates using the following assumptions:

2013 2012 2011
Risk free interest rate) 1.C% 1.1% 2.4%
Common stock dividend yield) 4.7% 5.2% 5.C%
Expected volatility3) 32.0% 33.4% 32.5%
Average expected option life (years) 5.7¢ 5.7t 5.7t

(1) Represents the interest rate as of the grant datéSareasury bonds having the same life as thmatstd life of the option gran
(2) The dividend yield is calculated utilizing tHevidends paid for the previous onear period and the per share price of Common Sindke date of grai
(3) Based on the historical volatility of Common Staxler a period relevant to the related stock opgiant

(4) The average expected option life is based on aysisaf the Company's historical d:
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13. Employee Benefit Plans Continued

The following table sets forth stock option actjvit

Options Outstanding

Weighted
Number of Average Exercise
Options Price
Balances at December 31, 2010 1,480,199 $ 27.9¢
Options granted 146,58: 33.9¢
Options exercised (417,32) 26.7¢
Balances at December 31, 2011 1,209,45! 29.0¢
Options granted 190,88t 31.9%
Options exercised (271,03)) 26.8i
Balances at December 31, 2012 1,129,30! 30.1¢
Options granted 168,701 36.5(
Options exercised (423,62) 28.2:%
Balances at December 31, 2043 (2) 874,38. $ 32.2¢

(1) The outstanding options at December 31, 2@tBahweighted average remaining life of Beérs

(2) The Company had 441,507 options exercisablReaember 31, 2013 with a weighted average exepeise of $30.77, weighted average remaining life
1.6 years and intrinsic value of $3.2 million . Bése exercisable options, 134,6281 exercise prices higher than the market pricuofCommon Stock
December 31, 2013 .

Cash received or receivable from options exeromsasi$12.5 million , $7.4 million and $11.9 millidor the years ended December 31, 2013
2012 and 2011 , respectively. The total intrinsidue of options exercised during the years endegkidber 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 B3¢
million , $1.9 million and $3.0 million , respectily. The total intrinsic value of options outstargliat December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2@/ht
$4.3 million , $5.0 million and $3.3 million respectively. The Company generally does not jteime net cash settlement of exercised ¢
options, but does permit net share settlementrsp & the shares received are held for at leasyesre The Company has a policy of issuing
shares to satisfy stock option exercises.

- Time-Based Restricted Stock

Shares of time-based restricted stock issued tceoff and certain employees generally vest 25%the first, second, third and fot
anniversary dates, respectively. Shares of timedasstricted stock issued to directors generadit 25%on January 1 of each successive
after the grant date. The value of grants of thased restricted stock is based on the market wil@®mmon Stock as of the date of grant al
amortized to expense over the respective vestingger the service period, if shorter, for emplegevho are or will become eligible under
Company's retirement plan.
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13. Employee Benefit Plans Continued

The following table sets forth time-based restdctéock activity:

Weighted
Average Grant
Number of Shares  Date Fair Value

Restricted shares outstanding at December 31, 2010 264,32t  $ 27.0¢
Awarded and issued) 76,96¢ 33.7(
Vested(2) (116,63) 30.6¢
Restricted shares outstanding at December 31, 2011 224,66 28.02
Awarded and issued) 90,98t 32.27
Vested(2) (92,239 27.1¢
Forfeited (903) 30.1Z
Restricted shares outstanding at December 31, 2012 222,50: 30.31
Awarded and issued) 86,14+« 36.6¢
Vested(2) (94,03 27.8(
Forfeited (1,819 36.01
Restricted shares outstanding at December 31, 2013 212,79 $ 33.9¢

(1) The fair value at grant date of time-basedrietsd stock issued during the years ended Decefhe2013 , 2012 and 2011 was $3.2 millick2,9 millior
and $2.6 million , respectively.

(2) The vesting date fair value of time-basedriesd stock that vested during the years endecember 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 was $3.4 milli@2.¢
million and $3.9 million, respectively. Vested shares include those slsamesndered by employees to satisfy tax withholdibtigations in connection wi
such vesting.

- Total Return-Based Restricted Stock

During 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , the Company issuedeshof total returtvased restricted stock to officers that will veaséd on (1) tt
Company's absolute total returns for certain pterd@ned threeyear periods relative to defined target returns @)dvhether the Compan
total return exceeds the average total returnssefiected group of peer companies. The amount &uiojeresting ranges from zero to 1508ith
respect to total return-based restricted stoclke$n 2013 and from zero to 250% with respect tal teeturnbased restricted stock issued in 2
and 2011. The grant date fair value of such shafestal return-based restricted stock was detegrhito be $31.73 , $38.71 and $41,02
respectively, and is amortized over the respectiveeyear period or the service period, if shorter,dorployees who are or will become elig
under the Company's retirement plan. The fair \salfethe total returitrased restricted stock granted were determinedeagant dates using
Monte Carlo simulation model and the following asgtions:

2013 2012 2011
Risk free interest rate) 0.4% 0.4% 1.C%
Common stock dividend yield) 4.9% 5.4% 5.4%
Expected volatility3) 43.4% 43.1% 42.8%

(1) Represents the interest rate as of the gatetah US treasury bonds having the same lifeeaedtimated life of the total retub@sed restricted stock grai

(2) The dividend yield is calculated utilizing thévzidends paid for the previous ongear period and the average per share price of GontBtock during tr
three-month period preceding the date of grant.

(3) Based on the historical volatility of Commoto&k over a period relevant to the related totalrmebased restricted stock gre
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13. Employee Benefit Plans Continued

The following table sets forth total return-basestricted stock activity:

Weighted

Number of Average Grant

Shares Date Fair Value

Restricted shares outstanding at December 31, 2010 231,83! % 21.0¢
Awarded and issued) 57,38t¢ 41.02
Vested(2) (66,41 13.7¢
Forfeited (99,979 13.7¢
Restricted shares outstanding at December 31, 2011 122,82¢ 34.8¢
Awarded and issued) 67,90: 38.71
Vested2) (32,727) 29.47
Forfeited (32,729 29.4
Restricted shares outstanding at December 31, 2012 125,28 32.817
Awarded and issued) 65,48¢ 31.7¢
Vested2) (41,867) 24.7¢
Forfeited (15,529 24.7¢
Restricted shares outstanding at December 31, 2013 133,38t $ 35.2¢

(1) The fair value at grant date of total retuaséd restricted stock issued during the years ebgedmber 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 was $2.1 millg€
million and $2.4 million , respectively.

(2) The vesting date fair value of total returrsés restricted stock that vested during the yeateeDecember 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 was $1li5mils1.1
million and $2.0 million, respectively. Vested shares include those slsamesndered by employees to satisfy tax withholdibtigations in connection wi
such vesting.

401(k) Retirement Savings Plan

We have a 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan covetbgtantially all employees who meet certain ageeangloyment criteria. We contribt
amounts for each participant at a rate of 75% efdmployee’s contribution (up to 6% of each empddydi-weekly salary and cash incenti
subject to statutory limits). During the years ethd@®ecember 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , we contdbfifiel million , $1.0 million ané1.1
million , respectively, to the 401(k) savings plan. Thetsssf this qualified plan are not included in @onsolidated Financial Statements s
the assets are not owned by us. Administrative rsgeeof the plan are paid by us.

Retirement Plan

The Company has adopted a retirement plan appiidaball employees who, at the time of retireméate at least 3Qears of continuot
qualified service or are at least 55 years old bhade at least 1§ears of continuous qualified service. Subject dvamce written notice a
compliance with a non-compete agreement with ugjbé retirees would be entitled to receive a pata amount of the annual nequity
incentive compensation earned during the yeartofreent. Stock options and tinb@sed restricted stock granted to such eligibleereturing
his or her employment would be néorfeitable and vest according to the terms ofrtbeiginal grants. Eligible retirees would also dxtitled tc
retain any total returbased restricted stock originally granted to suighibée retiree during his or her employment thalbsequently vests after
retirement date according to the terms of theiginal grants. For employees who meet the age aniteesligibility requirements, 100%f theit
annual grants are expensed at the grant datefdly if’ested. For employees who will meet the agéd service eligibility requirements within
normal vesting periods, the grants are amortizent the shorter service period.
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13. Employee Benefit Plans Continued
Deferred Compensation

Prior to 2010, officers could elect to defer allaoportion of their cash compensation, which was tinvested in unrelated mutual funds u
our non-qualified deferred compensation plan. Thasestments are recorded at fair value, which egaped $4.0 million and $3.4 millica
December 31, 2013 and 2012Zespectively, and are included in prepaid expersel other assets, with an offsetting deferredpensatio
liability recorded in accounts payable, accruedegsges and other liabilities. Deferred amounts ltéty payable to the participants are base
the value of the related mutual fund investmentzokdingly, changes in the value of the unrelateduad funds are recorded in interest and ¢
income and the corresponding offsetting changdkhendeferred compensation liability are recordedeneral and administration expense. .
result, there is no effect on our net income.

The following table sets forth our deferred compdias liability:

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Beginning deferred compensation liability $ 335 % 3,14¢ 4,091
Contributions to deferred compensation plans — — 54E
Mark-to-market adjustment to deferred compensdiiogeneral and administrative expenses) 80: 47E (119
Distributions from deferred compensation plans (161) (270) (1,36%)
Total deferred compensation liability $ 39% $ 335 § 3,14¢

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company has an Employee Stock Purchase Plaugnirto which employees generally may contribyietas 25% of their cas
compensation for the purchase of Common Stock.hatend of each quarterly offering period, eachigpent's cash contributions and c
received from dividends on shares held under tlam,Rire used to acquire shares of Common Stockcastathat is calculated at 8566 the
average closing price on the New York Stock Excleaog the fiveconsecutive days preceding the last day of thetgudn the years end
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 , the Compangds®7,250 , 34,126 and 30,8ares, respectively, of Common Stock under tras.PThe
15% discount on newly issued shares, which is fexadzome to the participants and is recorded byasisdditional compensation expe
aggregated $0.2 million in each of the years emestEmber 31, 2013 , 2012 and 20Ks a general rule, shares purchased under timenfRlat b
held for at least one year.
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14. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Los

The following table sets forth the components of AO

December 31

2013 2012

Tax increment financing bond:

Beginning balance $ (1,89%) $ (2,309

Unrealized gains on tax increment financing bond 86¢ 411

Ending balance (1,029 (1,899
Cash flow hedges:

Beginning balance (20,730) (3,425

Unrealized gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges 5,77¢ (10,359

Amortization of cash flow hedges 3,37( 3,05¢

Ending balance (1,582 (20,730
Total accumulated other comprehensive loss $ (2,61) ¢ (12,629)

(1) Amounts reclassified out of AOCL into contractugkirest expens
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15. Rental and Other Revenues; Rental Property and OtheExpense:

Our real estate assets are leased to customers gpel@ting leases. The minimum rental amounts utigeleases are generally subjec
scheduled fixed increases. Generally, the leasespbvide that we receive cost recovery incomenfoustomers for increases in certain ¢
above the costs incurred during a contractuallyifipd base year. The following table sets forth mental and other revenues from contini
operations:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Contractual rents, net $ 474,16. $ 413,65( $ 374,67:
Straight-line rental income, net 17,22¢ 16,10« 11,53¢
Amortization of lease incentives (2,409 (1,389 (1,309
Cost recovery income, net 43,58t 38,547 32,60:
Lease termination fees 2,03( 1,84¢ 1,80z
Fee income 5,55 4,96¢ 5,571
Other miscellaneous operating revenues 15,65 11,322 7,07

$ 556,81( $ 485,04t $ 431,95¢

The following table sets forth our scheduled futom@imum base rents to be received from customarsefises in effect dbecember 3:
2013 for the properties that we wholly own:

2014 $ 512,08:
2015 486,86:
2016 438,74:
2017 375,26:
2018 311,01!
Thereafter 1,111,42.

$ 3,235,381

The following table sets forth our rental propeatyd other expenses from continuing operations:
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Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Utilities, insurance and real estate taxes $ 108,09 $ 94,71C $ 86,007
Maintenance, cleaning and general building 75,96¢ 65,43( 55,26(
Property management and administrative expenses 12,42¢ 11,71¢ 10,49:
Other miscellaneous operating expenses 6,851 4,88¢ 5,547

$ 203,34: $ 176,74: $ 157,30t
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16. Discontinued Operation:

The following table sets forth our operations dféed as discontinued operations:

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011

Rental and other revenues $ 20,81: $ 41,17¢  $ 52,49(
Operating expenses:

Rental property and other expenses 8,28t 14,45¢ 19,41

Depreciation and amortization 5,75:% 11,97( 15,647

Total operating expenses 14,03¢ 26,42¢ 35,05¢

Interest expense — 282 48¢

Income from discontinued operations 6,77¢ 14,46° 16,94

Impairments of real estate assets (2,199 — (2,429

Net gains on disposition of discontinued operations 63,79: 29,45t 2,57:

Total discontinued operations $ 68,37: $ 4392: $ 17,08¢

The following table sets forth the major classeassfets of our real estate and other assets,at@fion sale:

December 31,

2013 2012
Assets:

Land $ — 3 41,87¢
Buildings and tenant improvements — 204,52!
Land held for development — 2,36¢
Less - accumulated depreciation — (71,12)
Net real estate assets — 177,64
Accrued straight-line rents receivable, net — 7,591
Deferred leasing costs, net — 6,05¢
Prepaid expenses and other assets — 30
Real estate and other assets, net, held for sale $ — % 191,32°

As of December 31, 2013 , there were no real eatadeother assets, net, held for sale. As of Deee®b, 2012 real estate and other ass
net, held for sale consisted of an office propentgl 29 industrial properties in Atlanta, GA, twdia# properties in Orlando, FL, twoffice
properties in Tampa, FL, five office propertiesWinston-Salem, NC and eigbffice properties in Greenville, SC. All of theseoperties ar
classified as discontinued operations during tlersyended December 31, 2013 and 2012 , respectively
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17. Earnings Per Share and Per Un

The following table sets forth the computation asiz and diluted earnings per share of the Company:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Earnings per Common Share - basic:
Numerator:
Income from continuing operations $ 62,720 40,31¢ 30,88t
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling inteeeim the Operating Partnership from continuingrepens (2,18%) (1,767 (1,239
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling inteeeim consolidated affiliates from continuing op@mas (949) (78¢€) (755)
Dividends on Preferred Stock (2,50¢) (2,50¢) (4,557)
Excess of Preferred Stock redemption/repurchageoves carrying value — — (1,89%)
Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholders 57,08: 35,25: 22,44
Income from discontinued operations 68,37« 43,92; 17,08¢
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling intessis the Operating Partnership from discontinugerations (2,50¢) (2,087) (852)
Income from discontinued operations available fanmon stockholders 65,86¢ 41,83t 16,23¢
Net income available for common stockholders $ 122,94¢ 77,08 38,671
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per Common Shareighted average shares 85,33! 75,81 72,28
Earnings per Common Share - basic:
Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholders $ 0.67 0.47 0.31
Income from discontinued operations available fimmon stockholders 0.77 0.5% 0.2
Net income available for common stockholders $ 1.4¢ 1.0z 0.54
Earnings per Common Share - diluted:
Numerator:
Income from continuing operations $ 62,720 40,31¢ 30,88t
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling inteeeim consolidated affiliates from continuing op@mas (949) (78¢€) (75%)
Dividends on Preferred Stock (2,50¢) (2,50¢) (4,557)
Excess of Preferred Stock redemption/repurchageowes carrying value — — (1,89%)
Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholders before net (income) attributable
noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partnigrsh 59,26¢ 37,01¢ 23,68
Income from discontinued operations available fimmon stockholders 68,37 43,92 17,08¢
Net income available for common stockholders befate(income) attributable to noncontrolling intsee
in the Operating Partnership $ 127,641 80,94 40,76¢
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per Common Shareighted average shares 85,33t 75,81: 72,28:
Add:
Stock options using the treasury method 114 122 13€
Noncontrolling interests Common Units 3,381 3,74¢ 3,77
Denominator for diluted earnings per Common Shaadjusted weighted average shares and assumed
conversionst) (2) 88,83¢ 79,67¢ 76,18¢
Earnings per Common Share - diluted:
Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholders $ 0.67 0.47 0.31
Income from discontinued operations available fimmon stockholders 0.71 0.5¢ 0.2t
Net income available for common stockholders $ 1.4¢ 1.02 0.5¢
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17. Earnings Per Share and Per Unit -Continued

(1) There were 0.3 million , 0.5 million and 0.4 mili@ptions outstanding during the years ended Deee3th 2013 , 2012 and 201tespectively, that we
not included in the computation of diluted earnipgs share because the impact of including sudbrptvould be anti-dilutive

(2) Includes all unvested restricted stock where divitdeon such restricted stock are rforfeitable

The following table sets forth the computation asie and diluted earnings per unit of the Operdfagnership:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Earnings per Common Unit - basic:
Numerator:
Income from continuing operations $ 62,67: $ 40,370 $ 30,94¢
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling inteései® consolidated affiliates from continuing op@ras (949 (78€) (755)
Distributions on Preferred Units (2,50¢) (2,50¢) (4,557)
Excess of Preferred Unit redemption/repurchasemast carrying value — — (1,89%)
Income from continuing operations available for coom unitholders 59,21¢ 37,07¢ 23,74:
Income from discontinued operations available fimmon unitholders 68,37« 43,92 17,08¢
Net income available for common unitholders $ 127,58¢ $ 81,00: $ 40,82¢
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per Common Unit ighted average units 88,31 79,147 75,64+
Earnings per Common Unit - basic:
Income from continuing operations available for coom unitholders $ 067 $ 047 $ 0.31
Income from discontinued operations available fimmon unitholders 0.71 0.5¢ 0.2t
Net income available for common unitholders $ 144 $ 10z $ 0.54
Earnings per Common Unit - diluted:
Numerator:
Income from continuing operations $ 62,67: $ 40,370 $ 30,94¢
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling intesei consolidated affiliates from continuing operas (949) (78€) (755)
Distributions on Preferred Units (2,509) (2,509) (4,5579)
Excess of Preferred Unit redemption/repurchaseaastcarrying value — — (1,895
Income from continuing operations available for coom unitholders 59,21 37,07¢ 23,74
Income from discontinued operations available fimmon unitholders 68,37« 43,92: 17,08¢
Net income available for common unitholders $ 127,58t $ 81,00 $ 40,82¢
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per Common Unit ighted average units 88,31! 79,14° 75,644
Add:
Stock options using the treasury method 114 12z 13€
Deno(rlrgi(r;.)altor for diluted earnings per Common Uratjusted weighted average units and assumed camve 88,42 79.26¢ 75.78(
Earnings per Common Unit - diluted:
Income from continuing operations available for caom unitholders $ 067 $ 047 $ 0.31
Income from discontinued operations available fimmon unitholders 0.71 0.5¢ 0.2t
Net income available for common unitholders $ 14 % 102 % 0.5¢
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17. Earnings Per Share and Per Unit -Continued

(1) There were 0.3 million , 0.5 million and 0.4 mili@ptions outstanding during the years ended Deee3th 2013 , 2012 and 201tespectively, that we
not included in the computation of diluted earnipgs unit because the impact of including suchomgstiwould be anti-dilutive

(2) Includes all unvested restricted stock where divitdeon such restricted stock are rforfeitable
18. Income Taxe!

Our Consolidated Financial Statements include glexations of the Company's taxable REIT subsidihich is not entitled to the divider
paid deduction and is subject to federal, statelacal income taxes on its taxable income. As alREle Company may also be subject to fec
excise taxes if we engage in certain types of &retiens.

The minimum dividend per share of Common Stock iregufor the Company to maintain its REIT statusw4.08 , $1.07 and $1.Qik!I
share in 2013 , 2012 and 201Yespectively. Continued qualification as a REI@pends on the Company's ability to satisfy thedgini
distribution tests, stock ownership requirements @arious other qualification tests prescribedh@ €ode. The tax basis of the Company's ¢
(net of accumulated tax depreciation and amortimatiand liabilities was approximately $3.4 bilieand $2.1 billion, respectively,
December 31, 2013 and $2.9 billion and $2.0 hillisespectively, at December 31, 20Ithe tax basis of the Operating Partnership'ssi¢se
of accumulated tax depreciation and amortizatiow) abilities was approximately $3.4 billion and.$ billion , respectively, abecember 3:
2013 and $2.9 billion and $2.0 billion , respediiyat December 31, 2012 .

During the years ended December 31, 2013 , 20122@amidl, the Company qualified as a REIT, distributed rtleeessary amount of taxa
income and, therefore, incurred no federal incomre éxpense; accordingly, the only federal incomesgaincluded in the accompany
Consolidated Financial Statements relate to a&/inf the Company's taxable REIT subsidiary.

At December 31, 2013 and 2012 , the taxable REbBBigiary had net deferred tax liabilities of $1.8lion and $2.2 million, respectively
comprised primarily of tax versus book basis ddferes in certain investments held by the taxabl& REbsidiary. At December 31, 20]12he
taxable REIT subsidiary had a $2.1 millioet deferred tax asset for cumulative tax lossy@@amvards that was realized in 2013 in conjunc
with recording our share of the gain recognizedNgston Lofts upon the sale of 215 residential ufitee taxable REIT subsidiary incurr§g.1
million of income tax expense in 2013, including ®illion netted against the gain included in equity in eagsiof unconsolidated affiliatt
Income taxes are not material to our operatinglt®su financial position.

The Company is subject to federal, state and iocaime tax examinations by tax authorities for 261@ugh 2013 .
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19. Segment Informatior

Our principal business is the operation, acquisiiad development of rental real estate propeMi&sevaluate our business by product
and by geographic location. Each product type liffsrent customers and economic characteristic® aental rates and terms, cost per ren
square foot of buildings, the purposes for whichtomers use the space, the degree of maintenadoeuatomer support required and custc
dependency on different economic drivers, amongrsthiThe operating results by geographic groupiegatso regularly reviewed by our ct
operating decision maker for assessing performandeother purposes. There are no material intansagtransactions.

Our accounting policies of the segments are theesasnthose used in our Consolidated Financial i8&tes. All operations are within 1
United States and, at December 31, 2013 , no stuE®mer generated more than 10.0% of our corastidrevenues on an annualized basis.

The following tables summarize the rental and otteenues and net operating income, the primarysimng propertylevel performanc

metric used by our chief operating decision makich is defined as rental and other revenuesriadal property and other expenses, for ea
our reportable segments:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Rental and Other Revenues(1)

Office:
Atlanta, GA $ 80,33( $ 60,47: $ 48,83¢
Greenville, SC 3,39¢ 3,26¢ 3,16¢
Kansas City, MO 16,308 14,99: 13,78¢
Memphis, TN 38,36¢ 36,81: 36,787
Nashville, TN 62,05« 56,51: 53,62:
Orlando, FL 21,79¢ 9,052 8,09¢
Piedmont Triad, NC 26,04" 19,48¢ 18,45¢
Pittsburgh, PA 56,12¢ 38,77¢ 10,96«
Raleigh, NC 85,41° 81,58: 78,60¢
Richmond, VA 47,57¢ 47,28¢ 47,50t
Tampa, FL 68,51¢ 66,28" 65,07(
Total Office Segment 505,93 434,53: 384,90:-

Industrial:

Atlanta, GA 827 81z 97t
Piedmont Triad, NC 12,17( 12,51: 11,82:
Total Industrial Segment 12,99° 13,32« 12,79°

Retail:
Kansas City, MO 37,87¢ 37,19: 34,25¢
Total Retail Segment 37,87¢ 37,19: 34,25t
Total Rental and Other Revenues $ 556,81 $ 485,04t  § 431,95
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Continued

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Net Operating Income: (1)
Office:
Atlanta, GA $ 49,65( $ 38,18¢ $ 30,51
Greenville, SC 1,89¢ 1,701 1,69¢
Kansas City, MO 10,69 9,50¢ 8,37(
Memphis, TN 22,13¢ 21,83 20,86:
Nashville, TN 42,59¢ 38,80: 36,56¢
Orlando, FL 12,04¢ 4,33¢ 3,78¢
Piedmont Triad, NC 16,78¢ 12,28: 11,83¢
Pittsburgh, PA 31,13« 19,53( 5,452
Raleigh, NC 60,07 56,58« 54,67(
Richmond, VA 32,45¢ 32,38 31,26¢
Tampa, FL 41,57 41,30¢ 40,49:
Total Office Segment 321,04( 276,44¢ 245,50¢
Industrial:
Atlanta, GA 49z 46¢ 62C
Piedmont Triad, NC 8,931 9,14: 8,64¢
Total Industrial Segment 9,42¢ 9,61( 9,26¢
Retail:
Kansas City, MO 23,07« 22,51( 20,14°
Total Retail Segment 23,07 22,51( 20,147
Residential:
Raleigh, NC — (17¢) (195)
Total Residential Segment — a7¢) (195)
Corporate and other (77) (86) (76)
Total Net Operating Income 353,46t 308,30: 274,65(
Reconciliation to income from continuing operationsbefore disposition of investment properties
and activity in unconsolidated affiliates:
Depreciation and amortization (176,95) (146,35) (127,499
General and administrative expenses (37,199 (37,37 (35,72)
Interest expense (92,709 (96,119 (95,510
Other income 6,39¢ 6,38( 7,36:
Income from continuing operations before dispositin of investment properties and activity in
unconsolidated affiliates $ 53,017 § 34,83 $ 23,27,

(1) Net of discontinued operatiol
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19. Segment Information - Continued

December 31,

2013 2012
Total Assets:
Office:
Atlanta, GA $ 699,26: $ 495,17"
Greenville, SC 15,89( 69,13¢
Kansas City, MO 83,12« 84,53¢
Memphis, TN 249,47¢ 225,54:
Nashville, TN 490,88 314,70!
Orlando, FL 226,31 51,37:
Piedmont Triad, NC 164,88! 144,40:
Pittsburgh, PA 335,79¢ 330,97!
Raleigh, NC 494,20¢ 479,99!
Richmond, VA 241,73¢ 246,27t
Tampa, FL 424,28 386,67t
Total Office Segment 3,425,87. 2,828,79
Industrial:
Atlanta, GA 25,93¢ 115,33(
Piedmont Triad, NC 74,83¢ 76,01
Total Industrial Segment 100,77: 191,34
Retail:
Kansas City, MO 161,77¢ 166,03(
Total Retail Segment 161,77¢ 166,03(
Residential:
Raleigh, NC — 8
Total Residential Segment — 8
Corporate and other 118,67¢ 164,25:
Total Assets $ 3,807,100 $ 3,350,42
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20. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following tables set forth quarterly finandiaformation of the Company and have been adjustedftect discontinued operations:

Rental and other revenugs

Income from continuing operatios
Income from discontinued operations
Net income

Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling inteees the
Operating Partnership

Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling integeis
consolidated affiliates

Dividends on Preferred Stock
Net income available for common stockholders

Earnings per Common Share-basic:

Income from continuing operations available for coom
stockholders

Income from discontinued operations available fonmon
stockholders

Net income available for common stockholders

Earnings per Common Share-diluted:

Income from continuing operations available for coom
stockholders

Income from discontinued operations available fonmon
stockholders

Net income available for common stockholders

Year Ended December 31, 2013

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
$ 130,377 $ 132,61¢ $ 144,82 $ 148,98t $ 556,81(
11,30( 15,48 16,60¢ 19,32¢ 62,72:
2,46( 14,09: 39,46( 12,36: 68,374
13,76( 29,57¢ 56,06¢ 31,69( 131,09
(587) (1,249 (1,889 (97¢) (4,69))
(203%) (187) (203) (35€) (949
(627) (627) (627) (627) (2,50¢)
$ 12,34¢ $ 2752: $ 53,34¢ $ 29,72¢ % 122,94¢
$ 01z $ 017 $ 017 $ 02C $ 0.67
0.0 0.1¢€ 0.44 0.1z 0.77
$ 0.1t % 03: $ 061 $ 03z % 1.44
$ 0.1z $ 017 $ 017 $ 0.2C $ 0.67
0.0 0.1¢ 0.44 0.1z 0.77
$ 0.1 % 03: $ 061 $ 03z % 1.44
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20. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Year Ended December 31, 2012

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
Rental and other revenugs $ 117,85 $ 120,42 $ 120,45¢ $ 126,31t $ 485,04t
Income from continuing operations 8,71¢ 8,75¢ 9,617 13,22¢ 40,31
Income from discontinued operationg 9,617 5,74 26,17¢ 2,38¢ 43,92:
Net income 18,33: 14,49¢ 35,79¢ 15,60¢ 84,23t
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling integeis the
Operating Partnership (827) (68€) (1,659 (68¢) (3,859
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling inteees
consolidated affiliates (184) (229) (159) (220) (78€)
Dividends on Preferred Stock (627) (627) (627) (627) (2,509
Net income available for common stockholders $ 16,69: $ 12,96: $ 33,357 $ 14,07  $ 77,08
Earnings per Common Share-basic:
Income from continuing operations available for coom
stockholders $ 0.1C $ 0.1C $ 011 $ 0.1 % 0.47
Income from discontinued operations available fonmon
stockholders 0.1 0.07 0.3¢ 0.0 0.5t
Net income available for common stockholders $ 02t $ 017 $ 044 % 0.1¢ ¢ 1.0Z
Earnings per Common Share-diluted:
Income from continuing operations available for coom
stockholders $ 0.1C % 0.1C $ 011 $ 0.1t % 0.47
Income from discontinued operations available fanmon
stockholders 0.1 0.07 0.3Z 0.0 0.5t
Net income available for common stockholders $ 02: % 017 % 04: % 01t % 1.0z
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20. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) —Continued

(1) As aresult of discontinued operations, th@ants presented may not equal the amounts preyioegbrted in the most recent Form 10-Qs or pridKIfor
each period. Below is a reconciliation to the antsyaeviously reported:

Quarter Ended

March 31, June 30, September 30,
2013 2013 2013
Rental and other revenues, as reported $ 137,03  $ 138,51 $ 147,29
Discontinued operations (6,65%) (5,897) (2,467
Rental and other revenues, as adjusted $ 130,377 $ 132,61¢ $ 144,82
Income from continuing operations, as reported $ 13,13 $ 16,23: $ 17,02¢
Discontinued operations (1,83Y) (745) (418)
Income from continuing operations, as adjusted $ 11,30 $ 15,487 $ 16,60¢
Income from discontinued operations, as reported $ 62 % 13,347 % 39,04:
Additional discontinued operations from propersetd subsequent to the respective reporting
period 1,83¢ 745 41¢€
Income from discontinued operations, as adjusted $ 246(  $ 14,09 § 39,46(
Quarter Ended
March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,
2012 2012 2012 2012
Rental and other revenues, as reported $ 124,89: $ 126,72t $ 123,41t $ 133,98:.
Discontinued operations (7,049 (6,30%) (2,967) (7,66¢€)
Rental and other revenues, as adjusted $ 117,85. $ 120,42:  $ 120,45¢ $ 126,31t
Income from continuing operations, as reported $ 11,31¢  $ 10,96 $ 10,45¢ $ 15,60¢
Discontinued operations (2,609 (2,209 (839) (2,389
Income from continuing operations, as adjusted $ 8,71t $ 8,75¢ $ 9,617 $ 13,22¢
Income from discontinued operations, as reported $ 7,016 $ 3,53t $ 2534( $ —
Additional discontinued operations from propersetd subsequent to the
respective reporting period 2,601 2,207 83¢ 2,38¢
Income from discontinued operations, as adjusted $ 96171 $ 574:  $ 26,17¢  § 2,38¢
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20. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following tables set forth quarterly financiaformation of the Operating Partnership and hagenbadjusted to reflect discontini
operations:

Year Ended December 31, 2013

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
Rental and other revenugs $ 130,377 $ 132,61¢ $ 14482 $ 148,98¢ $ 556,81(
Income from continuing operatios 11,24° 15,49( 16,60" 19,32¢ 62,67:
Income from discontinued operations 2,46( 14,09: 39,46( 12,36 68,37
Net income 13,707 29,58: 56,06 31,69( 131,04¢
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling inteees
consolidated affiliates (203%) (187 (203) (35€) (949
Distributions on Preferred Units (627) (627) (627) (627) (2,509
Net income available for common unitholders $ 12,877 $ 28,76¢ $ 55,237 $ 30,707 $ 127,58¢
Earnings per Common Unit-basic:
Income from continuing operations available for coom
unitholders $ 01z % 017 $ 017 $ 02C % 0.67
Income from discontinued operations available fonmon
unitholders 0.02 0.1€ 0.44 0.1: 0.77
Net income available for common unitholders $ 0.1t % 03: $ 061 $ 03: $ 1.44
Earnings per Common Unit-diluted:
Income from continuing operations available for coom
unitholders $ 01z % 017 $ 017 $ 02C $ 0.67
Income from discontinued operations available fonmon
unitholders 0.0z 0.1¢€ 0.44 0.13 0.77
Net income available for common unitholders $ 01t § 03: $ 061 $ 03: § 1.44
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20. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Year Ended December 31, 2012

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
Rental and other revenugs $ 117,85 $ 120,42 $ 120,45¢ $ 126,31t $ 485,04t
Income from continuing operations 8,711 8,75¢ 9,621 13,27¢ 40,37:
Income from discontinued operationg 9,617 5,74 26,17¢ 2,38¢ 43,92:
Net income 18,33« 14,50: 35,80( 15,66( 84,29t
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling intetgein
consolidated affiliates (184) (229) (159) (220 (78€)
Distributions on Preferred Units (627) (627) (627) (627) (2,50¢)
Net income available for common unitholders $ 17527 § 13,65: $ 3501 §$ 14,817 $ 81,00:
Earnings per Common Unit-basic:
Income from continuing operations available for coom
unitholders $ 0.1C % 011 $ 011 $ 0.1t % 0.47
Income from discontinued operations available fonmon
unitholders 0.1z 0.07 0.3¢ 0.0 0.5t
Net income available for common unitholders $ 02: § 018 $ 044  $ 0.1¢ 1.0z
Earnings per Common Unit-diluted:
Income from continuing operations available for coom
unitholders $ 0.1C % 01C $ 011 $ 0.1 % 0.47
Income from discontinued operations available fonmon
unitholders 0.1 0.07 0.3¢ 0.0 0.5t
Net income available for common unitholders $ 02 § 017 $ 044 $ 01t § 1.0z
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20. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) —Continued

(1) As aresult of discontinued operations, th@ants presented may not equal the amounts preyioegbrted in the most recent Form 10-Qs or pridKIfor
each period. Below is a reconciliation to the antsyaeviously reported:

Quarter Ended

March 31, June 30, September 30,
2013 2013 2013
Rental and other revenues, as reported $ 137,03  $ 138,51 $ 147,29
Discontinued operations (6,65%) (5,897) (2,467
Rental and other revenues, as adjusted $ 130,377 $ 132,61¢ $ 144,82
Income from continuing operations, as reported $ 13,08: $ 16,23t $ 17,02¢
Discontinued operations (1,83Y) (745) (418)
Income from continuing operations, as adjusted $ 11247 $ 15,49 $ 16,60°
Income from discontinued operations, as reported $ 62 % 13,347 % 39,04:
Additional discontinued operations from propersetd subsequent to the respective reporting
period 1,83¢ 745 41¢€
Income from discontinued operations, as adjusted $ 246(  $ 14,09 § 39,46(
Quarter Ended
March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,
2012 2012 2012 2012
Rental and other revenues, as reported $ 124,89: $ 126,72t $ 123,41t $ 133,98:.
Discontinued operations (7,049 (6,30%) (2,967) (7,66¢€)
Rental and other revenues, as adjusted $ 117,85. $ 120,42:  $ 120,45¢ $ 126,31t
Income from continuing operations, as reported $ 11,31¢  $ 10,96¢ $ 10,46( $ 15,66(
Discontinued operations (2,609 (2,209 (839) (2,389
Income from continuing operations, as adjusted $ 87171 $ 8,75¢ % 9,621 $ 13,27¢
Income from discontinued operations, as reported $ 7,016 $ 3,53t $ 2534( $ —
Additional discontinued operations from propersetd subsequent to the
respective reporting period 2,601 2,207 83¢ 2,38¢
Income from discontinued operations, as adjusted $ 96171 $ 574:  $ 26,17¢  § 2,38¢
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21. Subsequent Event

During 2010, we sold seven office properties in $tm Salem, NC for gross proceeds of $12.9 milllanconnection with this dispositic
we received cash of $4.5 million and provided sdiieancing of $8.4 million (recorded at fair valeé $8.4 million in mortgages and nc
receivable) and committed to lend up to an additickl.7 million for tenant improvements and leasemissions, of which $0.8 million w
funded as of December 31, 2013. We accounted f®dibposition using the installment method, whegréde $0.4 million gain on disposition
property was deferred until the seller financingepaid. On January 8, 2014, the $9.2 million @uitding amount was fully repaid. According
the related $0.4 million gain will be recorded e fiirst quarter of 2014.
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The following table sets forth the activity of allance for doubtful accounts:

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts - Straight-Line Ren
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts - Accounts Receileab
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts - Notes Receivable

Totals

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts - Straight-Line Ren
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts - Accounts Receileab
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts - Notes Receivable

Totals

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts - Straight-Line Ren
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts - Accounts Receileab
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts - Notes Receivable

Totals

Balance at Balance at
December 31, December 31,
2012 Additions Deductions 2013
$ 81z 54t (295) 1,06%
2,84¢ 851 (2,05)) 1,64¢
182 12C — 30z
$ 3,84: 1,51¢ (2,346 3,01:
Balance at Balance at
December 31, December 31,
2011 Additions Deductions 2012
$ 1,29¢ 1,382 (1,869 81z
3,54¢ 767 (1,467 2,84¢
61 18€ (65) 182
$ 4,90¢ 2,33t (3,395 3,84:
Balance at Balance at
December 31, December 31,
2010 Additions Deductions 2011
$ 2,20¢ 71C (1,625 1,29¢
3,59t 1,61¢ (1,667) 3,54¢
86¢ 19€ (1,009) 61
$ 6,67 2,522 (4,29 4,90¢
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The following table sets forth the activity of remtate assets and accumulated depreciation:

December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Real estate assets:
Beginning balance $ 3,547,69! 3,221,99. 3,368,36.
Additions:
Acquisitions, development and improvements 735,18 366,55¢ 278,04¢
Cost of real estate sold and retired (30,039 (40,85)) (424,41
Ending balance (a) $ 4,252,84! 3,547,691 3,221,99.
Accumulated depreciation:
Beginning balance $ 876,44¢ 799,09 834,46}
Depreciation expense 138,16: 118,22¢ 106,78t
Real estate sold and retired (29,365 (40,87:) (142,156
Ending balance (b) $ 985,24« 876,44¢ 799,09:
(&) Reconciliation of total real estate assets to lwaaheet captio
2013 2012 2011
Total per Schedule 111 $ 4,252,84! 3,547,69! 3,221,99.
Development in progress exclusive of land inclugtle8chedule 111 44,62 21,19¢ —
Real estate assets, net, held for sale = — 397,85¢
Total real estate assets $  4,297,46 3,568,89: 3,619,84!
(b) Reconciliation of total accumulated depreciatiobatance sheet captit
2013 2012 2011
Total per Schedule Il $ 985,24 876,44¢ 799,09:¢
Real estate assets, net, held for sale — — 103,37¢
Total accumulated depreciation $ 985,24 876,44t 902,46¢
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December 31, 2013

Costs Capitalized
Subsequent to

Initial Costs Acquisition Gross Value at Close of Period
Life on
Which
Depreciation
Segment 2013 Bldg & Bldg & Bldg & Total Accumulated Date of is
Description Type City Encumbrance Land Improv Land Improv Land Improv Assets Depreciation ~ Construction Calculated
Atlanta, GA
1700 Century Circle  Office Atlanta $ — $ 248 3 2 $ 27 $ 2 $ 275 $ 2,75« $ 671 1983 5-40 yrs.
1800 Century
Boulevard Office Atlanta 1,44¢ 29,08: — 13,62« 1,44¢ 42,70t 44,14¢ 19,54: 1975 5-40 yrs.
1825 Century
Parkway Office Atlanta 864 — 302 14,40: 1,167 14,40: 15,57( 4,13¢ 2002 5-40 yrs.
1875 Century
Boulevard Office Atlanta — 8,92¢ — 2,421 — 11,34¢ 11,34¢ 5,48( 1976 5-40 yrs.
1900 Century
Boulevard Office Atlanta — 4,744 — 70z — 5,44¢ 5,44¢ 2,462 1971 5-40 yrs.
2200 Century
Parkway Office Atlanta — 14,43: — 3,94: — 18,37 18,37 7,84:% 1971 5-40 yrs.
2400 Century
Parkway Office Atlanta — — 40€ 12,66( 40¢€ 12,66( 13,06¢ 4,81¢ 1998 5-40 yrs.
2500 Century
Parkway Office Atlanta — — 32¢ 14,34: 32¢ 14,34: 14,67( 4,461 2005 5-40 yrs.
2500/2635 Parking
Garage Office Atlanta — — — 6,317 — 6,31% 6,317 1,26¢ 2005 5-40 yrs.
2600 Century
Parkway Office Atlanta — 10,67¢ — 4,07z — 14,75: 14,75: 6,85¢ 1973 5-40 yrs.
2635 Century
Parkway Office Atlanta — 21,64 — 4,701 — 26,344 26,344 11,14 1980 5-40 yrs.
2800 Century
Parkway Office Atlanta — 20,44¢ — 10,42¢ — 30,87¢ 30,87¢ 10,03« 1983 5-40 yrs.
50 Glenlake Office Atlanta 2,50( 20,00¢ — 3,00t 2,50( 23,01: 25,51: 8,89 1997 5-40 yrs.
Bluegrass Valley -
Land Industrial  Atlanta 19,71 — (17,29H) — 2,41¢ — 2,41¢ — N/A N/A
Century Plaza | Office Atlanta 1,29( 8,561 — 3,30¢ 1,29( 11,87( 13,16( 4,53t 1981 5-40 yrs.
Century Plaza Il Office Atlanta 1,38( 7,73¢% — 2,43¢ 1,38( 10,16¢ 11,54¢ 3,61¢ 1984 5-40 yrs.
Federal Aviation
Administration Office Atlanta 1,19¢ — 1,41¢ 15,14¢ 2,612 15,14¢ 17,76( 2,82¢ 2009 5-40 yrs.
Henry County -
Land Industrial  Atlanta 3,01( — 13 — 3,02:¢ — 3,02:¢ — N/A N/A
Highwoods Ctr | at
Tradeport Office Atlanta 307 — 13¢ 2,03 44¢€ 2,03 2,47¢ 745 1999 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Ctr Il at
Tradeport Office Atlanta 40¢ — 13C BNIE 53¢ 3,77¢ 4,31¢ 784 2001 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods River
Poaint IV Industrial  Atlanta 1,037 — 85¢ 8,827 1,89¢ 8,827 10,72: 1,64¢ 2009 5-40 yrs.
5405 Windward
Parkway Office Atlanta 3,34 32,11 — 2,43t 3,34 34,54¢ 37,88¢ 12,74¢ 1998 5-40 yrs.
Riverpoint - Land Industrial  Atlanta 7,25( — 4,52¢ 2,712 11,77t 2,71 14,48¢ 28C N/A 5-40 yrs.
Riverwood 100 Office Atlanta 5,78¢ 64,91: — 8,18¢ 5,78¢ 73,09¢ 78,88¢ 5,41( 1989 5-40 yrs.
South Park
Residential - Land Other Atlanta 5C — 7 — 57 — 57 — N/A N/A
South Park Site -
Land Industrial  Atlanta 1,204 — 754 — 1,95¢ — 1,95¢ — N/A N/A
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Tradeport - Land Industrial  Atlanta 5,24: — (1,099 — 4,14¢ — 4,14¢ — N/A N/A
Two Point Royal Office Atlanta 1,79: 14,96¢ — 2,745 1,79: 17,71: 19,50« 7,030 1997 5-40 yrs.
Two Alliance Center  Office Atlanta 9,57¢  125,54¢ — 2,76¢ 9,67¢ 128,31  137,89. 6,531 2009 5-40 yrs.
One Alliance Cente  Office Atlanta 14,77¢  123,07: — 1,62: 14,77¢  124,69:  139,46! 2,47: 2001 5-40 yrs.
10 Glenlake North Office Atlanta 1) 5,34¢ 26,33¢ — 44 5,34¢ 26,37¢ 31,72: 584 2000 5-40 yrs.
10 Glenlake South Office Atlanta 1) 5,102 22,81: — 204 5,107 23,01t 28,11¢ 52¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Greenville, SC
Jacobs Building Office Greenville 3,05( 17,28( (23 4,20 3,027 21,48« 24,51 9,93: 1990 5-40 yrs.
Kansas City, MO
Kansas 1920-
Country Club Plaza  Retail City 14,28¢  146,87¢ (19¢) 130,39¢ 14,08¢ 277,27¢ 291,36t 109,34« 2002 5-40 yrs.
Land - Hotel Land - Kansas
Valencia Office City 97¢ — 111 — 1,08¢ — 1,08¢ — N/A N/A
Kansas
Park Plaza Building  Office City 1,38¢ 6,41( — 2,81( 1,38¢ 9,22( 10,60« 3,07¢ 1983 5-40 yrs.
Two Emanuel Kansas
Cleaver Boulevard Office City 984 4,402 — 2,13t 984 6,537 7,521 2,31« 1983 5-40 yrs.
Valencia Place Kansas
Office Office City 1,57¢ — 97C 38,10¢ 2,54¢ 38,10¢ 40,65: 14,75° 1999 5-40 yrs.
Memphis, TN
3400 Players Club
Parkway Office Memphis 1,00t — 207 5,18 1,212 5,18 6,39t 1,93¢ 1997 5-40 yrs.
Triad Centre | Office Memphis 2,34( 11,38 (849 4,231 1,491 15,61¢ 17,107 5,01¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
Triad Centre Il Office Memphis 1,98( 8,671 (409 4,08( 1,57¢ 12,75 14,33: 4,30¢ 1987 5-40 yrs.
Atrium | & II Office Memphis 1,57( 6,25: — 2,87t 1,57( 9,12¢ 10,69¢ 3,72( 1984 5-40 yrs.
Centrum Office Memphis 1,01: 5,58( — 2,64¢ 1,01z 8,22¢ 9,24: 3,56( 1979 5-40 yrs.
Comcast Office Memphis 94¢€ — — 8,62( 94¢€ 8,62( 9,56¢ 2,21t 2008 5-40 yrs.
International Place
Phase I Office Memphis 4,88¢ 27,78: — 5,12¢ 4,88¢ 32,90° 37,79: 13,96: 1988 5-40 yrs.
PennMarc Centre Office Memphis 6,655 3,607 10,24( — 2,451 3,607 12,69: 16,29¢ 2,21¢ 2008 5-40 yrs.
Shadow Creek | Office Memphis 924 — 46€ 6,812 1,39( 6,812 8,20: 2,301 2000 5-40 yrs.
Shadow Creek Il Office Memphis 734 — 467 7,34 1,201 7,34:% 8,54« 2,32¢ 2001 5-40 yrs.
Southwind Office
Center A Office Memphis 1,00 5,694 282 1,14¢ 1,28¢ 6,84 8,12¢ 2,96¢ 1991 5-40 yrs.
Southwind Office
Center B Office Memphis 1,36¢ 7,75¢ — 1,14z 1,36¢ 8,89¢ 10,26: 3,85( 1990 5-40 yrs.
Southwind Office
Center C Office Memphis 1,07( — 221 5,08: 1,291 5,08: 6,37¢ 1,97¢ 1998 5-40 yrs.
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Southwind Office
Center D Office Memphis 744 — 19¢ 5,531 937 5,531 6,46¢ 1,88( 1999 5-40 yrs.
Colonnade Office Memphis 1,30(¢ 6,481 267 91t 1,567 7,39¢ 8,96: 2,652 1998 5-40 yrs.
ThyssenKrupp
Elevator Mfg
Headquarters Office Memphis 1,04( — 25 8,34: 1,06t 8,34: 9,407 2,56t 2007 5-40 yrs.
Crescent Center Office Memphis 39,609 7,87¢ 32,75¢ (547) 6,62( 7,32¢ 39,37¢ 46,70« 4,16¢ 1986 5-40 yrs.
Southwind - Land Office Memphis 3,662 — (1,47 — 2,18t — 2,18t — N/A N/A
Triad Centre IlI Office Memphis 1,25¢% — — 35,85¢ 1,25¢% 35,85¢ 37,11 4,31( 2009 5-40 yrs.
Nashville, TN
3322 West End Office Nashville 3,02¢ 27,49( — 3,74¢ 3,02t 31,23¢ 34,26 11,107 1986 5-40 yrs.
3401 West End Office Nashville 5,86: 22,917 — 5,75¢ 5,86: 28,67: 34,53t 13,81¢ 1982 5-40 yrs.
5310 Maryland Way  Office Nashville 1,86% 7,201 — 24% 1,86% 7,44+ 9,307 3,361 1994 5-40 yrs.
Cool Springs 1 & 2
Deck Office Nashville 2) — — — 3,957 — 3,957 3,957 61C 2007 5-40 yrs.
Cool Springs 3 & 4
Deck Office Nashville — — — 4,41¢ — 4,41¢ 4,41¢ 74€ 2007 5-40 yrs.
Cool Springs | Office Nashville 2) 1,58 — 1t 12,58t 1,59¢ 12,58t 14,18: 4,56 1999 5-40 yrs.
Cool Springs Il Office Nashville 2) 1,824 — 34¢€ 17,39¢ 2,17( 17,39¢ 19,56¢ 5,20¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Cool Springs Il Office Nashville ) 1,631 — 804 16,46" 2,43t 16,46" 18,90: 4,28¢ 2006 5-40 yrs.
Cool Springs IV Office Nashville 1,71t — — 21,57¢ 1,71t 21,57¢ 23,28¢ 4,52 2008 5-40 yrs.
Cool Springs V —
Healthways Office Nashville 3,68¢ — 29t 52,69t 3,98¢ 52,69t 56,67¢ 10,36« 2007 5-40 yrs.
Harpeth On The
Green Il Office Nashville 1,41¢ 5,671 — 1,632 1,41¢ 7,30¢ 8,72¢ 3,17¢ 1984 5-40 yrs.
Harpeth On The
Green Ill Office Nashville 1,66( 6,64¢ — 1,95:% 1,66( 8,60: 10,26: 3,881 1987 5-40 yrs.
Harpeth On The
Green IV Office Nashville 1,71% 6,84 — 1,59( 1,71% 8,43: 10,14t 3,657 1989 5-40 yrs.
Harpeth On The
Green V Office Nashville 662 — 197 4,09¢ 85¢ 4,09¢ 4,95¢ 1,58¢ 1998 5-40 yrs.
Hickory Trace Office Nashville 1,164 — 164 4,75k 1,32¢ 4,75k 6,08: 1,54¢ 2001 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Plaza | Office Nashville 1,552 — 307 8,69: 1,85¢ 8,69: 10,55 3,62:¢ 1996 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Plaza Il Office Nashville 1,44¢ — 307 5,95¢ 1,75% 5,95¢ 7,70¢ 2,321 1997 5-40 yrs.
Seven Springs -
Land | Office Nashville 3,12: — (765) — 2,357 — 2,357 — N/A N/A
Seven Springs -
Land Il Office Nashville 3,71t —  (1,02Y — 2,69( — 2,69( — N/A N/A
Seven Springs | Office Nashville 2,07¢ — 592 11,59« 2,66¢ 11,59« 14,26: 3,32t 2002 5-40 yrs.
SouthPointe Office Nashville 1,65¢ — 31C 7,09¢ 1,96¢ 7,09¢ 9,06¢ 2,72¢ 1998 5-40 yrs.
The Ramparts of
Brentwood Office Nashville 2,39¢ 12,80¢ — 2,13¢ 2,39¢ 14,94: 17,33t 5,43: 1986 5-40 yrs.
Westwood South Office Nashville 2,10¢ — 382 9,00( 2,48¢ 9,00( 11,48¢ 3,26€ 1999 5-40 yrs.
100 Winners Circle Office Nashville 1,497 7,25¢ — 1,66¢ 1,497 8,92 10,41¢ 3,47¢ 1987 5-40 yrs.
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Nashville - Land Office Nashville 15,00( — — — 15,00( — 15,00( — N/A N/A
The Pinnacle at
Symphony Place Office Nashville —  141,46¢ — 69¢ — 142,16° 142,16 1,662 2010 5-40 yrs.
Seven Springs East  Office Nashville — — 2,52¢ 37,37« 2,62t 37,37« 39,89¢ 131 2013 5-40 yrs.
The Shops at Seven
Springs Office Nashville — — 80z 6,75¢ 802 6,75¢ 7,56: 14 2013 5-40 yrs.
Orlando, FL
Berkshire at
MetroCenter Office Orlando 1,26t — 672 12,80¢ 1,937 12,80¢ 14,74: 3,581 2007 5-40 yrs.
Capital Plaza Ill -
Land Office Orlando 2,994 — 18 — 3,017 — 3,017 — N/A N/A
Eola Park - Land Office Orlando 2,025 — — — 2,025 — 2,027 — N/A N/A
Oxford - Land Office Orlando 1,10( — 51 — 1,151 — 1,151 — N/A N/A
Stratford - Land Office Orlando 2,03¢ — (14¢) — 1,88¢ — 1,88¢ — N/A N/A
Windsor at
MetroCenter Office Orlando — — 2,06( 8,01¢ 2,06( 8,01¢ 10,07 1,97: 2002 5-40 yrs.
The 1800 Eller South
Drive Building Office Florida — 9,851 — 2,861 — 12,71: 12,71: 6,05¢€ 1983 5-40 yrs.
Seaside Plaza Office Orlando ?3) 3,89¢ 29,54: — il 3,89¢ 29,67« 33,56 71t 1982 5-40 yrs.
Capital Plaza Two Office Orlando 3) 4,34¢ 43,39« — (7))  4,34¢ 43,38’ 47,73: 872 1999 5-40 yrs.
Capital Plaza One Office Orlando 3) 3,482 27,32 — 17¢ 3,48: 27,49¢ 30,97¢ 67% 1975 5-40 yrs.
Landmark Center
Two Office Orlando 3) 4,74 22,03: — 43 4,74 22,07« 26,817 467 1985 5-40 yrs.
Landmark Center
One Office Orlando ?3) 6,20’ 22,65t — 17 6,20’ 22,67: 28,87¢ 53¢ 1983 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont Triad,
NC
101 South Stratford Piedmonti
Road Office Triad 1,20t 6,91¢ — 1,52¢ 1,20t 8,44( 9,64t 3,37t 1986 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont
6348 Burnt Poplar  Industrial Triad 724 2,90( — 254 724 3,15¢ 3,87¢ 1,457 1990 5-40 yrs.
Piedmonti
6350 Burnt Poplar  Industrial Triad 341 1,374 — 31z 341 1,681 2,02¢ 71€ 1992 5-40 yrs.
7341 West Friendly Piedmont
Avenue Industrial Triad 11z 841 — 40¢ 11z 1,24¢ 1,362 57t 1988 5-40 yrs.
7343 West Friendly Piedmont
Avenue Industrial Triad 72 55E — 23€ 72 791 862 32¢ 1988 5-40 yrs.
7345 West Friendly Piedmont
Avenue Industrial Triad 6€ 492 — 20C 6€ 692 75¢ 32C 1988 5-40 yrs.
7347 West Friendly Piedmonti
Avenue Industrial Triad 97 71¢ — 24¢ 97 96¢ 1,06t 42€ 1988 5-40 yrs.
7349 West Friendly Piedmont
Avenue Industrial Triad 52 392 — 18¢ 53 581 634 22¢ 1988 5-40 yrs.
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7351 West Friendly Piedmont
Avenue Industrial Triad 10€ 78¢ — 161 10€ 94¢ 1,05¢ 41F 1988 5-40 yrs.
7353 West Friendly Piedmont
Avenue Industrial Triad 12z 91z — 15C 12z 1,06z 1,18¢ 45€ 1988 5-40 yrs.
7355 West Friendly Piedmonti
Avenue Industrial Triad 72 53¢ — 152 72 69C 762 30C 1988 5-40 yrs.
420 Gallimore Dairy Piedmont
Road Office Triad 37¢ 1,51¢ — 44¢ 37¢ 1,96¢ 2,34 87( 1990 5-40 yrs.
418 Gallimore Dairy Piedmont
Road Office Triad 462 1,84¢ — 43¢ 462 2,28: 2,74¢ 1,02¢ 1986 5-40 yrs.
416 Gallimore Dairy Piedmont
Road Office Triad 322 1,29: — 48( 322 1,77: 2,09t 84z 1986 5-40 yrs.
7031 Albert Pick Piedmont
Road Office Triad 51C 2,921 — 1,98( 51C 4,901 5,411 2,252 1986 5-40 yrs.
7029 Albert Pick Piedmont
Road Office Triad 73¢ 3,230 — 1,29: 73¢ 4,53( 5,26¢ 2,09: 1988 5-40 yrs.
7025 Albert Pick Piedmont
Road Office Triad 2,39 9,57¢ — 4,532 2,39 14,10¢ 16,50: 5,84t 1990 5-40 yrs.
7027 Albert Pick Piedmont
Road Office Triad 85( — 69¢ 3,907 1,54¢ 3,907 5,45¢ 1,61¢ 1997 5-40 yrs.
7009 Albert Pick Piedmont
Road Industrial Triad 224 1,06¢ — 17¢ 224 1,24¢ 1,47( 531 1990 5-40 yrs.
426 Gallimore Dairy Piedmont
Road Office Triad 46E — 38C 1,02t 84t 1,02t 1,87( 45¢ 1996 5-40 yrs.
422 Gallimore Dairy Piedmont
Road Industrial Triad 14¢& 1,081 — 331 14¢& 1,412 1,551 62€ 1990 5-40 yrs.
406 Gallimore Dairy Piedmont
Road Office Triad 26& — 27C 98t 53t 98t 1,52( 441 1996 5-40 yrs.
7021 Albert Pick Piedmont
Road Industrial Triad 237 1,10z — 31¢ 237 1,422 1,65¢ 612 1985 5-40 yrs.
7019 Albert Pick Piedmont
Road Industrial Triad 192 94¢€ — 2217 192 1,17: 1,36¢ 55( 1985 5-40 yrs.
7015 Albert Pick Piedmont
Road Industrial Triad 30t 1,21¢ — 31z 30t 1,53 1,831 68¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
7017 Albert Pick Piedmont
Road Industrial Triad 22t 92¢ — 25¢ 22t 1,187 1,412 51C 1985 5-40 yrs.
7011 Albert Pick Piedmont
Road Industrial Triad 171 777 — 22¢ 171 1,00¢ 1,177 47E 1990 5-40 yrs.
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424 Gallimore Dairy Piedmont

Road Office Triad 271 — 23¢ 821 51C 821 1,331 30¢E 1997 5-40 yrs.
410 Gallimore Dairy Piedmont

Road Industrial Triad 35€ 1,61: — 17¢ 35€ 1,792 2,14¢ 872 1985 5-40 yrs.
412 Gallimore Dairy Piedmont

Road Industrial Triad 374 1,52 — 387 374 1,91( 2,28¢ 85€ 1985 5-40 yrs.
408 Gallimore Dairy Piedmont

Road Industrial Triad 341 1,48¢ — 62E 341 2,111 2,45; 1,081 1986 5-40 yrs.
414 Gallimore Dairy Piedmont

Road Industrial Triad 65¢ 2,67¢ — 654 65¢ 3,33( 3,98¢ 1,56¢ 1988 5-40 yrs.
Piedmonti

237 Burgess Road  Industrial Triad 86C 2,91¢ — 67¢ 86C 3,59¢ 4,45¢ 1,694 1986 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont

235 Burgess Road  Industrial Triad 1,302 4,39; — 1,052 1,302 5,44¢ 6,74¢ 2,66 1987 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont

241 Burgess Road  Industrial Triad 45( 1,517 — 99¢ 45( 2,51 2,96: 1,127 1988 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont

243 Burgess Road  Industrial Triad 452 1,51 — 158 452 1,667 2,11¢ 81¢ 1988 5-40 yrs.
496 Gallimore Dairy Piedmonti

Road Industrial Triad 54€ — — 2,82 54€ 2,82 3,36¢ 1,26¢ 1998 5-40 yrs.
494 Gallimore Dairy Piedmont

Road Industrial Triad 74¢ — — 2,50¢ 74¢ 2,50¢ 3,25¢ 91¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
486 Gallimore Dairy Piedmont

Road Industrial Triad 602 — — 2,27: 602 2,27: 2,87¢ 787 1999 5-40 yrs.
488 Gallimore Dairy Piedmont

Road Industrial Triad 49¢ — — 2,177 49¢ 2,177 2,67¢ 767 1999 5-40 yrs.
490 Gallimore Dairy Piedmonti

Road Industrial Triad L, 785 — — 5,91( L, 785 5,91( 7,64 2,937 1999 5-40 yrs.
7825 National Piedmont

Service Road Office Triad 944 3,831 — 1,04¢ 944 4,87¢ 5,82¢ 2,45¢ 1984 5-40 yrs.
7823 National Piedmont

Service Road Office Triad 887 3,55( — 51€ 887 4,06¢ 4,95: 1,93¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
7819 National Piedmont

Service Road Office Triad 221 907 — 44¢€ 221 1,352 1,58( 69¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
7817 National Piedmont

Service Road Office Triad 245 971 — 641 245 1,612 1,85¢ 72¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
7815 National Piedmont

Service Road Office Triad 327 1,30¢ — 84z 327 2,151 2,47¢ 1,091 1985 5-40 yrs.
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Brigham Road - Piedmont
Land Industrial Triad 7,05¢ — (3,720 — 3,33¢ — 3,33¢ — N/A N/A
7800 Thorndike Piedmont
Road Office Triad 1,041 5,89 — 1,447 1,041 7,33¢ 8,38( 3,03¢ 1989 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont
651 Brigham Road  Industrial Triad 452 — 36C 3,021 81z 3,021 3,83¢ 1,00z 2002 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont
657 Brigham Road  Industrial Triad 2,73: — 881 11,097 3,61« 11,097 14,71 2,28¢ 2006 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont
653 Brigham Road  Industrial Triad 814 — — 3,581 814 3,581 4,401 542 2007 5-40 yrs.
1501 Highwoods Piedmont
Boulevard Office Triad 1,47¢ — — 7,867 1,47¢ 7,867 9,34: 2,381 2001 5-40 yrs.
Jefferson Pilot - Piedmont
Land Office Triad 11,75¢ —  (4,31) — 7,44¢ — 7,44¢ — N/A N/A
Piedmont
4200 Tudor Lane Industrial Triad 51t — 38¢ 2,38( 89¢ 2,38( 3,27¢ 1,081 1996 5-40 yrs.
Piedmont
4224 Tudor Lane Industrial Triad 43t — 28¢ 1,83¢ 72z 1,83¢ 2,561 78C 1996 5-40 yrs.
7023 Albert Pick Piedmont
Road Office Triad 834 3,45¢ — 73¢ 834 4,19¢ 5,032 1,83¢ 1989 5-40 yrs.
380 Knollwood Piedmont
Street - Retalil Office Triad — 1 — 27¢ — 27¢€ 27¢€ 142 1995 5-40 yrs.
370 Knollwood Piedmont
Street Office Triad 1,82¢ 7,49¢ — 3,35( 1,82¢ 10,84: 12,67 4,171 1994 5-40 yrs.
380 Knollwood Piedmont
Street Office Triad 2,98¢ 12,02¢ — 2,99¢ 2,98¢ 15,024 18,01 7,161 1990 5-40 yrs.
799 Hanes Mall Piedmont 1970-
Boulevard Office Triad 1,45( 11,37¢ — 1,00¢ 1,45( 12,38( 13,83( 5,33¢ 1987 5-40 yrs.
3901 Westpoint Piedmont
Boulevard Office Triad 347 1,38¢ — 97 347 1,48¢ 1,83: 694 1990 5-40 yrs.
Church St Medical Piedmont
Center | Office Triad 2,37¢ 5,451 — 30 2,37¢ 5,481 7,857 37t 2007 5-40 yrs.
Church St Medical Piedmont
Center Il Office Triad 92t 4,551 — 104 92t 4,65¢ 5,58( 27¢ 2008 5-40 yrs.
Church St Medical Piedmont
Center Ill Office Triad 7,417 2,73¢ 9,12¢ — 23z 2,73¢ 9,361 12,09t 454 2003 5-40 yrs.
628 Green Valley Piedmont
Road Office Triad 2,90¢ 12,14: — 751 2,90¢ 12,89: 15,79¢ 47€ 1998 5-40 yrs.
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701 Green Valley Piedmont
Road Office Triad 3,781 7,71¢ — 73¢ 3,781 8,45¢ 12,24t 361 1996 5-40 yrs.
Pittsburgh, PA
1983-
One PPG Place Office  Pittsburgt 4) 9,81¢ 107,64: — 26,387 9,81¢ 134,03( 143,84¢ 9,51¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
Two PPG Place- 1983-
Office Office  Pittsburgt 4) 2,30z 10,86: — 85¢ 2,30z 11,72: 14,02« 93t 1985 5-40 yrs.
Two PPG Place- 1983-
Retail Office Pittsburgt 4) — 11¢& — 25€ — 371 371 42 1985 5-40 yrs.
1983-
Three PPG Place Office  Pittsburgt (4) 501 2,92¢ — 2,182 501 5,10¢ 5,60¢ 31C 1985 5-40 yrs.
1983-
Four PPG Place Office  Pittsburgt 4) 62( 3,23¢ — 741 62(C 3,98( 4,60( 327 1985 5-40 yrs.
1983-
Five PPG Place Office  Pittsburgt 4) 802 4,92¢ — 1,16¢ 802 6,092 6,89t 587 1985 5-40 yrs.
1983-
Six PPG Place Office  Pittsburgt 4) 3,35¢ 25,60: — 4,25¢ 3,35¢ 29,86: 33,21« 3,18: 1985 5-40 yrs.
EQT Plaza Office  Pittsburgt — 83,81: — 4,56¢€ — 88,37¢ 88,37¢ 3,79¢ 1987 5-40 yrs.
Raleigh, NC
3600 Glenwood
Avenue Office Raleigh — 10,99 — 4,72¢ — 15,71¢ 15,71¢ 6,19¢ 1986 5-40 yrs.
3737 Glenwood
Avenue Office Raleigh — — 31¢€ 15,56+« 31¢ 15,56¢ 15,88: 5,43t 1999 5-40 yrs.
4101 Research
Commons Office Raleigh 1,34¢ 8,34¢ 22C (737)  1,56¢ 7,60¢ 9,177 2,271 1999 5-40 yrs.
4201 Research
Commons Office Raleigh 1,204 11,85¢ — (1,339 1,20« 10,52¢ 11,72¢ 4,417 1991 5-40 yrs.
4301 Research
Commons Office Raleigh 90C 8,231 — 58¢ 90C 8,82¢ 9,72¢ 4,107 1989 5-40 yrs.
4401 Research
Commons Office Raleigh 1,24¢ 9,387 — 3,331 1,24¢ 12,71¢ 13,96 5,38¢ 1987 5-40 yrs.
4501 Research
Commons Office Raleigh 78t 5,85¢ — 1,111 78t 6,961 7,752 3,39t 1985 5-40 yrs.
4800 North Park Office Raleigh 2,67¢ 17,63( — 7,83 2,67¢ 25,46: 28,14: 12,35¢ 1985 5-40 yrs.
4900 North Park Office Raleigh 77C 1,98 — 1,18¢ 77C 3,171 3,941 1,394 1984 5-40 yrs.
5000 North Park Office Raleigh 1,01C 4,612 (49) 2,90¢ 961 7,51¢ 8,47¢ 3,82( 1980 5-40 yrs.
801 Raleigh
Corporate Center Office Raleigh ) 82¢ — 272 10,00¢ 1,10( 10,00¢ 11,10¢ 2,891 2002 5-40 yrs.
Blue Ridge | Office Raleigh 72z 4,60¢ — 1,241 72z 5,847 6,56¢ 2,86¢ 1982 5-40 yrs.
Blue Ridge Il Office Raleigh 462 1,41C — 494 462 1,90¢ 2,36¢ 1,171 1988 5-40 yrs.
Cape Fear Office Raleigh 131 1,63( 2 662 12¢ 2,29: 2,42 2,177 1979 5-40 yrs.
Catawba Office Raleigh 12t 1,63¢ ) 2,39( 12z 4,02t 4,14¢ 3,21« 1980 5-40 yrs.
CentreGreen One Office Raleigh 1,52¢ — (379) 10,18: 1,151 10,18: 11,33: 3,10 2000 5-40 yrs.
CentreGreen Two Office Raleigh 1,65: — (389 8,907 1,26¢ 8,907 10,17: 2,93¢ 2001 5-40 yrs.
CentreGreen Three -
Land Office Raleigh 1,87¢ — (384) — 1,49 — 1,492 — N/A N/A
CentreGreen Four Office Raleigh 1,77¢ — (397) 8,751 1,382 8,751 10,13¢ 2,28 2002 5-40 yrs.
CentreGreen Five Office Raleigh 1,28( — 69 12,67: 1,34¢ 12,67 14,02: 2,97t 2008 5-40 yrs.
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Cottonwood Office Raleigh 60¢ 3,24¢ — 434 60¢ 3,67¢ 4,287 1,83¢ 1983 5-40 yrs.
Dogwood Office Raleigh 76€ 2,76¢ — 391 76€ 3,16( 3,92¢ 1,627 1983 5-40 yrs.
EPA Office Raleigh 2,597 — — 1,67(C 2,597 1,67(C 4,26 1,07C 2003 5-40 yrs.
GlenLake - Land Office Raleigh 13,00¢ — (8,359 114 4,644 114 4,75¢ 36 N/A 5-40 yrs.
GlenLake One Office Raleigh 924 — 1,324 21,38t 2,24¢ 21,38t 23,63 6,93¢ 2002 5-40 yrs.
GlenLake Four Office Raleigh 2) 1,65¢ — 49: 22,00¢ 2,15 22,00¢ 24,16 5,58 2006 5-40 yrs.
GlenLake Six Office Raleigh 941 — (365) 22,16° 57¢€ 22,16° 22,74: 4,45¢ 2008 5-40 yrs.
701 Raleigh
Corporate Center Office Raleigh 2) 1,30¢ — 54C 14,06¢ 1,84¢ 14,06¢ 15,91( 6,24¢ 1996 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Centre Office Raleigh 531 — (267) 8,07¢ 264 8,07¢ 8,34: 3,18( 1998 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Office
Center North - Land  Office Raleigh 357 4¢ — — 357 49 40¢€ 32 N/A 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Tower
One Office Raleigh 20z 16,74« — 3,67¢ 20z 20,42 20,62t 10,94: 1991 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Tower
Two Office Raleigh 36E — 50z 21,46: 86¢ 21,46: 22,33( 6,65t 2001 5-40 yrs.
Inveresk Parcel 2 -
Land Office Raleigh 657 — 197 — 854 — 854 — N/A N/A
Inveresk Parcel 3 -
Land Office Raleigh 54¢ — 30€ — 854 — 854 — N/A N/A
Lake Boone Medice
Center Office Raleigh 1,45( 6,311 — 232 1,45( 6,54¢ 7,99¢ 79¢ 1998 5-40 yrs.
4620 Creekstone
Drive Office Raleigh 14¢ — 107 3,27: 25¢€ 3,27: 3,52¢ 1,11¢€ 2001 5-40 yrs.
4825 Creekstone
Drive Office Raleigh 39¢ — 29z 9,95¢ 691 9,95¢ 10,647 3,63¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Pamlico Office Raleigh 28¢ — — 14,84( 28¢ 14,84( 15,12¢ 10,36« 1980 5-40 yrs.
ParkWest One Office Raleigh 242 — — 3,32¢ 242 3,32¢ 3,56¢€ 1,04 2001 5-40 yrs.
ParkWest Two Office Raleigh 35¢€ — — 4,10¢ 35€ 4,10¢ 4,46: 1,767 2001 5-40 yrs.
ParkWest Three -
Land - Weston Office Raleigh 30¢€ — — — 30¢€ — 30¢€ — N/A N/A
Progress Center
Renovation Office Raleigh — — — 362 — 362 362 24z 2003 5-40 yrs.
Raleigh Corp Cente
Lot D Office Raleigh 1,211 — 8 — 1,21¢ — 1,21¢ — N/A N/A
PNC Plaza Office Raleigh 45,10: 1,20¢ — — 71,62t 1,20¢ 71,62t 72,83: 12,28 2008 5-40 yrs.
Rexwoods Center | Office Raleigh 87¢ 3,73( — 1,257 87¢ 4,987 5,86¢ 3,022 1990 5-40 yrs.
Rexwoods Center Il Office Raleigh 362 1,81¢ — 1,041 362 2,85¢ 3,221 1,06( 1993 5-40 yrs.
Rexwoods Center Il Office Raleigh 91¢ 2,81¢ — 751 91¢ 3,561 4,48¢ 2,03¢ 1992 5-40 yrs.
Rexwoods Center IV Office Raleigh 58€ — — 4,32 58€ 4,32 4,90¢ 1,79¢ 1995 5-40 yrs.
Rexwoods Center v Office Raleigh 1,301 — 184 5,881 1,48¢ 5,881 7,36¢ 2,16t 1998 5-40 yrs.
Riverbirch Office Raleigh 46¢ 4,03¢ 23 7,23¢ 49z 11,27« 11,76¢ 1,03¢ 1987 5-40 yrs.
Situs | Office Raleigh 692 4,64¢ 17¢ (1,12 87C 3,52¢ 4,39t 1,44 1996 5-40 yrs.
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Situs 1l Office Raleigh 71¢ 6,25¢ 181 (1,06¢) 89¢ 5,18¢ 6,08¢ 2,02t 1998 5-40 yrs.
Situs Il Office Raleigh 44C 4,07¢ 11¢ (1,009) 55¢ 3,07¢ 3,63t 1,13¢ 2000 5-40 yrs.
Six Forks Center | Office Raleigh 66€ 2,66t — 1,452 66€ 4,11¢ 4,78¢ 1,88¢ 1982 5-40 yrs.
Six Forks Center I Office Raleigh 1,08¢ 4,53 — 1,961 1,08¢ 6,494 7,58( 2,96¢ 1983 5-40 yrs.
Six Forks Center Il Office Raleigh 862 4,411 — 2,22 862 6,63 7,49t 3,24¢ 1987 5-40 yrs.
Smoketree Tower Office Raleigh 2,35: 11,74 — 4,52 2,35: 16,26¢ 18,61¢ 7,49¢ 1984 5-40 yrs.
4601 Creekstone
Drive Office Raleigh 25¢ — 217 5,35¢ 472 5,35¢ 5,827 2,15¢ 1997 5-40 yrs.
Weston - Land Other Raleigh 22,77 —  (11,04) —  11,73( — 11,73( — N/A N/A
4625 Creekstone
Drive Office Raleigh 45¢ — 26¢& 5,14¢ 72¢€ 5,14t 5,871 2,35( 1995 5-40 yrs.
11000 Weston
Parkway Office Raleigh 2,651 18,85( — 22€ 2,651 19,07¢ 21,72; 1,342 1998 5-40 yrs.
Other Property Other Raleigh 24,97t 9,49t  (23,15() 5,69: 1,82¢ 15,18’ 17,018 7,77¢ N/A N/A
Richmond, VA
4900 Cox Road Office Richmonc 1,324 5,311 15 2,99¢ 1,33¢ 8,31( 9,64¢ 3,98¢ 1991 5-40 yrs.
Colonnade Building  Office  Richmonc 1,36¢ 6,10¢ — 62E 1,36¢ 6,73( 8,09/ 2,11C 2003 5-40 yrs.
Dominion Place -
Pitts Parcel - Land Office  Richmonc 1,101 — (150 — 951 — 951 — N/A N/A
Markel 4521 Office  Richmonc 1,581 13,29¢ 16€ (4,729  1,74¢ 11,57¢ 13,32¢ 3,97¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Grove Park | Office Richmonc 71z — 31¢ 5,13( 1,03: 5,13( 6,162 1,99t 1997 5-40 yrs.
Hamilton
Beach/Proctor-Silex  Office Richmonc 1,08¢ 4,34 10 2,02¢ 1,09¢ 6,37: 7,46¢ 3,32% 1986 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods
Commons Office  Richmonc 521 — 45¢ 3,60¢ 97¢ 3,60¢ 4,58¢ 1,25¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods One Office  Richmonc 1,68¢ — 22 11,25¢ 1,71C 11,25¢ 12,96¢ 4,68¢ 1996 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Two Office  Richmonc 78€ — 22€ 6,127 1,01z 6,127 7,13¢ 2,527 1997 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Five Office Richmonc 782 — 11 5,47¢ 794 5,47¢ 6,27 2,171 1998 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Plaza Office Richmonc 90¢ — 187 5,911 1,09¢ 5,911 7,007 2,02« 2000 5-40 yrs.
Markel 4551 Office Richmonc 1,30( 6,95¢ (144) (414  1,15¢ 6,544 7,70C 1,63¢ 1987 5-40 yrs.
Innslake Center Office  Richmonc 84t — 19t 6,24t 1,04( 6,24t 7,28¢ 1,731 2001 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Centre Office  Richmonc 1,20t 4,82¢ — 1,121 1,20t 5,94¢ 7,151 2,60¢ 1990 5-40 yrs.
Markel 4501 Office  Richmonc 1,30( 13,25¢ 21z (4,389 1,51 8,87¢ 10,38¢ 2,27 1998 5-40 yrs.
Markel 4600 Office  Richmonc 1,70( 17,08: (217) (5,389 1,48 11,69 13,17t 2,911 1989 5-40 yrs.
North Park Office Richmonc 2,16% 8,65¢ 6 1,562 2,16¢ 10,22: 12,39( 4,50¢ 1989 5-40 yrs.
North Shore
Commons | Office Richmonc 951 — 17 11,45( 96¢ 11,45( 12,41¢ 3,66( 2002 5-40 yrs.
North Shore
Commons Il Office  Richmonc 2,067 — (89) 10,77¢ 1,97¢ 10,77¢ 12,75: 2,40t 2007 5-40 yrs.
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North Shore
Commons C - Land  Office  Richmonc 1,497 — 15 — 1,512 — 1,512 — N/A N/A
North Shore
Commons D - Land  Office  Richmonc 1,261 — — — 1,261 — 1,261 — N/A N/A
Nuckols Corner
Land Office Richmonc 1,25¢ — 20z — 1,46: — 1,462 — N/A N/A
One Shockoe Plaza  Office Richmond — — 35€ 15,17: 35€ 15,17: 15,52¢ 7,09( 1996 5-40 yrs.
Pavilion Land Office Richmond 181 46 20 (4€) 201 — 201 — N/A N/A
Lake Brook
Commons Office  Richmonc 1,60( 8,86¢ 21 2,18 1,621 11,04¢ 12,66 1,84: 1996 5-40 yrs.
Sadler & Cox Land Office Richmonc 1,53¢ — 342 — 1,87¢ — 1,87¢ — N/A N/A
4840 Cox Road Office  Richmonc 1,91¢ — 35¢ 13,55:¢ 2,27¢ 13,55: 15,82¢ 4,617 2005 5-40 yrs.
Stony Point F Land  Office  Richmond 1,841 — — — 1,841 — 1,841 — N/A N/A
Stony Point | Office  Richmonc 1,38¢ 11,63( 59 2,68( 1,44: 14,31( 15,75:¢ 5,83¢ 1990 5-40 yrs.
Stony Point Il Office  Richmonc 1,24( — — 11,73¢ 1,24( 11,73¢ 12,97¢ 4,201 1999 5-40 yrs.
Stony Point 111 Office Richmond 99t — — 9,02t 99t 9,02t 10,02( 2,74¢€ 2002 5-40 yrs.
Stony Point IV Office  Richmonc 95¢E — — 12,04« 95¢E 12,04« 12,99¢ 3,32t 2006 5-40 yrs.
Technology Park | Office  Richmonc 541 2,16¢ 11 364 552 2,53( 3,08 1,13¢ 1991 5-40 yrs.
Technology Park II Office  Richmonc 264 1,05¢ 4 132 26¢ 1,19C 1,45¢ 542 1991 5-40 yrs.
Vantage Place-A Office  Richmonc 20z 811 5 16€ 20¢ 9717 1,18¢ 472 1987 5-40 yrs.
Vantage Place-B Office Richmonad 232 931 3 25C 23€ 1,181 1,417 552 1988 5-40 yrs.
Vantage Place-C Office Richmond 23t 94( 5 282 24C 1,222 1,46z 59¢ 1987 5-40 yrs.
Vantage Place-D Office Richmonad 21¢ 87: 3 281 221 1,15¢ 1,37t 56€ 1988 5-40 yrs.
Vantage Pointe Office  Richmonc 1,08¢ 4,50( 13 1,37C 1,102 5,87( 6,97: 2,531 1990 5-40 yrs.
Virginia Mutual Office  Richmonc 1,301 6,03¢ 15 1,05¢ 1,31¢€ 7,09t 8,411 2,317 1996 5-40 yrs.
Waterfront Plaza Office  Richmonc 58E 2,34 8 1,18( 59z 3,527 4,12( 1,751 1988 5-40 yrs.
West Shore | Office  Richmono 332 1,431 — 19¢ 332 1,63( 1,962 72€ 1995 5-40 yrs.
West Shore Il Office  Richmonc 48¢ 2,181 — 61€ 48¢ 2,791 3,28¢ 1,222 1995 5-40 yrs.
West Shore Il Office  Richmono 961 — 141 4,38¢ 1,102 4,38¢ 5,48¢ 1,71C 1997 5-40 yrs.
Tampa, FL
4200 Cypress Office Tampa 2,67 16,47( — 1,631 2,67:¢ 18,107 20,78( 2,53¢ 1989 5-40 yrs.
Avion Park - Land Office Tampa 5,231 — — 1,48 5,231 1,487 6,72¢ 19t NA 5-40 yrs.
Bayshore Place Office Tampa 2,27¢ 11,81% — 1,65¢ 2,27¢ 13,47: 15,74¢ 5,621 1990 5-40 yrs.
General Services
Administration Office Tampa ) 4,05¢ — 40€ 27,27 4,46( 27,27: 31,73 7,23% 2005 5-40 yrs.
Harborview Plaza Office Tampa 3,531 29,94 96¢ (3,807  4,50¢ 26,14: 30,647 7,09: 2001 5-40 yrs.
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Highwoods
Preserve Building |  Office Tampa 2) 991 — — 22,22¢ 991 22,22 23,21 7,96¢ 1999 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods
Preserve - Land Office Tampa 1,48¢ — 48t — 1,97C — 1,97( — N/A N/A
Highwoods
Preserve Building\  Office Tampa 2) 881 — — 27,28¢ 881 27,28¢ 28,17( 11,24¢ 2001 5-40 yrs.
Highwoods Bay
Center | Office Tampa 3,56¢ — (64) 35,92: 3,501 35,92: 39,42: 6,16¢ 2007 5-40 yrs.
HIW Bay Center Il
- Land Office Tampa 3,482 — — — 3,482 — 3,48 — N/A N/A
Highwoods
Preserve Building
Wi Office Tampa 79C — — 12,49¢ 79C 12,49¢ 13,28¢ 2,097 2007 5-40 yrs.
HIW Preserve VII
Garage Office Tampa — — — 6,78¢ — 6,78¢ 6,78¢ 1,17¢ 2007 5-40 yrs.
Horizon Office Tampa — 6,257 — 2,69¢ — 8,95¢ 8,95¢ 4,05¢ 1980 5-40 yrs.
LakePointe One Office Tampa 2,10¢ 89 — 41,37: 2,10¢ 41,46( 43,56¢ 14,30¢ 1986 5-40 yrs.
LakePointe Two Office Tampa 2,00( 15,84¢ 672 10,03( 2,672 25,87¢ 28,55( 8,127 1999 5-40 yrs.
Lakeside Office Tampa — 7,36¢ — 1,02¢ — 8,39t 8,39t 3,42 1978 5-40 yrs.
Lakeside/Parkside
Garage Office Tampa — — — 5,58¢ — 5,58t 5,58¢ 77¢ 2004 5-40 yrs.
One Harbour Place  Office Tampa 2,01¢€ 25,25: — 7,451 2,01¢€ 32,70: 34,71¢ 12,13: 1985 5-40 yrs.
Parkside Office Tampa — 9,407 — 3,64¢ — 13,05: 13,05: 6,41 1979 5-40 yrs.
Pavilion Office Tampa — 16,39« — 3,31¢ — 19,71: 19,71¢ 8,30( 1982 5-40 yrs.
Pavilion Parking
Garage Office Tampa — — — 5,68: — 5,682 5,68: 1,991 1999 5-40 yrs.
Spectrum Office Tampa 1,45¢ 14,50: — 6,15¢ 1,45¢ 20,66( 22,11« 8,48t 1984 5-40 yrs.
Tower Place Office Tampa ) 3,21¢ 19,89¢ — 3,361 3,21¢ 23,26¢ 26,48! 10,02° 1988 5-40 yrs.
Westshore Square  Office Tampa 1,12¢ 5,18¢ — 1,651 1,12¢ 6,84 7,96¢ 2,57(C 1976 5-40 yrs.
Independence Part
- Land Office Tampa 4,94: — — — 4,94: — 4,94: — N/A N/A
Independence Park
| Office Tampa 2,531 4,52¢ — 4,84¢ 2,531 9,37¢ 11,90t 1,112 1983 5-40 yrs.
Meridian | Office Tampa 1,84¢ 22,36: — 1,57 1,84¢ 23,94( 25,78¢ 1,12¢ 1984 5-40 yrs.
Meridian |1 Office Tampa 1,30z 19,58¢ — 74¢ 1,30z 20,337 21,63¢ 78¢ 1986 5-40 yrs.
544,06( 2,186,01° (40,089 1,562,85 503,97¢ 3,748,86' 4,252,84 985,24
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{dhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyisthas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredulp authorized, in the City of Raleigh, State afrth Carolina, on February 10, 2014 .

Highwoods Properties, Inc.

By: /sl Edward J. Fritsch
Edward J. Fritsch
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpithe following persons on behall
the Registrant and in the capacity and on the datisated.

Signature Title Date

/sl O. Temple Sloan, Jr. Chairman of the Board of Directors Februkdy 2014
O. Temple Sloan, Jr.

/s/ Edward J. Fritsch President, Chief Executive Officer and Director February 10, 2014
Edward J. Fritsch

/sl Thomas W. Adler Director February 10, 2014
Thomas W. Adler

/sl Gene H. Anderson Director February 10, 2014
Gene H. Anderson

/s/ David J. Hartzell Director February 10, 2014
David J. Hartzell

/sl Sherry A. Kellett Director February 10, 2014
Sherry A. Kellett

/s/ Mark F. Mulhern Director February 10, 2014
Mark F. Mulhern

/sl L. Glenn Orr, Jr. Director February 10, 2014
L. Glenn Orr, Jr.

/sl Terry L. Stevens Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Office February 10, 2014
Terry L. Stevens

/sl Daniel L. Clemmens Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer February 10, 2014
Daniel L. Clemmens
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 16{dhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyithas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredulp authorized, in the City of Raleigh, State afrth Carolina, on February 10, 2014 .

Highwoods Realty Limited Partnership
By:  Highwoods Properties, Inc., its sole geneeatmer

By: /s/ Edward J. Fritsch
Edward J. Fritsch
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behall
the Registrant and in the capacity and on the datisated.

Signature Title Date

/sl O. Temple Sloan, Jr. Chairman of the Board of Directors of the GehBaatner February 10, 2014
O. Temple Sloan, Jr.

President, Chief Executive Officer and Directotlud General
/sl Edward J. Fritsch Partner February 10, 2014

Edward J. Fritsch

/s/ Thomas W. Adler Director of the General Partner February2l 4
Thomas W. Adler

/s/ Gene H. Anderson Director of the General Partner February21,4
Gene H. Anderson

/s/ David J. Hartzell Director of the General Partner February2l 4
David J. Hartzell

/sl Sherry A. Kellett Director of the General Partner February2L,4
Sherry A. Kellett

/s/ Mark F. Mulhern Director of the General Partner February2 4
Mark F. Mulhern

/s/ L. Glenn Orr, Jr. Director of the General Partner February2,4
L. Glenn Orr, Jr.

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offickthe
/sl Terry L. Stevens General Partner February 10, 2014

Terry L. Stevens

Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer of theneral
/sl Daniel L. Clemmens Partner February 10, 2014

Daniel L. Clemmens
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Exhibit 12.1

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES AND
RATIO OF EARNINGS TO COMBINED FIXED CHARGES AND
PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Earnings:

Income from continuing operations before equity in

earnings of unconsolidated affiliates $ 60,45¢ $ 3527¢ % 26,000 $ 51,30¢ $ 26,49¢

Fixed charges 98,24( 98,64° 97,53t 95,89 92,58¢

Capitalized interest (2,73)) (1,03)) (589) (1,419 (4,555

Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated &ifis 3,98t 4,61¢ 5,02¢ 4,43: 4,18(
Total earnings $ 159,95 $ 137,51 $ 127,98. $ 150,21 $ 118,71
Fixed charges and Preferred Stock dividends:

Contractual interest expense $ 88,83t $ 92,83t $ 91,45¢ $ 87,40¢ $ 81,70:

Amortization of deferred financing costs 3,80z 3,68t 3,31z 3,38t 2,76(

Financing obligations interest expense 63 (409) 74C 2,157 1,96:

Capitalized interest 2,731 1,031 58¢ 1,41¢ 4,55¢

Interest component of rental expense 2,80¢ 1,50z 1,43¢ 1,52¢ 1,60¢
Total fixed charges 98,24( 98,64 97,53t 95,89 92,58¢

Preferred Stock dividends 2,50¢ 2,50¢ 4,55¢ 6,70¢ 6,70¢
Total fixed charges and Preferred Stock dividends $ 100,74¢  $ 101,158 $ 102,08t $ 102,60: $ 99,297
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges 1.62 1.3¢ 1.31 1.57 1.2¢

Ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and Pferred
Stock dividends 1.5¢ 1.3€ 1.2t 1.4€ 1.2C




Exhibit 12.2

HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES AND
RATIO OF EARNINGS TO COMBINED FIXED CHARGES AND
PREFERRED UNIT DISTRIBUTIONS

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Earnings:

Income from continuing operations before equity in

earnings of unconsolidated affiliates $ 60,45¢ $ 3527¢  $ 26,000 $ 51,30¢ $ 26,49¢

Fixed charges 98,24( 98,64 97,53t 95,89 92,58¢

Capitalized interest (2,73)) (1,03)) (589) (1,419 (4,555

Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated &ifiés 3,96t 4,59; 5,00t 4,371 4,10:
Total earnings $ 159,930 $ 137,48t $ 127,95¢ $ 150,15¢ $ 118,63t
Fixed charges and Preferred Unit distributions:

Contractual interest expense $ 88,83t $ 92,83¢ $ 91,45¢ $ 87,40¢ $ 81,70:

Amortization of deferred financing costs 3,80z 3,68¢ 3,312 3,38¢ 2,76(

Financing obligations interest expense 63 (409) 74C 2,157 1,962

Capitalized interest 2,731 1,031 58¢ 1,41¢ 4,55¢

Interest component of rental expense 2,80¢ 1,502 1,43¢ 1,52¢ 1,60¢
Total fixed charges 98,24( 98,64 97,53t 95,89 92,58¢

Preferred Unit distributions 2,50¢ 2,50¢ 4,55¢ 6,70¢ 6,70¢
Total fixed charges and Preferred Unit distributions $ 100,74t  $ 101,158 ¢ 102,08¢ $ 102,60: $ 99,297
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges 1.62 1.3¢ 1.31 1.57 1.2¢

Ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and Pferred
Unit distributions 1.5¢ 1.3¢€ 1.2¢ 1.4¢ 1.1¢




Subsidiaries of Highwoods Properties, Inc.

Highwoods Realty Limited Partnership, a North Ciauelimited partnership

HIW-KC Orlando, LLC, a Delaware limited liabilityoenpany

HRLP Fourth Avenue, LLC, a Delaware limited liatyilcompany

* We have omitted the names of other direct andectisubsidiaries of Highwoods Properties, Inc. bseauch other
subsidiaries, considered in the aggregate as esogsidiary, would not constitute a significambsidiary.

Subsidiaries of Highwoods Realty Limited Partnersip

HIW-KC Orlando, LLC, a Delaware limited liabilityoenpany

HRLP Fourth Avenue, LLC, a Delaware limited liatyilcompany

* We have omitted the names of other direct andectisubsidiaries of Highwoods Realty Limited Parthg because

such other subsidiaries, considered in the aggeegat single subsidiary, would not constitutegaiicant subsidiary.
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Exhibit 23

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference ini®egion Statements No. 333-12117, 333-29759, 5381, 333-160521, and 338835¢
on Form S8 of our reports dated February 10, 2014, relatmghe consolidated financial statements and firirstatement schedules
Highwoods Properties, Inc. and subsidiaries (themifany”), and the effectiveness of the Comparnigiternal control over financial reportii
appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of @@mpany for the year ended December 31, 2013.

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLP

Raleigh, North Carolina
February 10, 2014



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Edward J. Fritsch, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on FormKL6f Highwoods Properties, In

Based on my knowledge, this report does natadomny untrue statement of a material fact ontdonstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntstsunder which such statements were made, nietadisg with respect to the peri
covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamid other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andlie periods presented in this report;

The Registrant’s other certifying officers drate responsible for establishing and maintainiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%nd internal control over financial reportirg @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant andehav

(a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and procedurdse tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolighgeibsidiaries, is made known tc
by others within those entities, particularly dgritme period in which this report is being prepared

(b) designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finahm@porting to be designed un
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurangarding the reliability of financial reporting arttle preparation of financ
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registsadisclosure controls and procedures and presamtidnis report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgutures, as of the end of the period coveredibydport based on such evaluat
and

(d) disclosed in this report any change in thei®eant's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the Registrant’
most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrarfturth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbn® that has materially affected, o
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Regasit’s internal control over financial reporting;dan

The Registrars’ other certifying officers and | have disclosedsdd on our most recent evaluation of internal robmiver financie
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the iA@bmmittee of the Registrast’'Board of Directors (or persons performing
equivalent functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesisethe design or operation of internal controéofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regidtsaability to record, process, summarize and refiwoancial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that imesl management or other employees who have aisattifrole in the Registraist’
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 10, 2014

/s/ Edward J. Fritsch

Edward J. Fritsch
President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Terry L. Stevens, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on FormKL6f Highwoods Properties, In

Based on my knowledge, this report does natadomny untrue statement of a material fact ontdonstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntstsunder which such statements were made, nietadisg with respect to the peri
covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamid other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andlie periods presented in this report;

The Registrant’s other certifying officers drate responsible for establishing and maintainiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%nd internal control over financial reportirg @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant andehav

(a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and procedurdse tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolighgeibsidiaries, is made known tc
by others within those entities, particularly dgritme period in which this report is being prepared

(b) designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finahm@porting to be designed un
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurangarding the reliability of financial reporting arttle preparation of financ
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registsadisclosure controls and procedures and presamtidnis report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgutures, as of the end of the period coveredibydport based on such evaluat
and

(d) disclosed in this report any change in thei®eant's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the Registrant’
most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrarfturth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbn® that has materially affected, o
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Regasit’s internal control over financial reporting;dan

The Registrars’ other certifying officers and | have disclosedsdd on our most recent evaluation of internal robmiver financie
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the iA@bmmittee of the Registrast’'Board of Directors (or persons performing
equivalent functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesisethe design or operation of internal controéofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regidtsaability to record, process, summarize and refiwoancial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that imesl management or other employees who have aisattifrole in the Registraist’
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 10, 2014

/sl Terry L. Stevens

Terry L. Stevens
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 31.3

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Edward J. Fritsch, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on FormKL6f Highwoods Realty Limited Partnerst

Based on my knowledge, this report does natadomny untrue statement of a material fact ontdonstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntstsunder which such statements were made, nietadisg with respect to the peri
covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamid other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andlie periods presented in this report;

The Registrant’s other certifying officers drate responsible for establishing and maintainiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%nd internal control over financial reportirg @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant andehav

(a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and procedurdse tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolighgeibsidiaries, is made known tc
by others within those entities, particularly dgritme period in which this report is being prepared

(b) designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finahm@porting to be designed un
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurangarding the reliability of financial reporting arttle preparation of financ
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registsadisclosure controls and procedures and presamtidnis report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgutures, as of the end of the period coveredibydport based on such evaluat
and

(d) disclosed in this report any change in thei®eant's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the Registrant’
most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrarfturth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbn® that has materially affected, o
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Regasit’s internal control over financial reporting;dan

The Registrars’ other certifying officers and | have disclosedsdd on our most recent evaluation of internal robmiver financie
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the iA@bmmittee of the Registrast’'Board of Directors (or persons performing
equivalent functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesisethe design or operation of internal controéofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regidtsaability to record, process, summarize and refiwoancial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that imesl management or other employees who have aisattifrole in the Registraist’
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 10, 2014

/sl Edward J. Fritsch

Edward J. Fritsch
President and Chief Executive Officer of the Geheeatner



Exhibit 31.4

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Terry L. Stevens, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on FormKL6f Highwoods Realty Limited Partnerst

Based on my knowledge, this report does natadomny untrue statement of a material fact ontdonstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntstsunder which such statements were made, nietadisg with respect to the peri
covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamid other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andlie periods presented in this report;

The Registrant’s other certifying officers drate responsible for establishing and maintainiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%nd internal control over financial reportirg @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant andehav

(a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and procedurdse tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolighgeibsidiaries, is made known tc
by others within those entities, particularly dgritme period in which this report is being prepared

(b) designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finahm@porting to be designed un
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurangarding the reliability of financial reporting arttle preparation of financ
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registsadisclosure controls and procedures and presamtidnis report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgutures, as of the end of the period coveredibydport based on such evaluat
and

(d) disclosed in this report any change in thei®eant's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the Registrant’
most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrarfturth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbn® that has materially affected, o
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Regasit’s internal control over financial reporting;dan

The Registrars’ other certifying officers and | have disclosedsdd on our most recent evaluation of internal robmiver financie
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the iA@bmmittee of the Registrast’'Board of Directors (or persons performing
equivalent functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesisethe design or operation of internal controéofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regidtsaability to record, process, summarize and refiwoancial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that imesl management or other employees who have aisattifrole in the Registraist’
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 10, 2014

/sl Terry L. Stevens

Terry L. Stevens
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offickthe
General Partner



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Annual Report of Highwoodsgerties, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K foetperiod ende®ecember 31, 20:
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiothe date hereof (the “Report;)Edward J. Fritsch, President and Chief Execuiiicer
of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §0,3s adopted pursuant to 8 906 of the Sarbanks®@xt of 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefttion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934, as amended; ¢

2) The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of operations of
Company.

/sl Edward J. Fritsch

Edward J. Fritsch
President and Chief Executive Officer

February 10, 2014




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Annual Report of Highwoodsgerties, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K foetperiod ende®ecember 31, 20:
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissio the date hereof (the “Reportl),Terry L. Stevens, Senior Vice President and €
Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursugmtl8 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to 9f& Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefttion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934, as amended; ¢

2) The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of operations of
Company.

/sl Terry L. Stevens

Terry L. Stevens
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

February 10, 2014




Exhibit 32.3

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Annual Report of HighwoodsaRy Limited Partnership (the “Operating Partngr'ghon Form 10K for the perior
ended December 31, 2013 as filed with the Secsréiel Exchange Commission on the date hereof Reedrt”),l, Edward J. Fritsch, Presid

and Chief Executive Officer of Highwoods Properties., general partner of the Operating Partnprstertify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 135C
adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxlep#2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSeftction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934, as amended,; ¢

2) The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctiodiand results of operations of
Operating Partnership.

/s/ Edward J. Fritsch

Edward J. Fritsch

President and Chief Executive Officer of the GehReatner
February 10, 2014




Exhibit 32.4

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Annual Report of HighwoodsaRy Limited Partnership (the “Operating Partngrghon Form 10K for the perios
ended December 31, 2013 as filed with the Secsrétiel Exchange Commission on the date hereof Repdrt”),|, Terry L. Stevens, Senior Vi

President and Chief Financial Officer of Highwodt®perties, Inc., general partner of the Operd#agnership, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.
1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarlaries- Act of 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSettion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934, as amended; ¢

2) The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctodiand results of operations of
Operating Partnership.

/sl Terry L. Stevens

Terry L. Stevens
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officeth@ General Partner
February 10, 2014




